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ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
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OR
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Commission File Number 000-17781

SYMANTEC CORPORATION
(Exact name of the registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware

77-0181864

(State or other jurisdiction of
incorporation or organization)

(I.R.S. Employer
Identification No.)

350 Ellis Street,
Mountain View, California

94043
(zip code)

(Address of principal executive offices)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code:
(650) 527-8000
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The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC
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(Name of each exchange on which registered)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:
None
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Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.
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No 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes 
No 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months
(or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes 
No 
Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be
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(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes 
No 
Aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant, based upon the closing sale price of Symantec common
stock on September 30, 2011 as reported on the Nasdaq Global Select Market: $12,043,599,957.
Number of shares outstanding of the registrant’s common stock as of April 27, 2012: 720,745,832
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
The information called for by Part III will be included in an amendment to this Form 10-K or incorporated by reference from the registrant’s
definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE RESULTS
The discussion below contains forward-looking statements, which are subject to safe harbors under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended
(the “Securities Act”), and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Forward-looking statements include
references to our ability to utilize our deferred tax assets, as well as statements including words such as “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,”
“believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “projects,” and similar expressions. In addition, statements that refer to projections of our future financial
performance, anticipated growth and trends in our businesses and in our industries, the anticipated impacts of acquisitions, and other
characterizations of future events or circumstances are forward-looking statements. These statements are only predictions, based on our current
expectations about future events and may not prove to be accurate. We do not undertake any obligation to update these forward-looking
statements to reflect events occurring or circumstances arising after the date of this report. These forward-looking statements involve risks and
uncertainties, and our actual results, performance, or achievements could differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forwardlooking statements on the basis of several factors, including those that we discuss under Item 1A, Risk Factors. We encourage you to read that
section carefully.
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PART I
Item 1.

Business

Overview
Symantec is a global provider of security, storage, and systems management solutions that help organizations and consumers secure and
manage their information-driven world. Our software and services protect against advanced threats enabling confidence wherever information is
used or stored.
Founded in 1982, Symantec has operations in over 50 countries and our principal executive offices are located at 350 Ellis Street,
Mountain View, California, 94043. Our telephone number at that location is (650) 527-8000. Our Internet home page is www.symantec.com.
Other than the information expressly set forth in this annual report, the information contained or referred to on our website is not part of this
annual report.
Strategy
Symantec is committed to protecting people and information, independent of device, platform or location. We deliver solutions that allow
customers to access information via a variety of devices when they need it and make it available only to those who should have access to it. Our
objective is to continue growing our core businesses, which are further described below, while driving growth from our emerging businesses and
delivering innovative new solutions to stay at the forefront of long-term trend opportunities. Our strategy for success includes delivering
solutions that meet the needs of customers from consumers to the largest enterprises, and across all geographies. We leverage our technology
across multiple delivery models, including cloud, or Software-as-a-Service (“SaaS”), fully-integrated appliances, managed services, and
traditional on-premise software to strengthen and differentiate our core businesses as well as drive growth in our emerging opportunities.
Symantec’s core businesses operate in three primary markets: security, backup and recovery, and storage management.
• Security. Protecting important information has become increasingly difficult as the sophistication and determination of attackers
continues to grow. We develop and deliver essential protection for consumer and enterprise customers so that they can protect
information wherever it resides, whether in servers, computers, mobile devices, or in the cloud. We will continue to focus on leading
innovation and research as we seek to keep us ahead of the rapidly changing threat environment in order to keep our customers’
information safe.
• Back-up and Recovery. Effective backup, recovery, and eDiscovery continue to be high priorities as organizations seek to better manage
information growth and maximize operational efficiency in both physical and virtual environments. For enterprise customers we have
simplified the purchase and deployment process by combining our leading backup, recovery, and deduplication technologies in either
integrated backup appliances or on-premise software solutions, effective in both virtual and physical environments. Consumers are also
creating unprecedented amounts of digital information that they want to protect. We offer consumers cloud-based backup.
• Storage Management. Enterprises are increasingly under pressure to reduce costs by optimizing storage utilization and accelerating
cloud and virtualization adoption. In the datacenter, we provide hardware agnostic storage management and high-availability solutions
to manage a heterogeneous storage infrastructure and run mission critical applications with confidence in both physical and virtual
environments.
We are also strategically investing in emerging businesses which grow faster than our core businesses. These include: data loss prevention,
managed security services, user authentication, backup appliances, eDiscovery, cloud-based backup, consumer services, and business critical
services. Businesses are increasingly
4
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adopting cloud, virtualization, and mobile technologies to reduce the cost of their IT infrastructures and enhance access to their information. Our
broad portfolio of capabilities positions us to also capitalize on our key growth initiatives in cloud, virtualization and mobile technologies.
• Cloud-based computing services: We have a broad portfolio of cloud-delivered solutions, from SaaS security to online backup and
archiving. For customers adopting public and private cloud-based solutions, we offer a protection platform that ensures information
remains secure.
• Virtualization capabilities: Our leading backup, security, and storage management solutions can be deployed in both physical and
virtual environments. Through a single management console, customers can secure, manage, and backup their virtual environments
from the datacenter to the endpoint.
• Mobility solutions: Our enterprise mobility solutions extend corporate security policies to personally owned devices, allowing
employees to bring their own device to work without compromising information security. Our consumer solutions deliver unique
services for smart phones and tablets, combining anti-theft features with powerful anti-malware to protect users’ important data from
loss, theft, viruses, and other threats.
Business Developments and Highlights
During fiscal 2012, we took the following actions in support of our business strategy:
• We released new solutions for mobile management to extend native controls to activate, secure, and manage Apple iOS devices. We
shipped data loss prevention (“DLP”) for Tablets to extend DLP software to new mobile endpoints. We delivered nine new mobile
solutions for consumers to protect information against top of mind concerns such as anti-theft, identity protection, and safe web
searching for mobile devices.
• We released new solutions for the cloud such as O3 Cloud Identity and Access Control which leverages an enterprise’s existing identity
infrastructure to enable single sign-on across multiple web applications. We delivered a variety of SaaS offerings including cloud-based
solutions for endpoint protection, backup, and archiving.
• We released new solutions for Small and Medium Businesses (“SMB”) including backup software featuring a simplified user interface
designed for the growing business and enterprise-class threat detection technologies with simple-to-use features and performance
improvements.
• We released new solutions for the enterprise. NetBackup delivers backup, recovery, and deduplication software providing faster backup
speeds, Snapshot management, and simplified search and recovery functionality. We shipped a backup appliance that protects virtual
and physical systems and is fully integrated with deduplication technology. Backup Exec is deployable in virtualized environments.
Endpoint protection secures against today’s sophisticated threats for both physical and virtual environments. We delivered storage
management software allowing customers to use their existing infrastructure to build and manage resilient private clouds that span
multiple virtualization technologies, operating systems, and storage platforms. We jointly developed with VMware Application High
Availability enabling organizations to virtualize their business critical applications with service levels at or above traditional physical
environments. Data Insight is software to track ownership and usage of unstructured data in large enterprise environments.
• We released new solutions for the consumer that allows customers to purchase and manage security for multiple devices and platforms
all from a single cloud-based console with the help of dedicated support advisors. We shipped comprehensive protection across multiple
devices and platforms such as Android, Windows, and Macintosh. We delivered new versions of our Norton 360, Norton Internet
Security, and Norton AntiVirus, the industry’s leading security for Windows and Mac’s along with a new version of Norton Online
Backup and a portfolio of mobile protection applications.
5
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• We acquired the following companies: Clearwell Systems Inc. (“Clearwell”), a recognized leader in the eDiscovery market, to provide
customers with a comprehensive information management solution by bringing together eDiscovery, archiving and backup products.
We extended our cloud portfolio with the acquisition of LiveOffice LLC (“LiveOffice”), a SaaS-based archiving provider, to extend our
information management solution to the cloud or as a hybrid solution. We also acquired a mobile device company that provides
customers with a management foundation to enroll and manage necessary device settings across a broad range of platforms.
• We sold our share of the Huawei Symantec joint venture to Huawei for $530 million. We exited the joint venture with a return on
investment. We grew our appliance business and increased our market penetration in China.
• We repurchased 51 million shares of our common stock for an aggregate amount of $893 million.
Operating Segments and Products
Our operating segments are strategic business units that offer different products and services, distinguished by customer needs. We have
five operating segments: Consumer, Security and Compliance, Storage and Server Management, Services, and Other.
Consumer
Our Consumer segment helps customers deal with increasingly complex threats, the proliferation of smart mobile devices, the need for
identity protection, and the rapid increase in digital consumer data, such as photos, music, and videos. For individual users and home offices, we
offer premium, full-featured security suites and personalized membership offerings for multiple platforms and devices, including PC’s, Macs,
and Android-based phones and tablets, as well as related services such as online backup, family safety, and PC tune-up.
We continue to acquire customers through a diversified channel strategy. We retain and leverage our large customer base through autorenewal subscriptions, seek to up-sell customers from point products to multi-product suites, and cross-sell additional products and services. We
also provide a variety of free tools and services that offer consumers added value and provide an opportunity to develop ongoing
communication.
Our award-winning Norton 2012 products include our innovative reputation-based security, a technology that provides real-time threat
detection. During fiscal 2012, we introduced multiple new mobile solutions, including Norton One, a premium membership service that allows
consumers to buy and manage their security software across a wide range of platforms and devices through a cloud-based management console
and provides a personalized experience with premium support. Our primary consumer products include: Norton 360, Norton Internet Security,
Norton AntiVirus, Norton Online Backup, Norton Mobile Security, Norton Live Services, and our newly released Norton One and Norton 360
Everywhere.
Security and Compliance
Our Security and Compliance solutions help organizations protect their information and systems. Our solutions not only provide the
strongest protections but help organizations standardize, automate, and reduce the costs of day-to-day security activities. We offer security
solutions that integrate multiple layers of protection and simplify management. Our primary solutions in this segment address the following
areas:
Threat and Risk Management
Our threat and risk management solutions allow customers to develop and enforce IT policies, automate IT risk management processes,
and demonstrate compliance with industry standards and regulations. Organizations are provided the visibility and security intelligence needed
to identify when they are under attack so that they can respond rapidly. In addition, our Managed Security Services extend our security expertise
through a combination of fully managed onsite activities, on-call assistance and remote monitoring. Products include: Security Incident
Management (SIM), Managed Security Services and Control Compliance Suite.
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Infrastructure Protection
We provide solutions that allow customers to secure their endpoints, messaging, and Web environments in addition to defending critical
servers, either physically or virtually. Our solutions include market leading technologies which leverage our global intelligence network making
them some of the most effective and fastest performing solutions for identifying and stopping the latest attacks. In addition, we keep systems
safe by protecting their connections. Our enterprise authentication services enable organizations to protect assets by ensuring the true identity of
a device, system, or application and using Secure Socket Layer (“SSL”) to encrypt data in transit. Products include: Endpoint Protection for
enterprise and small business, Protection Suites, Mail and Web Security, and Trust Services.
Information and Identity Protection
We help businesses proactively protect their information by taking a content-aware approach. This includes enabling businesses to identify
the owners of specific information, locating sensitive data and identifying those with access to it, and encrypting and preventing sensitive
material from leaving an organization. In addition, we offer two-factor authentication and cloud-based single sign-on to better protect the
identities of an organization’s employees. Products include: Data Loss Prevention, Data Insight, Encryption, O3, Validation and Identity
Protection, and Managed Public Key Infrastructure (“PKI”).
Mobility and Systems Management
Our mobile solutions help organizations embrace the “Bring Your Own Device” trend by allowing users to select their devices of choice
while securing corporate data, gaining visibility and control of all mobile platforms, and enforcing security policies. Systems management
capabilities help IT organizations provide faster and more predictable service to their businesses. Our integrated solutions ensure that
organizations are able to easily support new technology changes, quickly adapt to changing processes and business needs, and provide the
necessary insight to make more intelligent, data-driven decisions. Products include: Mobile Management, Device and Application Management,
and IT Management Suite.
Cloud-Delivered Security Services
Our SaaS offerings provide customers the flexibility to manage their business requirements using hosted services across a wide range of
our security and backup solutions. Services include: the Symantec.cloud portfolio and SSL Certificates.
Storage and Server Management
Our Storage and Server Management segment consists of information management and storage management solutions. We enable
organizations to secure and manage the information-driven world by leveraging our backup and recovery, archiving, eDiscovery, storage
management, and high availability solutions. Our offerings enable companies to standardize on a single layer of infrastructure software, work on
all major distributed operating systems, and support storage devices, databases, and applications in both physical and virtual environments.
Intelligent Information Management
Our Intelligent Information Management business, which includes software, appliances and SaaS based offerings, is driven by the rapid
growth of information, data duplication, and virtual environments. We help SMB and enterprise organizations protect their information. With
our solutions, customers can back up and deduplicate data closer to information sources to reduce storage consumption. Our archive, eDiscovery,
and intelligent information governance solutions allow organizations to bridge the gap between their business, legal, and IT groups, and reduce
their risks and costs. Products include: NetBackup, Backup Exec, Enterprise Vault, Enterprise Vault.cloud, and eDiscovery.
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Storage Management and High Availability
Our Storage Management and High Availability business is driven by our customers’ need to maintain high service levels and reduce
overall storage costs through improved utilization of existing systems, virtualization, and cloud infrastructure offerings. Our products help
customers simplify their datacenters by standardizing storage management across their environment for more efficient and effective use of their
existing storage investments. With our solutions, customers can build scalable, high-performance file-based storage systems onsite or in private
or hybrid clouds utilizing commodity hardware. They also enable enterprises to manage large storage environments and ensure the availability of
critical applications across physical and virtual environments. Products include: Storage Foundation, Cluster Server, Operations Manager,
ApplicationHA, Data Insight, and VirtualStore.
Services
We deliver business critical, consulting and education services. Symantec Services help customers address information security,
availability, storage, and compliance challenges at the endpoint and in complex, multi-vendor datacenter environments.
Other
The Other segment includes sunset products and unallocated general and administrative costs and is not considered an active business
component of the Company.
Financial Information by Segment and Geographic Region
For information regarding our revenue by segment, revenue by geographical area, and property and equipment by geographical area, see
Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this annual report. For information regarding the amount and percentage of our
revenue contributed by each of our segments and our financial information, including information about geographic areas in which we operate,
see Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements in this annual report. For information regarding risks associated with our international operations, see Item 1A, Risk
Factors.
Sales and Go-To-Market Strategy
Our go-to-market network includes a direct sales force, broad eCommerce capabilities, and channel sales resources that support our
ecosystem of partners worldwide. We also maintain important relationships with a number of Original Equipment Manufacturers (“OEMs”),
Internet Service Providers (“ISPs”), and retail and online stores by which we market and sell our products.
Consumer
We sell our consumer products and services to individuals and home offices globally through a network of distribution partners and
eCommerce channels. Our products are available to customers through our eCommerce platform, distributors, direct marketers, Internet-based
resellers, system builders, ISPs, wireless carriers, and in retail locations worldwide. We have partnerships with OEMs globally to distribute our
Internet security suites and our online backup offerings.
Consumer sales through our electronic distribution channels, which include our eCommerce portal, OEMs, electronic upgrades, and
renewals, represented 86 percent of consumer revenue in fiscal 2012 while 14 percent of consumer sales came primarily from the retail channel.
8
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Small and Medium Business
We sell and market our products and related services to small business customers through a partner channel consisting of SMB Specialized
Partners around the world, who are specifically trained and certified to sell our solutions. This group includes value-added resellers, large
account resellers, and managed service providers across all levels of the Symantec partner program. Our products, tailored specifically for the
needs of small businesses with up to 250 employees, are also available on our eCommerce platform, as well as through authorized distributors
and OEMs who incorporate our technologies into their products, bundle our products with their offerings, or serve as authorized resellers of our
products.
Enterprise
We sell and market our products and related services to enterprise customers through our direct sales force of more than 4,500 sales
employees and through a variety of indirect sales channels, which include value-added resellers, managed service providers, large account
resellers, and system integrators. We also sell our products to businesses around the world through authorized distributors and OEMs who
incorporate our technologies into their products, bundle our products with their offerings, or serve as authorized resellers of our products. Our
sales efforts are primarily targeted to senior executives and IT department personnel responsible for managing a company’s IT initiatives.
Marketing and Advertising
Our marketing expenditures relate primarily to advertising and promotion, including demand generation and product recognition. Our
advertising and promotion efforts include, among other things, electronic and print advertising, trade shows, collateral production, and all forms
of direct marketing. We also invest in cooperative marketing campaigns with distributors, resellers, retailers, OEMs, and industry partners.
We invest in various retention marketing and customer loyalty programs to help drive renewals and encourage customer advocacy and
referrals. We also provide focused vertical marketing programs in targeted industries and countries.
We typically offer two types of rebate programs within most countries: volume incentive rebates to channel partners and promotional
rebates to distributors and end users. Distributors and resellers earn volume incentive rebates primarily based upon the amount of product sales
to end users. We also offer rebates to end users who purchase products through various resale channels. Both volume incentive rebates and enduser rebates are accrued as an offset to revenue.
Research and Development
Symantec embraces a global research and development (“R&D”) strategy to drive organic innovation. Engineers and researchers
throughout the Company pursue advanced projects to translate R&D into customer solutions by creating new technologies and integrating our
unique set of technology assets. Symantec focuses on short, medium, and long-term applied research, develops new products in emerging areas,
participates in government-funded research projects, drives industry standards, and partners with universities to conduct research supporting
Symantec’s strategy.
Symantec’s Security Technology and Response organization is a global team of security engineers, threat analysts, and researchers that
provides the underlying functionality, content, and support for all enterprise, SMB, and consumer security products. Our security experts monitor
malicious code reports collected through the Global Intelligence Network to provide insight into emerging attacks, malicious code activity,
phishing, spam, and other threats. The team uses this vast intelligence to develop new technologies and approaches, such as Symantec’s
reputation-based security technology, to protect customer information.
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Research and development expenses, exclusive of in-process research and development associated with acquisitions, were $969 million,
$862 million and $857 million in fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively, representing approximately 14% of revenue in the respective periods.
We believe that technical leadership is essential to our success and we expect to continue to commit substantial resources to research and
development.
Support
Symantec has centralized support facilities throughout the world, staffed by technical product experts knowledgeable in the operating
environments in which our products are deployed. Our technical support experts assist customers with issue resolution and threat detection.
We provide consumers with various levels of support offerings. Consumers that subscribe to LiveUpdate receive automatic downloads of
the latest virus definitions, application bug fixes, and patches for most of our consumer products. Our standard consumer support program
provides self-help online services and phone, chat, and email support to consumers worldwide. Our Norton One membership features elite-level
support, which includes an under two-minute wait time for phone calls, an instant call back feature, and virus protection assurance.
We provide customers various levels of enterprise support offerings. Our enterprise security support program offers annual maintenance
support contracts, including content, upgrades, and technical support. Our standard technical support includes: self-service options delivered by
telephone or electronically during the contracted-for hours, immediate patches for severe problems, periodic software updates, and access to our
technical knowledge base and frequently asked questions.
Customers
In fiscal 2012, there were no significant customers that accounted for more than 10% of our total net revenue. In fiscal 2011 and 2010, one
distributor, Ingram Micro accounted for 10% of our total net revenue in both periods. Our distributor arrangements with Ingram Micro consist of
several non-exclusive, independently negotiated agreements with its subsidiaries, each of which cover different countries or regions. Each of
these agreements is separately negotiated and is independent of any other contract (such as a master distribution agreement), and these
agreements are not based on the same form of contract.
Acquisitions
Our acquisitions are designed to enhance the features and functionality of our existing products and extend our product leadership in core
markets. We consider time to market, synergies with existing products, and potential market share gains when evaluating the economics of
acquisitions of technologies, product lines, or companies. We may acquire or dispose of other technologies, products and companies in the
future.
Among the acquisitions we completed during fiscal 2012 are:
Company Name

Clearwell
LiveOffice

Company Description

A nonpublic provider of eDiscovery solutions.
A nonpublic provider of message hosting and integrated
message and social media management applications.

Date Acquired

June 24, 2011
January 13, 2012

For further discussion of our acquisitions, see Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this annual report.
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Competition
Our markets are consolidating, highly competitive, and subject to rapid changes in technology. We are focused on integration across our
broad product portfolio and are including next-generation technology capabilities into our solution set to differentiate ourselves from the
competition. We believe that the principal competitive factors necessary to be successful in our industry include product quality and
effectiveness, time to market, price, reputation, financial stability, breadth of product offerings, customer support, brand recognition, and
effective sales and marketing efforts.
In addition to the competition we face from direct competitors, we face indirect or potential competition from retailers, application
providers, operating system providers, network equipment manufacturers, and other OEMs who may provide various solutions and functions in
their current and future products. We also compete for access to retail distribution channels and for spending at the retail level and in corporate
accounts. In addition, we compete with other software companies, operating system providers, network equipment manufacturers and other
OEMs to acquire technologies, products, or companies and to publish software developed by third parties. We also compete with other software
companies in our effort to place our products on the computer equipment sold to consumers and enterprises by OEMs.
The competitive environments for each segment are described below.
Consumer
Some of the channels in which our consumer products are offered are highly competitive. Our competitors are intensely focused on
customer acquisition, which has led competitors to offer their technology for free, engage in aggressive marketing, or enter into competitive
partnerships. Our primary competitors in the Consumer segment are McAfee, Inc., owned by Intel Corporation (“McAfee”) and Trend Micro
Inc. (“Trend Micro”). There are also several security companies and freeware providers that we compete against primarily in the EMEA and APJ
regions. For our consumer backup offerings, our primary competitors are Carbonite, Inc. and Mozy, Inc., owned by EMC Corporation (“EMC”).
Security and Compliance
In the security and management markets, we compete against many companies that offer competing products to our solutions. Our primary
competitors in the security and management market are McAfee, Microsoft Corporation (“Microsoft”), and Trend Micro. There are also several
smaller regional security companies that we compete against primarily in the EMEA and APJ regions. In the authentication services market, our
primary competitors are Comodo Group, Inc., RSA, the security division of EMC, Entrust, Inc., and GoDaddy.com, Inc. In the SaaS security
market, our primary competitors are Google Inc.’s Postini Services and Microsoft. Our primary competitors in the managed services business are
SecureWorks, Inc., owned by Dell, Inc. and Verizon Communications, Inc.
Storage and Server Management
The markets for storage management, backup, archiving, and eDiscovery are intensely competitive. Our primary competitors are
CommVault Systems, Inc., EMC, Hewlett-Packard Company, IBM, and Oracle.
Intellectual Property
Protective Measures
We regard some of the features of our internal operations, software, and documentation as proprietary and rely on copyright, patent,
trademark and trade secret laws, confidentiality procedures, contractual arrangements, and other measures to protect our proprietary information.
Our intellectual property is an important and valuable asset that enables us to gain recognition for our products, services, and technology and
enhance our competitive position.
11
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As part of our confidentiality procedures, we generally enter into non-disclosure agreements with our employees, distributors, and
corporate partners and we enter into license agreements with respect to our software, documentation, and other proprietary information. These
license agreements are generally non-transferable and have a perpetual term. We also educate our employees on trade secret protection and
employ measures to protect our facilities, equipment, and networks.
Trademarks, Patents, Copyrights, and Licenses
Symantec and the Symantec logo are trademarks or registered trademarks in the U.S. and other countries. In addition to Symantec and the
Symantec logo, we have used, registered, or applied to register other specific trademarks and service marks to help distinguish our products,
technologies, and services from those of our competitors in the U.S. and foreign countries and jurisdictions. We enforce our trademark, service
mark, and trade name rights in the U.S. and abroad. The duration of our trademark registrations varies from country to country, and in the
U.S. we generally are able to maintain our trademark rights and renew any trademark registrations for as long as the trademarks are in use.
We have more than 1,500 patents, in addition to foreign patents and pending U.S. and foreign patent applications, which relate to various
aspects of our products and technology. The duration of our patents is determined by the laws of the country of issuance and for the U.S. is
typically 17 years from the date of issuance of the patent or 20 years from the date of filing of the patent application resulting in the patent,
which we believe is adequate relative to the expected lives of our products.
Our products are protected under U.S. and international copyright laws and laws related to the protection of intellectual property and
proprietary information. We take measures to label such products with the appropriate proprietary rights notices, and we actively enforce such
rights in the U.S. and abroad. However, these measures may not provide sufficient protection, and our intellectual property rights may be
challenged. In addition, we license some intellectual property from third parties for use in our products, and generally must rely on the third
party to protect the licensed intellectual property rights. While we believe that our ability to maintain and protect our intellectual property rights
is important to our success, we also believe that our business as a whole is not materially dependent on any particular patent, trademark, license,
or other intellectual property right.
Seasonality
As is typical for many large software companies, our business is seasonal. Software license and maintenance orders are generally higher in
our third and fourth fiscal quarters and lower in our first and second fiscal quarters. A decline in license and maintenance orders is typical in the
first quarter of our fiscal year as compared to license and maintenance orders in the fourth quarter of the prior fiscal year. In addition, we
generally receive a higher volume of software license and maintenance orders in the last month of a quarter, with orders concentrated in the latter
part of that month. We believe that this seasonality primarily reflects customer spending patterns and budget cycles, as well as the impact of
compensation incentive plans for our sales personnel. Revenue generally reflects similar seasonal patterns but to a lesser extent than orders
because revenue is not recognized until an order is shipped or services are performed and other revenue recognition criteria are met, and because
a significant portion of our in-period revenue comes from our deferred revenue balance.
Employees
As of March 30, 2012, we employed more than 20,500 people worldwide, approximately 45 percent of whom reside in the
U.S. Approximately 7,100 employees work in sales and marketing; 6,800 in research and development; 5,100 in support and services; and 1,500
in management, manufacturing, and administration.
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Available Information
Our Internet address is www.symantec.com. We make available free of charge our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such
material with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on our investor relations website located at www.symantec.com/invest. The
information contained, or referred to, on our website is not part of this annual report unless expressly noted. The SEC maintains a website that
contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding our filings at http://www.sec.gov.
Item 1A.

Risk Factors

A description of the risk factors associated with our business is set forth below. The list is not exhaustive and you should carefully consider
these risks and uncertainties before investing in our common stock.
Fluctuations in demand for our products and services are driven by many factors, and a decrease in demand for our products could
adversely affect our financial results.
We are subject to fluctuations in demand for our products and services due to a variety of factors, including general economic conditions,
competition, product obsolescence, technological change, shifts in buying patterns, financial difficulties and budget constraints of our current
and potential customers, levels of broadband usage, awareness of security threats to IT systems, and other factors. While such factors may, in
some periods, increase product sales, fluctuations in demand can also negatively impact our product sales. If demand for our products and
solutions declines, whether due to general economic conditions or a shift in buying patterns, our revenues and margins would likely be adversely
affected.
If we are unable to develop new and enhanced products and services that achieve widespread market acceptance, or if we are unable to
continually improve the performance, features, and reliability of our existing products and services or adapt our business model to keep
pace with industry trends, our business and operating results could be adversely affected.
Our future success depends on our ability to respond to the rapidly changing needs of our customers by developing or introducing new
products, product upgrades, and services on a timely basis. We have in the past incurred, and will continue to incur, significant research and
development expenses as we strive to remain competitive. New product development and introduction involves a significant commitment of time
and resources and is subject to a number of risks and challenges including:
• Managing the length of the development cycle for new products and product enhancements, which has frequently been longer than we
originally expected
• Adapting to emerging and evolving industry standards and to technological developments by our competitors and customers
• Extending the operation of our products and services to new and evolving platforms, operating systems and hardware products, such as
mobile devices
• Entering into new or unproven markets with which we have limited experience, including the delivery of solutions in an appliance form
factor
• Managing new product and service strategies, including integrating our various security and storage technologies, management
solutions, customer service, and support into unified enterprise security and storage solutions
• Addressing trade compliance issues affecting our ability to ship our products
• Developing or expanding efficient sales channels
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• Obtaining sufficient licenses to technology and technical access from operating system software vendors on reasonable terms to enable
the development and deployment of interoperable products, including source code licenses for certain products with deep technical
integration into operating systems
If we are not successful in managing these risks and challenges, or if our new products, product upgrades, and services are not
technologically competitive or do not achieve market acceptance, our business and operating results could be adversely affected.
We operate in a highly competitive environment, and our competitors may gain market share in the markets for our products that could
adversely affect our business and cause our revenues to decline.
We operate in intensely competitive markets that experience rapid technological developments, changes in industry standards, changes in
customer requirements, and frequent new product introductions and improvements. If we are unable to anticipate or react to these competitive
challenges or if existing or new competitors gain market share in any of our markets, our competitive position could weaken and we could
experience a decline in our sales that could adversely affect our business and operating results. To compete successfully, we must maintain an
innovative research and development effort to develop new products and services and enhance existing products and services, effectively adapt
to changes in the technology or product rights held by our competitors, appropriately respond to competitive strategies, and effectively adapt to
technological changes and changes in the ways that our information is accessed, used, and stored within our enterprise and consumer markets. If
we are unsuccessful in responding to our competitors or to changing technological and customer demands, our competitive position and our
financial results could be adversely affected.
Our traditional competitors include independent software vendors that offer software products that directly compete with our product
offerings. We expect that competition will intensify as a result of future software industry consolidation . In addition to competing with these
vendors directly for sales to end-users of our products, we compete with them for the opportunity to have our products bundled with the product
offerings of our strategic partners such as computer hardware OEMs and ISPs. Our competitors could gain market share from us if any of these
strategic partners replace our products with the products of our competitors or if these partners more actively promote our competitors’ products
than our products. In addition, software vendors who have bundled our products with theirs may choose to bundle their software with their own
or other vendors’ software or may limit our access to standard product interfaces and inhibit our ability to develop products for their platform. In
the future, further product development by these vendors could cause our software applications and services to become redundant, which could
significantly impact our sales and financial results.
We face growing competition from network equipment, computer hardware manufacturers, large operating system providers and other
technology companies. These firms are increasingly developing and incorporating into their products data protection and storage and server
management software that competes at some levels with our product offerings. Our competitive position could be adversely affected to the extent
that our customers perceive the functionality incorporated into these products as replacing the need for our products.
Security protection is also offered by some of our competitors at prices lower than our prices or, in some cases is offered free of charge.
Some companies offer the lower-priced or free security products within their computer hardware or software products that we believe are
inferior to our products and SaaS offerings. Our competitive position could be adversely affected to the extent that our customers perceive these
security products as replacing the need for more effective, full featured products and services such as those that we provide. The expansion of
these competitive trends could have a significant negative impact on our sales and financial results by causing, among other things, price
reductions of our products, reduced profitability and loss of market share.
Many of our competitors have greater financial, technical, sales, marketing, or other resources than we do and consequently may have the
ability to influence customers to purchase their products instead of ours. Further consolidation within our industry or other changes in the
competitive environment, such as Intel Corporation’s
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acquisition of McAfee, could result in larger competitors that compete with us on several levels. We also face competition from many smaller
companies that specialize in particular segments of the markets in which we compete.
Our business models present execution and competitive risks.
In recent years, our SaaS offerings have become increasingly critical in our business. Our competitors are rapidly developing and
deploying SaaS offerings for consumers and business customers. Pricing and delivery models are evolving. Devices and form factors influence
how users access services in the cloud. We are devoting significant resources to develop and deploy our own SaaS strategies. We cannot assure
you that our investments in and development of SaaS offerings will achieve the expected returns for us or that we will be able to compete
successfully in the marketplace. In addition to software development costs, we are incurring costs to build and maintain infrastructure to support
SaaS offerings. These costs may reduce the operating margins we have previously achieved. Whether we are successful in this business model
depends on our execution in a number of areas, including:
• Continuing to innovate and bring to market compelling cloud-based experiences that generate increasing traffic and market share; and
• Ensuring that our SaaS offerings meet the reliability expectations of our customers and maintain the security of their data.
Our increasing focus on the delivery of products in an appliance form factor creates new business and financial risks.
During fiscal 2012, we began shipping more products to customers in an appliance form factor, and we expect this trend to continue. The
delivery of solutions in the form of appliances creates new business and financial risks, including the following:
• increased cost of components and contract manufacturing, as we do not own our manufacturing facilities;
• supply chain issues, including financial problems of contract manufacturers or component suppliers;
• a shortage of adequate component supply or manufacturing capacity that increases our costs and/or causes a delay in order fulfillment;
• excess inventory levels, which could lead to write-downs or obsolescence charges;
• additional reserves for product returns;
• challenges in managing our channel business;
• tax and trade compliance complications; and
• local field support of customers’ appliances.
We cannot assure you that we will continue to have success in our appliance business.
Defects or disruptions in our SaaS offerings could reduce demand for our services and subject us to substantial liability.
Our SaaS offerings may contain errors or defects that users identify after they begin using them that could result in unanticipated service
interruptions, which could harm our reputation and our business. Since our customers use our SaaS offerings for mission-critical protection from
threats to electronic information, endpoint devices, and computer networks, any errors, defects, disruptions in service or other performance
problems with our SaaS offerings could significantly harm our reputation and may damage our customers’ businesses. If that occurs, customers
could elect not to renew, or delay or withhold payment to us, we could lose future sales or customers may make warranty or other claims against
us, which could result in an increase in our provision for doubtful accounts, an increase in collection cycles for accounts receivable or the
expense and risk of litigation.
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Risks related to the provision of our SaaS offerings could impair our ability to deliver our services and could expose us to liability, damage
our brand and reputation or otherwise negatively impact our business.
We currently serve our SaaS-based customers from hosting facilities located across the globe. Damage to, or failure of, any significant
element of these hosting facilities could result in interruptions in our service, which could harm our customers and expose us to liability.
Interruptions or failures in our service delivery could cause customers to terminate their subscriptions with us, could adversely affect our renewal
rates, and could harm our ability to attract new customers. Our business would also be harmed if our customers believe that our SaaS offerings
are unreliable. As we continue to offer more of our software products in a SaaS-based delivery model, all of these risks could be exacerbated.
Our SaaS offerings also involve the storage and transmission of large amounts of our customers’ proprietary information, including
sensitive and personally identifiable information. Breaches of our security measures or the accidental loss, inadvertent disclosure or unapproved
dissemination of proprietary information or sensitive or confidential data about us or our customers, including the potential loss or disclosure of
such information or data as a result of fraud or other forms of deception, could expose us, our customers or the individuals affected to a risk of
loss or misuse of this information, result in litigation and potential liability for us, damage our brand and reputation or otherwise negatively
impact our business. Despite our precautions and significant ongoing investments to protect against such breaches, our security measures could
be breached at any time and could result in unauthorized third parties obtaining access to our, or our customers’ data. Any actual or perceived
security vulnerabilities in our SaaS offerings could reduce sales, and constrain consumer and business customer adoption of our SaaS offering. In
addition, the cost and operational consequences of implementing further security measures could be significant.
If we fail to manage our sales and distribution channels effectively or if our partners choose not to market and sell our products to their
customers, our operating results could be adversely affected.
We sell our products to customers around the world through multi-tiered sales and distribution networks. Sales through these different
channels involve distinct risks, including the following:
Direct Sales. A significant portion of our revenues from enterprise products is derived from sales by our direct sales force to end-users.
Special risks associated with direct sales include:
• Longer sales cycles associated with direct sales efforts
• Difficulty in hiring, retaining, and motivating our direct sales force
• Substantial amounts of training for sales representatives to become productive in selling our products and services, including regular
updates to cover new and revised products, and associated delays and difficulties in recognizing the expected benefits of investments in
new products and updates.
Indirect Sales Channels. A significant portion of our revenues is derived from sales through indirect channels, including distributors that
sell our products to end-users and other resellers. This channel involves a number of risks, including:
• Our lack of control over the timing of delivery of our products to end-users
• Our resellers and distributors are generally not subject to minimum sales requirements or any obligation to market our products to their
customers
• Our reseller and distributor agreements are generally nonexclusive and may be terminated at any time without cause
• Our resellers and distributors frequently market and distribute competing products and may, from time to time, place greater emphasis
on the sale of these products due to pricing, promotions, and other terms offered by our competitors
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• Recent consolidation of electronics retailers has increased their negotiating power with respect to hardware and software providers
OEM Sales Channels. A significant portion of our revenues is derived from sales through our OEM partners that incorporate our
products into, or bundle our products with, their products. Our reliance on this sales channel involves many risks, including:
• Our lack of control over the volume of systems shipped and the timing of such shipments
• Our OEM partners are generally not subject to minimum sales requirements or any obligation to market our products to their customers
• Our OEM partners may terminate or renegotiate their arrangements with us and new terms may be less favorable due to competitive
conditions in our markets and other factors
• Sales through our OEM partners are subject to changes in general economic conditions, strategic direction, competitive risks, and other
issues that could result in a reduction of OEM sales
• The development work that we must generally undertake under our agreements with our OEM partners may require us to invest
significant resources and incur significant costs with little or no assurance of ever receiving associated revenues
• The time and expense required for the sales and marketing organizations of our OEM partners to become familiar with our products
may make it more difficult to introduce those products to the market
• Our OEM partners may develop, market, and distribute their own products and market and distribute products of our competitors, which
could reduce our sales
If we fail to manage our sales and distribution channels successfully, these channels may conflict with one another or otherwise fail to
perform as we anticipate, which could reduce our sales and increase our expenses as well as weaken our competitive position. Some of our
distribution partners have experienced financial difficulties in the past, and if our partners suffer financial difficulties in the future because of
general economic conditions or for other reasons, these partners may delay paying their obligations to us and we may have reduced sales or
increased bad debt expense that could adversely affect our operating results. In addition, reliance on multiple channels subjects us to events that
could cause unpredictability in demand, which could increase the risk that we may be unable to plan effectively for the future, and could result in
adverse operating results in future periods.
We are currently planning and designing information systems enhancements, and problems with the design or implementation of these
enhancements could interfere with our business and operations.
We are currently in the process of significantly enhancing our information systems, including planning and designing a new enterprise
resource planning system. The implementation of significant enhancements to information systems is frequently disruptive to the underlying
business of an enterprise, which may especially be the case for us due to the size and complexity of our businesses. Any disruptions relating to
our systems enhancements, particularly any disruptions impacting our operations during the design or implementation periods, could adversely
affect our ability to process customer orders, ship products, provide services and support to our customers, bill and track our customers, fulfill
contractual obligations, and otherwise run our business. Even if we do not encounter these adverse effects, the planning, designing and
implementation may be much more costly than we anticipated. If we are unable to successfully plan, design or implement the information
systems enhancements as planned, our financial position, results of operations, and cash flows could be negatively impacted.
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We have grown, and may continue to grow, through acquisitions, which gives rise to risks and challenges that could adversely affect our
future financial results.
We have in the past acquired, and we expect to acquire in the future, other businesses, business units, and technologies. Acquisitions can
involve a number of special risks and challenges, including:
• Complexity, time, and costs associated with the integration of acquired business operations, workforce, products, and technologies
• Diversion of management time and attention
• Loss or termination of employees, including costs associated with the termination or replacement of those employees
• Assumption of liabilities of the acquired business, including litigation related to the acquired business
• The addition of acquisition-related debt as well as increased expenses and working capital requirements
• Dilution of stock ownership of existing stockholders
• Substantial accounting charges for restructuring and related expenses, write-off of in-process research and development, impairment of
goodwill, amortization of intangible assets, and stock-based compensation expense
If integration of our acquired businesses is not successful, we may not realize the potential benefits of an acquisition or suffer other adverse
effects. To integrate acquired businesses, we must implement our technology systems in the acquired operations and integrate and manage the
personnel of the acquired operations. We also must effectively integrate the different cultures of acquired business organizations into our own in
a way that aligns various interests, and may need to enter new markets in which we have no or limited experience and where competitors in such
markets have stronger market positions.
Any of the foregoing, and other factors, could harm our ability to achieve anticipated levels of profitability from our acquired businesses or
to realize other anticipated benefits of acquisitions.
Our financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected if we do not effectively manage our liabilities.
As a result of the sale of our 1.00% convertible senior notes (“1.00% notes”) in June 2006, and 2.75% senior notes (“2.75% notes”) and
4.20% senior notes (“4.20% notes”), collectively referred to as the Senior Notes in September 2010, we have notes outstanding in an aggregate
principal amount of $2.1 billion that mature at specific dates in calendar years 2013, 2015 and 2020, with approximately half of this indebtedness
due in June 2013. In addition, we have entered into a credit facility with a borrowing capacity of $1 billion. From time to time in the future, we
may also incur indebtedness in addition to the amount available under our credit facility. The maintenance of our debt levels could adversely
affect our flexibility to take advantage of certain corporate opportunities and could adversely affect our financial condition and results of
operations. We may be required to use all or a substantial portion of our cash balance to repay these notes on maturity unless we can obtain new
financing.
Adverse global economic events may harm our business, operating results and financial condition.
Adverse macroeconomic conditions could negatively affect our business, operating results or financial condition under a number of
different scenarios. During challenging economic times and periods of high unemployment, current or potential customers may delay or forgo
decisions to license new products or additional instances of existing products, upgrade their existing hardware or operating environments (which
upgrades are often a catalyst for new purchases of our software), or purchase services. Customers may also have difficulties in obtaining the
requisite third-party financing to complete the purchase of our products and services. An adverse macroeconomic environment could also subject
us to increased credit risk should customers be unable to pay us,
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or delay paying us, for previously purchased products and services. Accordingly, reserves for doubtful accounts and write-offs of accounts
receivable may increase. In addition, weakness in the market for end users of our products could harm the cash flow of our distributors and
resellers who could then delay paying their obligations to us or experience other financial difficulties. This would further increase our credit risk
exposure and, potentially, cause delays in our recognition of revenue on sales to these customers.
In addition, the onset or continuation of adverse economic conditions may make it more difficult either to utilize our existing debt capacity
or otherwise obtain financing for our operations, investing activities (including potential acquisitions) or financing activities. Specific economic
trends, such as declines in the demand for PCs, servers, and other computing devices, or softness in corporate information technology spending,
could have an even more direct, and harmful, impact on our business.
Our international operations involve risks that could increase our expenses, adversely affect our operating results, and require increased
time and attention of our management.
We derive a substantial portion of our revenues from customers located outside of the U.S. and we have significant operations outside of
the U.S., including engineering, sales, customer support, and production. We plan to expand our international operations, but such expansion is
contingent upon the financial performance of our existing international operations as well as our identification of growth opportunities. Our
international operations are subject to risks in addition to those faced by our domestic operations, including:
• Potential loss of proprietary information due to misappropriation or laws that may be less protective of our intellectual property rights
than U.S. laws or that may not be adequately enforced
• Requirements of foreign laws and other governmental controls, including trade and labor restrictions and related laws that reduce the
flexibility of our business operations
• Regulations or restrictions on the use, import, or export of encryption technologies that could delay or prevent the acceptance and use of
encryption products and public networks for secure communications
• Local business and cultural factors that differ from our normal standards and practices, including business practices that we are
prohibited from engaging in by the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and other anti-corruption laws and regulations
• Central bank and other restrictions on our ability to repatriate cash from our international subsidiaries or to exchange cash in
international subsidiaries into cash available for use in the U.S.
• Fluctuations in currency exchange rates, economic instability and inflationary conditions could reduce our customers’ ability to obtain
financing for software products or that could make our products more expensive or could increase our costs of doing business in certain
countries
• Limitations on future growth or inability to maintain current levels of revenues from international sales if we do not invest sufficiently
in our international operations
• Longer payment cycles for sales in foreign countries and difficulties in collecting accounts receivable
• Difficulties in staffing, managing, and operating our international operations, including difficulties related to administering our stock
plans in some foreign countries
• Difficulties in coordinating the activities of our geographically dispersed and culturally diverse operations
• Seasonal reductions in business activity in the summer months in Europe and in other periods in other countries
• Costs and delays associated with developing software and providing support in multiple languages
• Political unrest, war, or terrorism, or regional natural disasters, particularly in areas in which we have facilities
19

Table of Contents
A significant portion of our transactions outside of the U.S. are denominated in foreign currencies. Accordingly, our revenues and expenses
will continue to be subject to fluctuations in foreign currency rates. We expect to be affected by fluctuations in foreign currency rates in the
future, especially if international sales continue to grow as a percentage of our total sales or our operations outside the United States continue to
increase.
The level of corporate tax from sales to our non-U.S. customers is generally less than the level of tax from sales to our U.S. customers.
This benefit is contingent upon existing tax regulations in the U.S. and in the countries in which our international operations are located. Future
changes in domestic or international tax regulations could adversely affect our ability to continue to realize these tax benefits.
Our products are complex and operate in a wide variety of computer configurations, which could result in errors or product failures.
Because we offer very complex products, undetected errors, failures, or bugs may occur, especially when products are first introduced or
when new versions are released. Our products are often installed and used in large-scale computing environments with different operating
systems, system management software, and equipment and networking configurations, which may cause errors or failures in our products or may
expose undetected errors, failures, or bugs in our products. Our customers’ computing environments are often characterized by a wide variety of
standard and non-standard configurations that make pre-release testing for programming or compatibility errors very difficult and timeconsuming. In addition, despite testing by us and others, errors, failures, or bugs may not be found in new products or releases until after
commencement of commercial shipments. In the past, we have discovered software errors, failures, and bugs in certain of our product offerings
after their introduction and, in some cases, have experienced delayed or lost revenues as a result of these errors.
Errors, failures, or bugs in products released by us could result in negative publicity, damage to our brand, product returns, loss of or delay
in market acceptance of our products, loss of competitive position, or claims by customers or others. Many of our end-user customers use our
products in applications that are critical to their businesses and may have a greater sensitivity to defects in our products than to defects in other,
less critical, software products. In addition, if an actual or perceived breach of information integrity or availability occurs in one of our end-user
customer’s systems, regardless of whether the breach is attributable to our products, the market perception of the effectiveness of our products
could be harmed. Alleviating any of these problems could require significant expenditures of our capital and other resources and could cause
interruptions, delays, or cessation of our product licensing, which could cause us to lose existing or potential customers and could adversely
affect our operating results.
If we do not protect our proprietary information and prevent third parties from making unauthorized use of our products and technology,
our financial results could be harmed.
Most of our software and underlying technology is proprietary. We seek to protect our proprietary rights through a combination of
confidentiality agreements and procedures and through copyright, patent, trademark, and trade secret laws. However, all of these measures afford
only limited protection and may be challenged, invalidated, or circumvented by third parties. Third parties may copy all or portions of our
products or otherwise obtain, use, distribute, and sell our proprietary information without authorization.
Third parties may also develop similar or superior technology independently by designing around our patents. Our shrink-wrap license
agreements are not signed by licensees and therefore may be unenforceable under the laws of some jurisdictions. Furthermore, the laws of some
foreign countries do not offer the same level of protection of our proprietary rights as the laws of the U.S., and we may be subject to
unauthorized use of our products in those countries. The unauthorized copying or use of our products or proprietary information could result in
reduced sales of our products. Any legal action to protect proprietary information that we may bring or
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be engaged in with a strategic partner or vendor could adversely affect our ability to access software, operating system, and hardware platforms
of such partner or vendor, or cause such partner or vendor to choose not to offer our products to their customers. In addition, any legal action to
protect proprietary information that we may bring or be engaged in, alone or through our alliances with the Business Software Alliance (“BSA”),
or the Software & Information Industry Association (“SIIA”), could be costly, may distract management from day-to-day operations, and may
lead to additional claims against us, which could adversely affect our operating results.
In January 2012, we became aware of disclosure of the source code for 2006-era versions of certain of our Norton and pcAnywhere
products, which we believe was the result of a theft of source code that occurred in 2006. Any unauthorized disclosure of a significant portion of
this source code could result in the loss of future trade secret protection for that source code. This could make it easier for third parties to
compete with our products by copying functionality, which could adversely affect our revenue, operating margins, results of operations and cash
flows, as well as our reputation. Unauthorized disclosure of the source code also could increase the security risks described under “Our software
products, SaaS Offerings and website may be subject to intentional disruption that could adversely impact our reputation and future sales”
below.
From time to time we are a party to class action and other lawsuits, which often require significant management time and attention and
result in significant legal expenses, and which could, if not determined favorably, negatively impact our business, financial condition,
results of operations, and cash flows.
We have been named as a party to class action lawsuits, and we may be named in additional litigation. The expense of defending such
litigation may be costly and divert management’s attention from the day-to-day operations of our business, which could adversely affect our
business, results of operations, and cash flows. In addition, an unfavorable outcome in such litigation could result in significant monetary
damages or injunctive relief that could negatively impact our ability to conduct our business, results of operations, and cash flows.
Third parties claiming that we infringe their proprietary rights could cause us to incur significant legal expenses and prevent us from
selling our products.
From time to time, we receive claims that we have infringed the intellectual property rights of others, including claims regarding patents,
copyrights, and trademarks. Because of constant technological change in the segments in which we compete, the extensive patent coverage of
existing technologies, and the rapid rate of issuance of new patents, it is possible that the number of these claims may grow . In addition, former
employers of our former, current, or future employees may assert claims that such employees have improperly disclosed to us the confidential or
proprietary information of these former employers. Any such claim, with or without merit, could result in costly litigation and distract
management from day-to-day operations. If we are not successful in defending such claims, we could be required to stop selling, delay
shipments of, or redesign our products, pay monetary amounts as damages, enter into royalty or licensing arrangements, or satisfy
indemnification obligations that we have with some of our customers. We cannot assure you that any royalty or licensing arrangements that we
may seek in such circumstances will be available to us on commercially reasonable terms or at all. We have made and expect to continue making
significant expenditures to investigate, defend and settle claims related to the use of technology and intellectual property rights as part of our
strategy to manage this risk.
In addition, we license and use software from third parties in our business. These third party software licenses may not continue to be
available to us on acceptable terms or at all, and may expose us to additional liability. This liability, or our inability to use any of this third party
software, could result in shipment delays or other disruptions in our business that could materially and adversely affect our operating results.
Our software products, SaaS Offerings and website may be subject to intentional disruption that could adversely impact our reputation
and future sales.
Despite our precautions and significant ongoing investments to protect against security risks, data protection breaches, cyber-attacks and
other intentional disruptions of our products and offerings, we expect to be an ongoing target of attacks specifically designed to impede the
performance of our products and offerings and harm
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our reputation as a company. Similarly, experienced computer programmers may attempt to penetrate our network security or the security of our
website and misappropriate proprietary information or cause interruptions of our services. Because the techniques used by such computer
programmers to access or sabotage networks change frequently and may not be recognized until launched against a target, we may be unable to
anticipate these techniques. The theft or unauthorized use or publication of our trade secrets and other confidential business information as a
result of such an event could adversely affect our competitive position, reputation, brand and future sales of our products, and our customers may
assert claims against us related to resulting losses of confidential or proprietary information. Our business could be subject to significant
disruption, and we could suffer monetary and other losses and reputational harm, in the event of such incidents and claims.
Fluctuations in our quarterly financial results have affected the price of our common stock in the past and could affect our stock price in
the future.
Our quarterly financial results have fluctuated in the past and are likely to vary significantly in the future due to a number of factors, many
of which are outside of our control and which could adversely affect our operations and operating results. If our quarterly financial results or our
predictions of future financial results fail to meet our expectations or the expectations of securities analysts and investors, our stock price could
be negatively affected. Any volatility in our quarterly financial results may make it more difficult for us to raise capital in the future or pursue
acquisitions that involve issuances of our stock. Our operating results for prior periods may not be effective predictors of our future performance.
Factors associated with our industry, the operation of our business, and the markets for our products may cause our quarterly financial
results to fluctuate, including:
• Reduced demand for any of our products
• Entry of new competition into our markets
• Competitive pricing pressure for one or more of our classes of products
• Our ability to timely complete the release of new or enhanced versions of our products
• Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates
• The number, severity, and timing of threat outbreaks (e.g. worms and viruses)
• Our resellers making a substantial portion of their purchases near the end of each quarter
• Enterprise customers’ tendency to negotiate site licenses near the end of each quarter
• Cancellation, deferral, or limitation of orders by customers
• Changes in the mix or type of products sold, particularly as our business continues to evolve into new models such as SaaS and
appliances
• Movements in interest rates
• The rate of adoption of new product technologies and new releases of operating systems
• Weakness or uncertainty in general economic or industry conditions in any of the multiple markets in which we operate that could
reduce customer demand and ability to pay for our products and services
• Political and military instability, which could slow spending within our target markets, delay sales cycles, and otherwise adversely
affect our ability to generate revenues and operate effectively
• Budgetary constraints of customers, which are influenced by corporate earnings and government budget cycles and spending objectives
• Disruptions in our business operations or target markets caused by, among other things, earthquakes, floods, or other natural disasters
affecting our headquarters located in Silicon Valley, California, an area known for seismic activity, or our other locations worldwide
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• Acts of war or terrorism
• Intentional disruptions by third parties
• Health or similar issues, such as a pandemic
Any of the foregoing factors could cause the trading price of our common stock to fluctuate significantly.
Some of our products contain “open source” software, and any failure to comply with the terms of one or more of these open source
licenses could negatively affect our business.
Certain of our products are distributed with software licensed by its authors or other third parties under so-called “open source” licenses,
which may include, by way of example, the GNU General Public License (“GPL”), GNU Lesser General Public License (“LGPL”), the Mozilla
Public License, the BSD License, and the Apache License. Some of these licenses contain requirements that we make available source code for
modifications or derivative works we create based upon the open source software, and that we license such modifications or derivative works
under the terms of a particular open source license or other license granting third parties certain rights of further use. By the terms of certain
open source licenses, we could be required to release the source code of our proprietary software if we combine our proprietary software with
open source software in a certain manner. In addition to risks related to license requirements, usage of open source software can lead to greater
risks than use of third party commercial software, as open source licensors generally do not provide warranties or controls on origin of the
software. We have established processes to help alleviate these risks, including a review process for screening requests from our development
organizations for the use of open source, but we cannot be sure that all open source is submitted for approval prior to use in our products. In
addition, many of the risks associated with usage of open source cannot be eliminated, and could, if not properly addressed, negatively affect our
business.
If we are unable to adequately address increased customer demands on our technical support services, our relationships with our
customers and our financial results may be adversely affected.
We offer technical support services with many of our products. We may be unable to respond quickly enough to accommodate short-term
increases in customer demand for support services. We also may be unable to modify the format of our support services to compete with changes
in support services provided by competitors or successfully integrate support for our customers. Further customer demand for these services,
without corresponding revenues, could increase costs and adversely affect our operating results.
We have outsourced a substantial portion of our worldwide consumer support functions to third party service providers. If these companies
experience financial difficulties, do not maintain sufficiently skilled workers and resources to satisfy our contracts, or otherwise fail to perform
at a sufficient level under these contracts, the level of support services to our customers may be significantly disrupted, which could materially
harm our relationships with these customers.
Accounting charges may cause fluctuations in our quarterly financial results.
Our financial results have been in the past, and may continue to be in the future, materially affected by non-cash and other accounting
charges, including:
• Amortization of intangible assets
• Impairment of goodwill and other long-lived assets
• Stock-based compensation expense
• Restructuring charges
• Loss on sale of a business and similar write-downs of assets held for sale
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For example, during fiscal 2009, we recorded a non-cash goodwill impairment charge of $7.4 billion, resulting in a significant net loss for
the year. Goodwill is evaluated annually for impairment in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year or more frequently if events and circumstances
warrant as we determined they did in the third quarter of fiscal 2009, and our evaluation depends to a large degree on estimates and assumptions
made by our management. Our assessment of any impairment of goodwill is based on a comparison of the fair value of each of our reporting
units to the carrying value of that reporting unit. Our determination of fair value relies on management’s assumptions of our future revenues,
operating costs, and other relevant factors. If management’s estimates of future operating results change, or if there are changes to other key
assumptions such as the discount rate applied to future operating results, the estimate of the fair value of our reporting units could change
significantly, which could result in a goodwill impairment charge. In addition, we evaluate our other long-lived assets, including intangible
assets whenever events or circumstances occur which indicate that the value of these assets might be impaired. If we determine that impairment
has occurred, we could incur an impairment charge against the value of these assets.
The foregoing types of accounting charges may also be incurred in connection with or as a result of other business acquisitions. The price
of our common stock could decline to the extent that our financial results are materially affected by the foregoing accounting charges.
If we are unable to attract and retain qualified employees, lose key personnel, fail to integrate replacement personnel successfully, or fail
to manage our employee base effectively, we may be unable to develop new and enhanced products and services, effectively manage or
expand our business, or increase our revenues.
Our future success depends upon our ability to recruit and retain key management, technical, sales, marketing, finance, and other
personnel. Our officers and other key personnel are employees-at-will, and we cannot assure you that we will be able to retain them. Competition
for people with the specific skills that we require is significant. In order to attract and retain personnel in a competitive marketplace, we believe
that we must provide a competitive compensation package, including cash and equity-based compensation. The volatility in our stock price may
from time to time adversely affect our ability to recruit or retain employees. In addition, we may be unable to obtain required stockholder
approvals of future increases in the number of shares available for issuance under our equity compensation plans, and accounting rules require us
to treat the issuance of equity-based compensation as compensation expense. As a result, we may decide to issue fewer equity-based incentives
and may be impaired in our efforts to attract and retain necessary personnel. If we are unable to hire and retain qualified employees, or
conversely, if we fail to manage employee performance or reduce staffing levels when required by market conditions, our business and operating
results could be adversely affected.
From time to time, key personnel leave our company. While we strive to reduce the negative impact of such changes, the loss of any key
employee could result in significant disruptions to our operations, including adversely affecting the timeliness of product releases, the successful
implementation and completion of company initiatives, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and our internal control over
financial reporting, and the results of our operations. In addition, hiring, training, and successfully integrating replacement sales and other
personnel could be time consuming, may cause additional disruptions to our operations, and may be unsuccessful, which could negatively impact
future revenues.
Our effective tax rate may increase, which could increase our income tax expense and reduce (increase) our net income (loss).
Our effective tax rate could be adversely affected by several factors, many of which are outside of our control, including:
• Changes in the relative proportions of revenues and income before taxes in the various jurisdictions in which we operate that have
differing statutory tax rates
• Changing tax laws, regulations, and interpretations in multiple jurisdictions in which we operate as well as the requirements of certain
tax rulings
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• The tax effects of purchase accounting for acquisitions and restructuring charges that may cause fluctuations between reporting periods
• Tax assessments, or any related tax interest or penalties, could significantly affect our income tax expense for the period in which the
settlements take place
The price of our common stock could decline if our financial results are materially affected by an adverse change in our effective tax rate.
We report our results of operations based on our determination of the aggregate amount of taxes owed in the tax jurisdictions in which we
operate. From time to time, we receive notices that a tax authority in a particular jurisdiction has determined that we owe a greater amount of tax
than we have reported to such authority. We are regularly engaged in discussions and sometimes disputes with these tax authorities. We are
engaged in disputes of this nature at this time. If the ultimate determination of our taxes owed in any of these jurisdictions is for an amount in
excess of the tax provision we have recorded or reserved for, our operating results, cash flows, and financial condition could be adversely
affected.
Our stock price may be volatile in the future, and you could lose the value of your investment.
The market price of our common stock has experienced significant fluctuations in the past and may continue to fluctuate in the future, and
as a result you could lose the value of your investment. The market price of our common stock may be affected by a number of factors,
including:
• Announcements of quarterly operating results and revenue and earnings forecasts by us that fail to meet or be consistent with our earlier
projections or the expectations of our investors or securities analysts
• Announcements by either our competitors or customers that fail to meet or be consistent with their earlier projections or the
expectations of our investors or securities analysts
• Rumors, announcements, or press articles regarding our or our competitors’ operations, management, organization, financial condition,
or financial statements
• Changes in revenue and earnings estimates by us, our investors, or securities analysts
• Accounting charges, including charges relating to the impairment of goodwill
• Announcements of planned acquisitions or dispositions by us or by our competitors
• Announcements of new or planned products by us, our competitors, or our customers
• Gain or loss of a significant customer, partner, reseller or distributor
• Inquiries by the SEC, NASDAQ, law enforcement, or other regulatory bodies
• Acts of terrorism, the threat of war, and other crises or emergency situations
• Economic slowdowns or the perception of an oncoming economic slowdown in any of the major markets in which we operate
The stock market in general, and the market prices of stocks of technology companies in particular, have experienced extreme price
volatility that has adversely affected, and may continue to adversely affect, the market price of our common stock for reasons unrelated to our
business or operating results.
Item 1B.

Unresolved Staff Comments

There are currently no unresolved issues with respect to any Commission staff’s written comments that were received at least 180 days
before the end of our fiscal year to which this report relates and that relate to our periodic or current reports under the Exchange Act.
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Item 2.

Properties

Our properties consist primarily of owned and leased office facilities for sales, research and development, administrative, customer service,
and technical support personnel. Our corporate headquarters is located in Mountain View, California where we occupy facilities totaling
approximately 1,141,000 square feet, of which 723,000 square feet is owned and 418,000 square feet is leased. We also lease an additional
157,000 square feet in the San Francisco Bay Area. Our leased facilities are occupied under leases that expire on various dates beyond fiscal
2018. The following table presents the approximate square footage of our facilities as of March 30, 2012:
Approximate Total Square
Footage (1)
Owned
Leased
(In thousands)

Location

Americas
Europe, Middle East, and Africa
Asia Pacific/Japan
Latin America
Total
(1)

1,750
285
100
—
2,135

1,408
606
1,493
72
3,579

Included in the total square footage above are vacant, available-for-lease properties totaling approximately 395,000 square feet. Total
square footage excludes approximately 132,000 square feet relating to facilities subleased to third parties.

We believe that our existing facilities are adequate for our current needs and that the productive capacity of our facilities is substantially
utilized.
Item 3.

Legal Proceedings

Information with respect to this item may be found under the heading “Commitments and Contingencies” in Note 8 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements in this annual report which information is incorporated into this Item 3 by reference.
Item 4.

Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
PART II
Item 5.

Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market for our common stock
Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “SYMC.” The high and low sales prices set forth
below are as reported on the Nasdaq Global Select Market.

High
Low

Fourth
Quarter

Fiscal 2012
Third
Second
Quarter
Quarter

First
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

Fiscal 2011
Third
Second
Quarter
Quarter

First
Quarter

$18.74
$15.55

$18.88
$14.94

$20.50
$17.97

$18.80
$16.84

$18.24
$14.76

$17.47
$13.58

$20.00
$15.39

$15.75
$12.04

As of March 30, 2012, there were 2,387 stockholders of record of Symantec common stock. Symantec has never declared or paid any cash
dividends on its capital stock.
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Repurchases of our equity securities
Stock repurchases during the three months ended March 30, 2012 were as follows:
Maximum Dollar
Value of Shares
That May Yet be
Total Number of
Shares
Purchased

December 31, 2011 to
January 27, 2012
January 28, 2012 to
February 24, 2012
February 25, 2012 to
March 30, 2012
Total

Purchased Under
Total Number of Shares
Average Price
Purchased Under Publicly
Paid Per Share
Announced Plans or Programs
(In millions, except per share data)

the Plans
or Programs

—

$

—

—

$

1,184

5

$

17.85

5

$

1,103

7
12

$
$

17.89
17.88

7
12

$

984

We have had stock repurchase programs in the past and have repurchased shares on a quarterly basis since the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004
under various programs. On January 25, 2012, we announced that our Board of Directors approved a new $1 billion stock repurchase program.
This program does not have an expiration date and as of March 30, 2012, $984 million remained authorized for future repurchases. For
information regarding our stock repurchase programs, see Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, which information is
incorporated herein by reference.
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Stock performance graph
This performance graph shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or otherwise subject to the liabilities
under that Section, and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Symantec under the Securities Act or the Exchange
Act.
Comparison of cumulative total return — March 31, 2007 to March 30, 2012
The graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on Symantec common stock from March 31, 2007 to March 30, 2012
with the cumulative total return on the S&P 500 Composite Index and the S&P Information Technology Index over the same period (assuming
the investment of $100 in Symantec common stock and in each of the other indices on March 31, 2007, and reinvestment of all dividends,
although no dividends have been declared on Symantec common stock). The comparisons in the graph below are based on historical data and are
not intended to forecast the possible future performance of Symantec common stock.
COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Among Symantec Corporation, The S & P 500 Index
And The S & P Information Technology Index

Symantec Corporation
S & P 500
S & P Information Technology

3/07

3/08

3/09

3/10

3/11

3/12

100.00
100.00
100.00

96.07
94.92
99.57

86.36
58.77
69.63

97.85
88.02
110.02

107.17
101.79
123.10

108.09
110.48
147.98
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Item 6.

Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidated financial data is derived from our Consolidated Financial Statements. This data should be read in
conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes included in this annual report and with Item 7, Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. Historical results may not be indicative of future results.
Among the acquisitions we completed during the past five fiscal years are:
• Clearwell Systems Inc. and LiveOffice LLC during fiscal 2012
• Identity and authentication business of VeriSign, Inc., PGP Corporation, and GuardianEdge Technologies, Inc. during fiscal 2011
• AppStream, Inc., SwapDrive, Inc., PC Tools Pty. Limited, and MessageLabs Group Limited during fiscal 2009
• Altiris Inc. and Vontu Inc. during fiscal 2008
Each of these acquisitions was accounted for as a business purchase and, accordingly, the operating results of these businesses have been
included in the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this annual report since their respective dates of acquisition.
Five-Year Summary
Fiscal (a, b)
2011
2010
2009
(In millions, except per share data)

2012

Consolidated Statements of Income Data:
Net revenue
Operating income (loss) (c)
Net income (loss) attributable to Symantec Corporation stockholders (c)
(d)

Net income (loss) per share attributable to Symantec Corporation
stockholders — basic (c)(d)
Net income (loss) per share attributable to Symantec Corporation
stockholders — diluted (c)(d)
Weighted-average shares outstanding attributable to Symantec
Corporation stockholders — basic
Weighted-average shares outstanding attributable to Symantec
Corporation stockholders — diluted
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets (c)
Deferred revenue
Current portion of long-term debt (f)
Long-term debt (e) (f)
Long-term deferred revenue
Symantec Corporation stockholders’ equity (c)
Noncontrolling interest in subsidiary
Total stockholders’ equity (c)
(a)

2008

$ 6,730
1,079

$ 6,190
880

$ 5,985
933

$ 6,150
(6,470)

$ 5,874
602

$ 1,172

$

597

$

714

$ (6,786)

$

410

$

1.58

$

0.77

$

0.88

$ (8.17)

$

0.47

$

1.57

$

0.76

$

0.87

$ (8.17)

$

0.46

741

778

810

831

868

748

786

819

831

884

$ 3,162
13,020
3,444
—
2,039
529
$ 5,094
78
$ 5,172

$ 2,950
12,719
3,321
596
1,987
498
$ 4,528
77
$ 4,605

$ 3,029
11,232
2,835
—
1,871
371
$ 4,548
—
$ 4,548

$ 1,793
10,638
2,644
—
1,766
419
$ 4,147
—
$ 4,147

$ 1,890
18,085
2,662
—
1,669
415
$11,229
—
$11,229

We have a 52/53-week fiscal year. Fiscal 2012, 2011, 2010 and 2008 were each comprised of 52 weeks of operations. Fiscal 2009 was
comprised of 53 weeks of operations.
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(b)

The summary reflects adjustments for the retrospective adoption of new authoritative guidance on convertible debt instruments in fiscal
2010.

(c)

During fiscal 2009, we recorded a non-cash goodwill impairment charge of $7.4 billion.

(d)

On February 5, 2008, we formed Huawei-Symantec, Inc. (“joint venture”) with a subsidiary of Huawei Technologies Co., Ltd. (“Huawei”).
During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012, we sold our 49% ownership interest in the joint venture to Huawei for $530 million in cash. The
gross proceeds of $530 million, offset by costs to sell the joint venture of $4 million, are included in “Gain from sale of joint venture”
reflected in our fiscal 2012 Consolidated Statements of Income.

(e)

In fiscal 2011, we issued $350 million in principal amount of 2.75% notes due September 15, 2015 and $750 million in principal amount
of 4.20% notes due September 15, 2020.

(f)

In fiscal 2007, we issued $1.1 billion principal amount of 0.75% convertible senior notes (“0.75% notes”) and $1.0 billion principal
amount of 1.00% notes. In fiscal 2011, we repurchased $500 million aggregate principal amount of our 0.75% notes. Concurrently with
this repurchase, we sold a proportionate share of the initial note hedges back to the note hedge counterparties for approximately $13
million. These transactions resulted in a loss from extinguishment of debt of approximately $16 million. In fiscal 2012, the remaining
balance of our 0.75% notes matured and we settled with the holders with a cash payment of $600 million.

Item 7.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
OVERVIEW

Our business
Symantec is a global provider of security, storage, and systems management solutions that help organizations and consumers secure and
manage their information-driven world. Our software and services protect against advanced threats enabling confidence wherever information is
used or stored.
Fiscal calendar
We have a 52/53-week fiscal year ending on the Friday closest to March 31. Unless otherwise stated, references to years in this report
relate to fiscal year and periods ended March 30, 2012, April 1, 2011 and April 2, 2010. Fiscal 2012, 2011, and 2010 each consisted of 52 weeks.
Our 2013 fiscal year will consist of 52 weeks and will end on March 29, 2013.
Our operating segments
Our operating segments are significant strategic business units that offer different products and services, distinguished by customer needs.
Since the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, we have operated in five operating segments: Consumer, Security and Compliance, Storage and Server
Management, Services, and Other. During the first quarter of fiscal 2012, we modified our segment reporting structure to more readily match our
operating structure, resulting in the movement of managed security services revenue and expenses from the Services segment to the Security and
Compliance segment. For further description of our operating segments, see Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this
annual report. Our reportable segments are the same as our operating segments.
Financial results and trends
Revenue increased by $540 million for fiscal 2012, as compared to fiscal 2011, primarily driven by growth in our Security and Compliance
segment, Consumer segment, and Storage and Server Management segment. Our
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strategic acquisitions have continued to contribute positively to our revenue in fiscal 2012. Of the total increase in revenue, approximately $486
million was due to the growth from our existing products and services and $54 million from our fiscal 2012 acquisitions. We expect that our
acquisitions will continue to contribute positively to our revenue in future periods.
Our revenue grew both domestically and internationally in fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011. Fluctuations in the U.S. dollar compared
to foreign currencies favorably impacted our international revenue by $145 million for fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011 and unfavorably
by $53 million for fiscal 2011 as compared to fiscal 2010. For fiscal 2012, we experienced the highest growth in revenue, on a percentage basis,
in the Asia Pacific and Japan region followed by the Americas. We also experienced increases in revenue from the EMEA region despite overall
weakness in the European economies.
Our revenue mix has gradually shifted to a greater proportion of Content, subscription, and maintenance revenue, particularly revenue
derived from subscription arrangements. This shift in our revenue mix is indicative of our success in achieving a more subscription based
revenue model and a greater mix of subscription sales as a percentage of total sales. Revenue derived from subscription arrangements is
recognized ratably over the subscription period. We recognized fewer license sales during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012, which are generally
recognized upon delivery of the product.
Our operating expenses increased for fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011 by $304 million, due to an increase in the compensation
expenses of $273 million and an adverse impact of the change in foreign currency exchange rates of $68 million. Compensation expense
increased primarily due to an increase in headcount due to the overall growth of our business. Our operating expenses increased for similar
reasons in fiscal 2011 as compared to fiscal 2010.
Our non-operating income in fiscal 2012 increased by $573 million over fiscal 2011 primarily due to the gain from the sale to Huawei of
our ownership interest in the Huawei Symantec joint venture of $526 million. See Note 5 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional information.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes included in this annual report in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States, requires us to make estimates, including judgments and assumptions, that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We have based our estimates on
historical experience and on various assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. We evaluate our estimates on a
regular basis and make changes accordingly. Historically, our critical accounting estimates have not differed materially from actual results;
however, actual results may differ from these estimates under different conditions. If actual results differ from these estimates and other
considerations used in estimating amounts reflected in the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this annual report, the resulting
changes could have a material adverse effect on our Consolidated Statements of Income, and in certain situations, could have a material adverse
effect on our liquidity and financial condition.
A critical accounting estimate is based on judgments and assumptions about matters that are uncertain at the time the estimate is made.
Different estimates that reasonably could have been used or changes in accounting estimates could materially impact the operating results or
financial condition. We believe that the estimates described below represent our critical accounting estimates, as they have the greatest potential
impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements. See also Note 1 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this annual
report.
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Revenue recognition
We recognize revenue primarily pursuant to the requirements under the authoritative guidance on software revenue recognition, and any
applicable amendments or modifications. Revenue recognition requirements in the software industry are very complex and require us to make
many estimates.
For software arrangements that include multiple elements, including perpetual software licenses and maintenance or services, packaged
products with content updates, managed security services, and subscriptions, we allocate and defer revenue for the undelivered items based on
vendor specific objective evidence (“VSOE”) of the fair value of the undelivered elements, and recognize the difference between the total
arrangement fee and the amount deferred for the undelivered items as revenue. VSOE of each element is based on the price for which the
undelivered element is sold separately. We determine fair value of the undelivered elements based on historical evidence of our stand-alone sales
of these elements to third parties or from the stated renewal rate for the undelivered elements. When VSOE does not exist for undelivered items,
the entire arrangement fee is recognized ratably over the performance period. Our deferred revenue consists primarily of the unamortized
balance of enterprise product maintenance, consumer product content updates, managed security services, subscriptions, and arrangements where
VSOE does not exist. Deferred revenue totaled approximately $4.0 billion as of March 30, 2012, of which $529 million was classified as Longterm deferred revenue in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Changes to the elements in a software arrangement, the ability to identify VSOE for
those elements, the fair value of the respective elements, and increasing flexibility in contractual arrangements could materially impact the
amount recognized in the current period and deferred over time.
For arrangements that include both software and non-software elements, we allocate revenue to the software deliverables as a group and
non-software deliverables based on their relative selling prices. In such circumstances, the accounting principles establish a hierarchy to
determine the selling price to be used for allocating revenue to deliverables as follows: (i) VSOE, (ii) third-party evidence of selling price
(“TPE”) and (iii) best estimate of the selling price (“ESP”). When we are unable to establish a selling price using VSOE or TPE, we use ESP to
allocate the arrangement fees to the deliverables.
For our consumer products that include content updates, we recognize revenue and the associated cost of revenue ratably over the term of
the subscription upon sell-through to end-users, as the subscription period commences on the date of sale to the end-user. We defer revenue and
cost of revenue amounts for unsold product held by our distributors and resellers.
We expect our distributors and resellers to maintain adequate inventory of consumer packaged products to meet future customer demand,
which is generally four or six weeks of customer demand based on recent buying trends. We ship product to our distributors and resellers at their
request and based on valid purchase orders. Our distributors and resellers base the quantity of orders on their estimates to meet future customer
demand, which may exceed the expected level of a four or six week supply. We offer limited rights of return if the inventory held by our
distributors and resellers is below the expected level of a four or six week supply. We estimate reserves for product returns as described below.
We typically offer liberal rights of return if inventory held by our distributors and resellers exceeds the expected level. Because we cannot
reasonably estimate the amount of excess inventory that will be returned, we primarily offset deferred revenue against trade accounts receivable
for the amount of revenue in excess of the expected inventory levels.
Arrangements for managed security services and SaaS offerings are generally offered to our customers over a specified period of time, and
we recognize the related revenue ratably over the maintenance, subscription, or service period.
Reserves for product returns. We reserve for estimated product returns as an offset to revenue based primarily on historical trends. We
fully reserve for obsolete products in the distribution channels as an offset to deferred revenue. Actual product returns may be different than what
was estimated. These factors and unanticipated changes in the economic and industry environment could make actual results differ from our
return estimates.
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Reserves for rebates. We estimate and record reserves for channel and end-user rebates as an offset to revenue. For consumer products
that include content updates, rebates are recorded as a ratable offset to revenue over the term of the subscription. Our estimated reserves for
channel volume incentive rebates are based on distributors’ and resellers’ actual performance against the terms and conditions of volume
incentive rebate programs, which are typically entered into quarterly. Our reserves for end-user rebates are estimated based on the terms and
conditions of the promotional programs, actual sales during the promotion, the amount of actual redemptions received, historical redemption
trends by product and by type of promotional program, and the value of the rebate. We also consider current market conditions and economic
trends when estimating our reserves for rebates. If actual redemptions differ from our estimates, material differences may result in the amount
and timing of our net revenues for any period presented.
Valuation of goodwill, intangible assets and long-lived assets
Business combination valuations. When we acquire businesses, we allocate the purchase price to tangible assets and liabilities and
identifiable intangible assets acquired. Any residual purchase price is recorded as goodwill. The allocation of the purchase price requires
management to make significant estimates in determining the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, especially with respect to
intangible assets. These estimates are based on information obtained from management of the acquired companies and historical experience.
These estimates can include, but are not limited to:
• cash flows that an asset is expected to generate in the future;
• expected costs to develop the in-process research and development into commercially viable products and estimated cash flows from the
projects when completed;
• the acquired company’s brand and competitive position, as well as assumptions about the period of time the acquired brand will
continue to be used in the combined company’s product portfolio;
• cost savings expected to be derived from acquiring an asset; and
• discount rates.
These estimates are inherently uncertain and unpredictable, and if different estimates were used the purchase price for the acquisition could
be allocated to the acquired assets and liabilities differently from the allocation that we have made. In addition, unanticipated events and
circumstances may occur which may affect the accuracy or validity of such estimates, and if such events occur we may be required to record a
charge against the value ascribed to an acquired asset or an increase in the amounts recorded for assumed liabilities.
Goodwill impairment.
We review goodwill for impairment on an annual basis on the first day of the fourth quarter of each fiscal year,
and on an interim basis whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable, at the reporting
unit level. Our reporting units are the same as our operating segments. Before performing the goodwill impairment test, we first assess the value
of long-lived assets in each reporting unit, including tangible and intangible assets. We then perform a two-step impairment test on goodwill. In
the first step, we compare the estimated fair value of equity of each reporting unit to its allocated carrying value (book value) of equity. If the
carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds the fair value of the equity associated with that unit, there is an indicator of impairment and we must
perform the second step of the impairment test. This second step involves determining the implied fair value of that reporting unit’s goodwill in a
manner similar to the purchase price allocation for an acquired business, using the reporting unit’s calculated fair value as an assumed purchase
price. If the carrying value of the reporting unit’s goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, then we would record an impairment loss equal to the
excess.
The process of estimating the fair value and carrying value of our reporting units’ equity requires significant judgment at many points
during the analysis. Many assets and liabilities, such as accounts receivable and property and equipment, are not specifically allocated to an
individual reporting unit, and therefore, we apply
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judgment to allocate the assets and liabilities, and this allocation affects the carrying value of the respective reporting units. Similarly, we use
judgment to allocate goodwill to the reporting units based on relative fair values. The use of relative fair values has been necessary for certain
reporting units due to changes in our operating structure in prior years. To determine a reporting unit’s fair value, we use the income approach
under which we calculate the fair value of each reporting unit based on the estimated discounted future cash flows of that unit. We evaluate the
reasonableness of this approach by comparing it with the market approach, which involves a review of the carrying value of our assets relative to
our market capitalization and to the valuation of publicly traded companies operating in the same or similar lines of business.
Applying the income approach requires that we make a number of important estimates and assumptions. We estimate the future cash flows
of each reporting unit based on historical and forecasted revenue and operating costs. This, in turn, involves further estimates, such as estimates
of future revenue and expense growth rates and foreign exchange rates. In addition, we apply a discount rate to the estimated future cash flows
for the purpose of the valuation. This discount rate is based on the estimated weighted-average cost of capital for each reporting unit and may
change from year to year. Changes in these key estimates and assumptions, or in other assumptions used in this process, could materially affect
our impairment analysis for a given year.
As of March 30, 2012, our goodwill balance was $5.8 billion. Based on the impairment analysis performed on December 31, 2011, we
determined that the fair value of each of our reporting units exceeded the carrying value of the unit by more than 10% of the carrying value.
While discount rates are only one of several important estimates used in the analysis, we determined that an increase of one percentage point in
the discount rate used for each respective reporting unit would not have resulted in an impairment indicator for any unit at the time of this
analysis. In addition to the discount rate, the impairment test includes the consideration of a number of estimates, including growth rates,
operating margins and cost forecasts, foreign exchange rates and the allocation of certain tangible assets to the reporting units. Based on the
results of our impairment test, we do not believe that an impairment indicator exists as of our annual impairment test date.
A number of factors, many of which we have no ability to control, could affect our financial condition, operating results and business
prospects and could cause actual results to differ from the estimates and assumptions we employed. These factors include:
• a prolonged global economic crisis;
• a significant decrease in the demand for our products;
• the inability to develop new and enhanced products and services in a timely manner;
• a significant adverse change in legal factors or in the business climate;
• an adverse action or assessment by a regulator;
• successful efforts by our competitors to gain market share in our markets;
• a loss of key personnel;
• our determination to dispose of one or more of our reporting units;
• the testing for recoverability of a significant asset group within a reporting unit; and
• recognition of a goodwill impairment loss.
Intangible asset impairment.
We assess the impairment of identifiable finite-lived intangible assets whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that an asset group’s carrying amount may not be recoverable. Recoverability of certain finite-lived intangible assets,
particularly customer relationships and finite-lived tradenames, would be measured by the comparison of the carrying amount of the asset group
to which the assets are assigned to the sum of the undiscounted estimated future cash flows the asset group is expected to
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generate. If the asset is considered to be impaired, the amount of such impairment would be measured as the difference between the carrying
amount of the asset and its fair value. Recoverability and impairment of other finite-lived intangible assets, particularly developed technology
and patents, would be measured by the comparison of the carrying amount of the asset to the sum of undiscounted estimated future product
revenues offset by estimated future costs to dispose of the product to which the asset relates. For indefinite-lived intangible assets, we review
impairment on an annual basis consistent with the timing of the annual evaluation for goodwill. These assets generally include tradenames,
trademarks and in-process research and development. Recoverability of indefinite-lived intangible assets would be measured by the comparison
of the carrying amount of the asset to the sum of the discounted estimated future cash flows the asset is expected to generate plus expected
royalties. If the asset is considered to be impaired, the amount of such impairment would be measured as the difference between the carrying
amount of the asset and its fair value. Our cash flow assumptions are based on historical and forecasted future revenue, operating costs, and other
relevant factors. Assumptions and estimates about the remaining useful lives of our intangible assets are subjective and are affected by changes
to our business strategies. If management’s estimates of future operating results change, or if there are changes to other assumptions, the estimate
of the fair value of our identifiable intangible assets could change significantly. Such change could result in impairment charges in future
periods, which could have a significant impact on our operating results and financial condition.
Long-lived assets (including assets held for sale).
We assess long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the long-lived assets may not be recoverable. Based on the existence of one or more indicators
of impairment, we assess recoverability of long-lived assets based on a projected undiscounted cash flow method using assumptions determined
by management to be commensurate with the risk inherent in our current business model. If an asset is not recoverable, impairment is measured
as the difference between the carrying amount and its fair value. Our estimates of cash flows require significant judgment based on our historical
and anticipated results and are subject to many factors which could change and cause a material impact to our operating results or financial
condition. We record impairment charges on long-lived assets held for sale when we determine that the carrying value of the long-lived assets
may not be recoverable. In determining fair value, we obtain and consider market value appraisal information from third parties.
Stock-based compensation
We account for stock-based compensation in accordance with the authoritative guidance on stock compensation. Under the fair value
recognition provisions of this guidance, stock-based compensation is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is
recognized as expense ratably on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period of the respective
award.
Determining the fair value of stock-based awards, primarily stock options, at the grant date requires judgment. We use the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model to determine the fair value of stock options. The determination of the grant date fair value of options using an optionpricing model is affected by our stock price as well as assumptions regarding a number of complex and subjective variables. These variables
include our expected stock price volatility over the expected life of the options, actual and projected employee stock option exercise and
cancellation behaviors, risk-free interest rates, and expected dividends.
We estimate the expected life of options granted based on an analysis of our historical experience of employee exercise and post-vesting
termination behavior considered in relation to the contractual life of the option. Expected volatility is based on the average of historical volatility
for the period commensurate with the expected life of the option and the implied volatility of traded options. The risk free interest rate is equal to
the U.S. Treasury constant maturity rates for the period equal to the expected life. We do not currently pay cash dividends on our common stock
and do not anticipate doing so in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, our expected dividend yield is zero.
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We issue performance-based restricted stock units (“PRU”) representing hypothetical shares of our common stock. Each PRU grant
reflects a target number of shares that may be issued to the award recipient. We determine the actual number of shares the recipient receives at
the end of a three-year performance period as follows: (1) our achievement of an annual target earnings per share for the first fiscal year of grant
and (2) our two and three year cumulative relative total shareholder return ranked against that of other companies that are included in the
Standard & Poor’s 500 Index. We estimate the fair value of PRUs using the Monte Carlo simulation model, as the total shareholder return
(“TSR”) modifier contains a market condition.
In accordance with the authoritative guidance on stock compensation, we record stock-based compensation expense for awards that are
expected to vest. As a result, judgment is required in estimating the amount of stock-based awards that are expected to be forfeited. Although we
estimate forfeitures based on historical experience, actual forfeitures may differ. If actual results differ significantly from these estimates, stockbased compensation expense and our results of operations could be materially impacted when we record an adjustment for the difference in the
period that the awards vest or are forfeited.
Contingencies and litigation
We evaluate contingent liabilities including threatened or pending litigation in accordance with the authoritative guidance on
contingencies. We assess the likelihood of any adverse judgments or outcomes from potential claims or legal proceedings, as well as potential
ranges of probable losses, when the outcomes of the claims or proceedings are probable and reasonably estimable. A determination of the
amount of accrued liabilities required, if any, for these contingencies is made after the analysis of each separate matter. Because of uncertainties
related to these matters, we base our estimates on the information available at the time of our assessment. As additional information becomes
available, we reassess the potential liability related to our pending claims and litigation and may revise our estimates. Any revisions in the
estimates of potential liabilities could have a material impact on our operating results and financial position.
Income taxes
We are required to compute our income taxes in each federal, state, and international jurisdiction in which we operate. This process
requires that we estimate the current tax exposure as well as assess temporary differences between the accounting and tax treatment of assets and
liabilities, including items such as accruals and allowances not currently deductible for tax purposes. The income tax effects of the differences
we identify are classified as current or long-term deferred tax assets and liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Our judgments,
assumptions, and estimates relative to the current provision for income tax take into account current tax laws, our interpretation of current tax
laws, and possible outcomes of current and future audits conducted by foreign and domestic tax authorities. Changes in tax laws or our
interpretation of tax laws and the resolution of current and future tax audits could significantly impact the amounts provided for income taxes in
our Consolidated Balance Sheets and Consolidated Statements of Income.
We account for uncertain tax positions pursuant to authoritative guidance based on a two-step approach to recognize and measure those
positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. The first step is to determine if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more
likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on audit, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes. The second step
is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that is more than 50% likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement. We adjust reserves for
our uncertain tax positions due to changing facts and circumstances, such as the closing of a tax audit, the refinement of estimates, or the
realization of earnings or deductions that differ from our estimates. To the extent that the final outcome of these matters is different than the
amounts recorded, such differences will impact our tax provision in our Consolidated Statements of Income in the period in which such
determination is made.
We must also assess the likelihood that deferred tax assets will be realized from future taxable income and, based on this assessment
establish a valuation allowance, if required. The determination of our valuation
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allowance involves assumptions, judgments, and estimates, including forecasted earnings, future taxable income, and the relative proportions of
revenue and income before taxes in the various domestic and international jurisdictions in which we operate. To the extent we establish a
valuation allowance or change the valuation allowance in a period, we reflect the change with a corresponding increase or decrease to our tax
provision in our Consolidated Statements of Income.
In July 2008, we reached an agreement with the IRS concerning our eligibility to claim a lower tax rate on a distribution made from a
Veritas foreign subsidiary prior to the July 2005 acquisition. The distribution was intended to be made pursuant to the American Jobs Creation
Act of 2004, and therefore eligible for a 5.25% effective U.S. federal rate of tax, in lieu of the 35% statutory rate. The final impact of this
agreement remains uncertain since this relates to the taxability of earnings that are otherwise the subject of the transfer pricing matters at issue in
the IRS examination of Veritas tax years 2002 through 2005. To the extent that we owe taxes as a result of these transfer pricing matters in years
prior to the distribution, we anticipate that the incremental tax due from this negotiated agreement will decrease. We currently estimate that the
most probable outcome from this negotiated agreement will be that we will owe $13 million or less, for which an accrual has already been made.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Total net revenue
2012 vs. 2011
Fiscal
2012

Content, subscription, and maintenance revenue
Percentage of total net revenue
License revenue
Percentage of total net revenue
Total net revenue

$5,823
87%
$ 907
13%
$6,730

$

2011 vs. 2010

%

$ 581

11%

$ (41)

(4)%

$ 540

9%

Fiscal
2011
($ in millions)

$5,242
85%
$ 948
15%
$6,190

$

%

$ 217

4%

$ (12)

(1)%

$ 205

3%

Fiscal
2010

$5,025
84%
$ 960
16%
$5,985

Content, subscription, and maintenance revenue increased for fiscal 2012, as compared to fiscal 2011, primarily due to growth in revenue
from our Security and Compliance segment of $339 million, Consumer segment of $152 million, and Storage and Server Management segment
of $131 million, offset by a decrease in our Services segment of $41 million.
Content, subscription, and maintenance revenue increased for fiscal 2011, as compared to fiscal 2010, due to growth in revenue from our
Security and Compliance segment of $139 million, Consumer segment of $70 million, and Storage and Server Management segment of $61
million, offset by a decrease in our Services segment of $52 million.
License revenue includes revenue from software licenses, appliances, and certain revenue sharing arrangements. License revenue
decreased for fiscal 2012, as compared to fiscal 2011, primarily due to decreases from our Storage and Server Management segment of $29
million and Security and Compliance segment of $12 million.
License revenue decreased for fiscal 2011, as compared to fiscal 2010, primarily due to decreases in revenue from our Storage and Server
Management segment of $41 million, partially offset by increases in revenues from the Security and Compliance segment of $17 million and
from the Consumer segment of $13 million.
37

Table of Contents
Net revenue and operating income by segment
Consumer segment
2012 vs. 2011
Fiscal
2012

Consumer revenue
Percentage of total net revenue
Consumer operating income
Percentage of Consumer revenue

$2,104
31%
$1,013
48%

$

2011 vs. 2010

%

$151

8%

$114

13%

Fiscal
2011
($ in millions)

$

$1,953
32%
$ 899
46%

%

$ 82

4%

$ 39

5%

Fiscal
2010

$1,871
31%
$ 860
46%

Consumer revenue increased for fiscal 2012, as compared to fiscal 2011, primarily due to continued growth in our premium internet and
security products of $156 million, which included a favorable foreign currency exchange effect of $39 million. Of the total Consumer revenue
recognized in fiscal 2012, 86% was generated from our electronic channel sales, which are derived from online sales (including new
subscriptions, renewals and upgrades).
Consumer revenue increased for fiscal 2011, as compared to fiscal 2010, primarily due to an increase in sales of our premium internet and
security products of $91 million, which included an unfavorable foreign currency exchange effect of $10 million. Of the total Consumer revenue
recognized in fiscal 2011, 84% was generated from our electronic channel sales, which are derived from online sales (including new
subscriptions, renewals and upgrades).
Consumer operating income increased for fiscal 2012, as compared to fiscal 2011, primarily due to higher revenue of $151 million and
lower advertising and promotion expenses of $22 million, partially offset by increased salaries and wages of $41 million and higher cost of
revenue of $17 million. The increased salaries and wages expense was due to higher headcount compared to fiscal 2011. The increase in cost of
revenue was primarily associated with the increased product revenue. The increase in operating income included a favorable foreign currency
exchange effect of $28 million.
Consumer operating income increased for fiscal 2011, as compared to fiscal 2010, primarily due to increased revenue of $83 million,
partially offset by increases in advertising and promotion expenses of $22 million, equipment costs of $11 million, and costs associated with the
deployment of our new proprietary eCommerce platform. The increase in operating income included an unfavorable foreign currency exchange
effect of $7 million.
Security and Compliance segment
2012 vs. 2011
Fiscal
2012

Security and Compliance revenue
Percentage of total net revenue
Security and Compliance operating income
Percentage of Security and Compliance revenue

$

$1,965
29%
$ 442
22%

2011 vs. 2010
%

$327

20%

$182

70%

Fiscal
2011
($ in millions)

$1,638
26%
$ 260
16%

$

%

$ 156

11%

$(141)

(35)%

Fiscal
2010

$1,482
25%
$ 401
27%

Security and Compliance revenue increased for fiscal 2012, as compared to fiscal 2011, primarily due to increased sales of our information
security products of $300 million, which included additional revenue of approximately $238 million from our user authentication and trust
products and services. The total increase included a favorable foreign currency exchange effect of $43 million.
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Security and Compliance revenue increased for fiscal 2011, as compared to fiscal 2010, primarily due to increased sales of our information
security products of $209 million, which included additional revenue of $124 million from our user authentication and trust products. The
increase was partially offset by decreases in enterprise security products revenue by $68 million. The total increase included an unfavorable
foreign currency exchange effect of $5 million.
Security and Compliance operating income increased for fiscal 2012, as compared to fiscal 2011, primarily due to increased revenue of
$327 million, partially offset by increased salaries and wages of $71 million and higher cost of revenue of $54 million. The increased salaries
and wages expense was due to higher headcount compared to fiscal 2011. The higher cost of revenue was associated with revenue growth. The
increase in operating income included a favorable foreign currency exchange effect of $23 million.
Security and Compliance operating income decreased for fiscal 2011, as compared to fiscal 2010, primarily due to expenses related to our
fiscal 2011 acquisitions and higher sales commissions associated with the increase in deferred revenue in fiscal 2011. Our operating margins
were adversely impacted by our fiscal 2011 acquisitions, largely because we were required under the purchase accounting rules to reduce the
amount of deferred revenue that we recorded in connection with these acquisitions to an amount equal to the fair value of our estimated cost to
fulfill the contractual obligations related to that deferred revenue. This deferred revenue adjustment negatively affected our operating margins
because we recognized a lower portion of the revenue from these acquisitions, but we incurred all of the revenue-related expenses. The decrease
in operating income included an unfavorable foreign currency exchange effect of $11 million.
Storage and Server Management segment
2012 vs. 2011
Fiscal
2012

Storage and Server Management revenue
Percentage of total net revenue
Storage and Server Management operating income
Percentage of Storage and Server Management revenue

$2,410
36%
$ 977
41%

$

2011 vs. 2010

%

$103

4%

$ (86)

(8)%

Fiscal
2011
($ in millions)

$2,307
37%
$1,063
46%

$

%

$ 20

1%

$ (34)

(3)%

Fiscal
2010

$2,287
38%
$1,097
48%

Storage and Server Management revenue increased for fiscal 2012, as compared to fiscal 2011, primarily due to higher sales of our
information management products of $126 million, which included $49 million from our fiscal 2012 acquisition of Clearwell Systems Inc.
(“Clearwell”), partially offset by decreases in sales of $28 million of our storage management products. The total increase included a favorable
foreign currency exchange effect of $52 million.
Storage and Server Management revenue increased for fiscal 2011, as compared to fiscal 2010, primarily due to higher sales of our
information management products of $94 million, partially offset by lower sales of our storage management products of $67 million. The total
increase included an unfavorable foreign currency exchange effect of $33 million.
Storage and Server Management operating income decreased for fiscal 2012, as compared to fiscal 2011, primarily due to higher salaries
and wages of $139 million and higher cost of revenue of $59 million, partially offset by the increase in overall revenue. The increased salaries
and wages expense was due to increased headcount over fiscal 2011, which was attributable to our Clearwell acquisition and growth in the
business. The total decrease in operating income included a favorable foreign currency exchange effect of $48 million.
Storage and Server Management operating income decreased for fiscal 2011, as compared to fiscal 2010, primarily due to an unfavorable
foreign currency exchange effect of $35 million.
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Services segment

Services revenue
Percentage of total net revenue
Services operating income
Percentage of Services revenue

Fiscal

2012 vs. 2011

2012

$

$251
4%
$ 39
16%

Fiscal

%

2011
($ in millions)

$ (41)

(14)%

$ 32

457%

$292
5%
$ 7
2%

2011 vs. 2010

Fiscal

$

2010

%

$ (53)

(15)%

$ (5)

(42)%

$345
6%
$ 12
3%

We transitioned certain consulting services to specialized partners while we focus on our core software business. This resulted in decreased
revenue for fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011. Services operating income increased for fiscal 2012, as compared to fiscal 2011, due to lower
cost of revenue and salaries and wages as we transitioned certain consulting services to our partner led consulting program.
Services revenue and operating income decreased for fiscal 2011, as compared to fiscal 2010, due to our focus on our core software
business.
Other segment
2012 vs. 2011
$
%

Fiscal
2012

Other revenue
Percentage of total net revenue
Other operating loss
Percentage of Other revenue

$

—
0%
$(1,392)
*

$—
$ (43)

NA
3%

Fiscal
2011
($ in millions)

$

—
0%
$(1,349)
*

2011 vs. 2010
$
%

$—

NA

$ 88

*

Fiscal
2010

$

—
0%
$(1,437)
*

* Percentage not meaningful
Our Other segment consists primarily of sunset products and products nearing the end of their life cycle. The operating loss of our Other
segment includes general and administrative expenses; amortization of acquired intangible and other assets; charges such as stock-based
compensation; restructuring and transition expenses; and certain indirect costs that are not charged to the other operating segments.
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Net revenue by geographic region
Fiscal
2012

Americas (U.S., Canada and Latin America)
Consumer Segment
Security and Compliance Segment
Storage and Server Management Segment
Services Segment
Total Americas
Percentage of total net revenue
EMEA (Europe, Middle East, Africa)
Consumer Segment
Security and Compliance Segment
Storage and Server Management Segment
Services Segment
Total EMEA
Percentage of total net revenue
Asia Pacific/Japan
Consumer Segment
Security and Compliance Segment
Storage and Server Management Segment
Services Segment
Total Asia Pacific/ Japan
Percentage of total net revenue
Total net revenue

2012 vs. 2011
$
%

Fiscal
2011
($ in millions)

2011 vs. 2010
$
%

Fiscal
2010

$1,206
1,044
1,240
135
$3,625
54%

$ 72
134
40
(9)
$237

6%
15%
3%
(6)%
7%

$1,134
910
1,200
144
$3,388
55%

$ 90
81
(5)
(19)
$147

9%
10%
0%
(12)%
5%

$1,044
829
1,205
163
$3,241
54%

$ 545
527
723
63
$1,858
28%

$ 42
72
6
(35)
$ 85

8%
16%
1%
(36)%
5%

$ 503
455
717
98
$1,773
29%

$ (35)
24
(21)
(33)
$ (65)

(7)%
6%
(3)%
(25)%
(4)%

$ 538
431
738
131
$1,838
31%

$ 353
394
447
53
$1,247
18%
$6,730

$ 36
121
57
4
$218

11%
44%
15%
8%
21%

$ 28
51
46
(2)
$123

10%
23%
13%
(4)%
14%

$540

9%

$ 317
273
390
49
$1,029
16%
$6,190

$205

3%

$ 289
222
344
51
$ 906
15%
$5,985

Fluctuations in the U.S. dollar compared to foreign currencies favorably impacted our international revenue by approximately $145 million
for fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011. For fiscal 2011 as compared 2010, we had an unfavorable foreign currency exchange effect of $53
million. Our international revenue is and will continue to be a significant portion of our net revenue. As a result, net revenue will continue to be
affected by foreign currency exchange rates as compared to the U.S. dollar.
Cost of revenue
Fiscal
2012

Cost of content, subscription, and
maintenance
Percentage of related revenue
Cost of license
Percentage of related revenue
Amortization of intangible assets
Percentage of total net revenue
Total cost of revenue
Gross margin

$ 943
16%
$ 48
5%
$ 91
1%
$1,082
84%

2012 vs. 2011
$
%

$ 40

4%

$ 21

78%

$(24)

(21)%

$ 37

4%
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2011 vs. 2010
$
%

Fiscal
2011
($ in millions)

$ 903
17%
$ 27
3%
$ 115
2%
$1,045
83%

$ 54
$

5

6%
23%

$(119)

(51)%

$ (60)

(5)%

Fiscal
2010

$ 849
17%
$ 22
2%
$ 234
4%
$1,105
82%
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Cost of content, subscription, and maintenance consists primarily of fee-based technical support costs, costs of billable services, and
payments to OEMs under revenue-sharing agreements. Cost of content, subscription, and maintenance increased for fiscal 2012, as compared to
fiscal 2011, primarily due to higher royalty and fee-based technical support costs, which were partially offset by lower services costs. The
increased royalty costs were mainly associated with increased revenue related to the authentication services and hosted services. The lower
services cost in fiscal 2012, as compared to fiscal 2011, was primarily due to our transitioning of our consulting services to specialized partners.
Cost of content, subscription, and maintenance decreased for fiscal 2011, as compared to fiscal 2010, due to lower fee-based technical
support and fulfillment costs. Cost of content, subscription, and maintenance as a percentage of related revenue remained consistent for fiscal
2012 as compared to fiscal 2011, and for fiscal 2011 as compared to fiscal 2010.
Cost of license consists primarily of royalties paid to third parties under technology licensing agreements, appliances manufacturing costs
and other direct material costs. Cost of license increased for fiscal 2012, as compared to fiscal 2011, primarily due to increased costs associated
with appliances manufacturing and royalties. Cost of license as a percentage of related revenue increased for fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal
2011 due to relatively lower revenue in the Storage and Server Management segment as discussed above and higher associated costs for
appliances manufacturing and royalties.
Cost of license increased for fiscal 2011, as compared to fiscal 2010, due to higher costs associated with appliances manufacturing. Cost of
license as a percentage of related revenue remained consistent for fiscal 2011 as compared to fiscal 2010.
Acquired intangible assets are comprised of developed technologies and patents from acquired companies. The decrease in amortization for
fiscal 2012, as compared to fiscal 2011, was primarily due to certain acquired intangible assets from our prior acquisitions becoming fully
amortized, partially offset by additional amortization related to acquired intangibles from our Clearwell acquisition and a full year impact
associated with the fiscal 2011 acquisitions of VeriSign, PGP, and GuardianEdge. The decrease in amortization for fiscal 2011, as compared to
fiscal 2010, was primarily due to certain acquired intangible assets from our Veritas acquisition becoming fully amortized during fiscal 2011,
partially offset by additional amortization from acquired intangible assets from our fiscal 2011 acquisitions.
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Operating expenses
Our operating expenses increased for fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011 and for fiscal 2011 as compared to fiscal 2010, primarily due
to higher salary and wages and the adverse impact of the change in foreign currency exchange rates, offset by cost savings generated from our
restructuring plans discussed below.
Fiscal
2012

Sales and marketing expense
Percentage of total net revenue
Research and development expense
Percentage of total net revenue
General and administrative expense
Percentage of total net revenue
Amortization of intangible assets
Percentage of total net revenue
Restructuring and transition
Percentage of total net revenue
Impairment of intangible assets
Percentage of total net revenue
Loss and impairment of assets held for sale
Percentage of total net revenue

$2,814
42%
$ 969
14%
$ 437
6%
$ 289
4%
$ 56
1%
$
4
0%
—
0%

2012 vs. 2011
$
%

$192

7%

$107

12%

$ 47

12%

$ 19

7%

$ (36)

(39)%

$ (23)

(85)%

$ (2)

NA

2011 vs. 2010
$
%

Fiscal
2011
($ in millions)

$2,622
42%
$ 862
14%
$ 390
6%
$ 270
4%
$ 92
1%
$ 27
0%
$
2
0%

$255
$

11%

5

1%

$ 38

11%

$ 23

9%

$ (2)

(2)%

$ 27

NA

$ (28)

(93)%

Fiscal
2010

$2,367
40%
$ 857
14%
$ 352
6%
$ 247
4%
$ 94
2%
—
0%
$ 30
1%

Sales and marketing expense increased for fiscal 2012, as compared to fiscal 2011, primarily due to increased compensation expenses of
$140 million. The increase from compensation expenses was mainly due to increased headcount to support the growth of our business. The total
increase in sales and marketing expense also included an unfavorable foreign currency exchange effect of $52 million. Sales and marketing
expense increased for fiscal 2011, as compared to fiscal 2010, primarily due to increased compensation expenses of $166 million and increases
in advertising expenses of $54 million. The increase from compensation expenses was mainly due to increased headcount from our acquisitions
in fiscal 2011.
Research and development expense increased for fiscal 2012, as compared to fiscal 2011, primarily due to increased compensation
expenses of $104 million. The increase from compensation expenses was mainly due to increased headcount to support our continued investment
in product development and absorption of the Clearwell acquisition into our operations. The total increase in research and development expense
included an unfavorable foreign currency exchange effect of $9 million. Research and development expense remained consistent for fiscal 2011
as compared to fiscal 2010.
General and administrative expense increased for fiscal 2012, as compared to fiscal 2011, due to higher compensation expense, external
professional services and equipment of $45 million. General and administrative expense increased for fiscal 2011, as compared to fiscal 2010,
primarily due to higher compensation expenses of $11 million and increased external professional services of $38 million. The increase from
compensation expenses in fiscal 2011, as compared to fiscal 2010, was mainly due to increased headcount from our fiscal 2011 acquisitions.
Other intangible assets are comprised of customer relationships and tradenames. The increase in amortization of other intangible assets for
fiscal 2012, as compared to fiscal 2011, was primarily attributed to the acquisition of Clearwell. For fiscal 2011 compared to fiscal 2010, the
increase in amortization of other intangible assets was due to our fiscal 2011 acquisitions.
Restructuring and transition costs consist of severance, facilities, transition and other related costs. For fiscal 2012, we recognized $29
million of severance, $8 million of facilities costs, and $19 million of transition and
43

Table of Contents
other related costs. The transition charges incurred were primarily due to the planning and design phase of implementing a new enterprise
resource planning system. For fiscal 2011, we recognized $47 million of severance, $27 million of facilities costs, and $18 million of transition
and other related costs. For fiscal 2010, we recognized $56 million of severance, $10 million of facilities costs, and $28 million of transition and
other related costs. For further information on restructuring and transition, see Note 7 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
For fiscal 2012, we recorded an impairment of $4 million which reduced the gross carrying value of indefinite-lived tradenames. During
fiscal 2011, we recorded an impairment of $27 million which reduced the gross carrying value of indefinite-lived tradenames.
During fiscal 2010, we recognized impairments of $20 million on certain land and buildings classified as held for sale. The impairments
were recorded in accordance with the authoritative guidance that requires a long-lived asset classified as held for sale to be measured at the lower
of its carrying amount or fair value, less cost to sell. Also, in fiscal 2010, we sold assets for $42 million which resulted in losses of $10 million.
Non-operating income (expense)
Fiscal
2012

Interest income
Interest expense
Other (expense) income, net
Loss on early extinguishment of debt
Loss from joint venture
Gain from sale of joint venture
Total
Percentage of total net revenue

$ 13
(115)
(6)
—
(27)
526
$ 391
6%

$

2012 vs. 2011
%

$573

Fiscal
2011
($ in millions)

(315)%

$ 10
(143)
(2)
(16)
(31)
—
$(182)
(3)%

2011 vs. 2010
$
%

Fiscal
2010

$

$ (75)

70%

6
(129)
55
—
(39)
—
$(107)
(2)%

We had net non-operating income for fiscal 2012, as compared to net non-operating expense in fiscal 2011. In fiscal 2012, we had a gain of
$526 million from the sale of our joint venture interest described below, and also had lower interest expense from our repayment of the $1.1
billion convertible senior notes that we issued in fiscal 2007. In the second quarter of fiscal 2011 and the first quarter of fiscal 2012, we made
payments of $500 million and $600 million, respectively, to retire the notes. In fiscal 2011, we recorded a loss on early extinguishment of debt of
$16 million due to the repurchase of $500 million of aggregate principal amount of the 0.75% Notes due on June 15, 2011. See Note 6 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for information on our debt.
Non-operating expense increased for fiscal 2011, as compared to fiscal 2010, due in part to the interest expense on the Senior Notes of $1.1
billion issued in the second quarter of fiscal 2011. For fiscal 2011, other (expense) income, net included a $21 million loss from the liquidation
of certain foreign legal entities, partially offset by a realized gain on the sale of marketable securities, compared to fiscal 2010 in which we
recorded a $47 million gain from the liquidation of certain foreign legal entities.
On February 5, 2008, Symantec formed Huawei-Symantec, Inc. (“joint venture”) with a subsidiary of Huawei Technologies Co., Ltd.
(“Huawei”). The joint venture was domiciled in Hong Kong with principal operations in Chengdu, China. The joint venture developed,
manufactured, marketed, and supported security and storage appliances on behalf of global telecommunications carriers and enterprise
customers. As discussed in Note 5 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, we sold our 49% ownership interest in the joint venture to
Huawei on March 30, 2012 for $526 million, net.
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Provision for income taxes
Fiscal 2012

Provision for income taxes
Effective tax rate on earnings

$

298
20%

Fiscal 2011
($ in millions)

$

105
15%

Fiscal 2010

$

112
14%

Our effective tax rate was approximately 20%, 15%, and 14% in fiscal 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively.
The tax expense in fiscal 2012 was reduced by the following benefits: (1) $52 million tax benefit arising from the Veritas 2002 through
2005 IRS Appeals matters, (2) $14 million from lapses of statutes of limitation, (3) $17 million from settlements and effective settlements with
tax authorities and related remeasurements, and (4) $5 million tax benefit from adjustments related to prior year items. This benefit was partially
offset by a $5 million tax expense resulting from a change in valuation allowance for certain deferred tax assets.
The tax expense in fiscal 2011 was reduced by the following benefits: (1) $49 million arising from the Veritas v Commissioner Tax Court
decision further discussed below, (2) $15 million from the reduction of our valuation allowance for certain deferred tax assets, and (3) $21
million tax benefit from lapses of statutes of limitation, and (4) $7 million tax benefit from the conclusion of U.S. and foreign audits.
The tax expense in fiscal 2010 was significantly reduced by the following benefits: (1) $79 million tax benefit arising from the Veritas v.
Commissioner Tax Court decision, (2) $11 million tax benefit from the reduction of our valuation allowance for certain deferred tax assets,
(3) $17 million tax benefit from lapses of statutes of limitation, (4) $9 million tax benefit from the conclusion of U.S. and foreign audits,
(5) $7 million tax benefit to adjust taxes provided in prior periods, and (6) $6 million tax benefit from current year discrete events. The change in
the valuation allowance follows discussions with Irish Revenue in the third quarter of fiscal 2010, the result of which accelerates the timing of
the use of certain Irish tax loss carryforwards in the future.
The effective tax rates for all periods presented otherwise reflects the benefits of lower-taxed international earnings and losses from our
joint venture with Huawei Technologies Co., Limited, domestic manufacturing incentives, and research and development credits (the U.S.
federal R&D tax credit expired on December 31, 2011), partially offset by state income taxes. Pretax income from international operations
increased significantly due to the sale of our 49% ownership interest in the joint venture to Huawei on March 30, 2012 for $526 million. A
significant portion of the sale proceeds was attributable to international tax jurisdictions resulting in a 20% tax rate on the sale of the joint
venture reducing the overall tax rate by 3%.
We are a U.S.-based multinational company subject to tax in multiple U.S. and international tax jurisdictions. Substantially all of our
international earnings were generated by subsidiaries in Ireland and Singapore. Our results of operations would be adversely affected to the
extent that our geographical mix of income becomes more weighted toward jurisdictions with higher tax rates and would be favorably affected to
the extent the relative geographic mix shifts to lower tax jurisdictions. Any change in our mix of earnings is dependent upon many factors and is
therefore difficult to predict.
For further information on the impact of foreign earnings on our effective tax rate, see Note 12 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.
See Critical Accounting Estimates above for additional information about our provision for income taxes.
In assessing the ability to realize our deferred tax assets, we considered whether it was more likely than not that some portion or all of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized. We considered the following: we have historical cumulative book income, as measured by the current
and prior two years, we have strong, consistent taxpaying history, we have substantial U.S. federal income tax carryback potential; and we have
substantial amounts of scheduled future reversals of taxable temporary differences from our deferred tax liabilities. Levels of future taxable
income are subject to the various risks and uncertainties discussed in Part I, Item 1A, Risk Factors,
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set forth in this annual report. We have concluded that this positive evidence outweighs the negative evidence and, thus, that the deferred tax
assets as of March 30, 2012 of $528 million, after application of the valuation allowances described above, are realizable on a “more likely than
not” basis.
On December 10, 2009, the U.S. Tax Court issued its opinion in Veritas v. Commissioner, finding that our transfer pricing methodology,
with appropriate adjustments, was the best method for assessing the value of the transaction at issue between Veritas and its international
subsidiary in the 2000 to 2001 tax years. In June 2010, we reached an agreement with the IRS concerning the amount of the adjustment based on
the U.S. Tax Court decision. As a result of the agreement, we reduced our liability for unrecognized tax benefits, resulting in a $39 million tax
benefit in the first quarter of fiscal 2011. In March 2011, we reached agreement with Irish Revenue concerning compensating adjustments
arising from this matter, resulting in an additional $10 million tax benefit in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2011. This matter has now been closed
and no further adjustments to the accrued liability are expected.
On December 2, 2009, we received a Revenue Agent’s Report from the IRS for the Veritas 2002 through 2005 tax years assessing
additional taxes due. We have contested $80 million of the tax assessed and all penalties. As a result of negotiations with IRS Appeals in the
three months ended December 30, 2011, we have remeasured our liability for unrecognized tax benefits, resulting in a tax benefit of $52 million.
The timing of the resolution of income tax examinations is highly uncertain, and the amounts ultimately paid, if any, upon resolution of the
issues raised by the taxing authorities may differ materially from the amounts accrued for each year. Although potential resolution of uncertain
tax positions involve multiple tax periods and jurisdictions, it is reasonably possible that a reduction of up to $21 million of the reserves for
unrecognized tax benefits may occur within the next 12 months, some of which, depending on the nature of the settlement or expiration of
statutes of limitations, may affect our income tax provision and therefore benefit the resulting effective tax rate. The actual amount could vary
significantly depending on the ultimate timing and nature of any settlements.
We continue to monitor the progress of ongoing tax controversies and the impact, if any, of the expected tolling of the statute of limitations
in various taxing jurisdictions.
Loss attributable to noncontrolling interest
In fiscal 2011, we completed the acquisition of the identity and authentication business of VeriSign, Inc. (“VeriSign”), including a
controlling interest in its subsidiary VeriSign Japan K.K. (“VeriSign Japan”), a publicly traded company on the Tokyo Stock Exchange. Given
our majority ownership interest of approximately 54% in VeriSign Japan, the accounts of VeriSign Japan have been consolidated with our
accounts, and a noncontrolling interest has been recorded for the noncontrolling investors’ interests in the equity and operations of VeriSign
Japan. For fiscal 2012 and 2011, the loss attributable to the noncontrolling interest in VeriSign Japan was approximately $0 million and $4
million, respectively.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Sources of cash
We have historically relied on cash flow from operations, borrowings under a credit facility, and issuances of debt and equity securities for
our liquidity needs. As of March 30, 2012, we had cash and cash equivalents of $3.2 billion.
Senior notes: In the second quarter of fiscal 2011, we issued $350 million in principal amount of 2.75% notes due September 15, 2015 and
$750 million in principal amount of 4.20% notes due September 15, 2020, for an aggregate principal amount of $1.1 billion.
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Revolving credit facility: In the second quarter of fiscal 2011, we also entered into a $1 billion senior unsecured revolving credit facility
that expires in December 2014. Under the terms of this credit facility, we must comply with certain financial and non-financial covenants,
including a covenant to maintain a specified ratio of debt to EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization). As of
March 30, 2012, we were in compliance with all required covenants, and there was no outstanding balance on the credit facility.
We believe that our existing cash and investment balances, our borrowing capacity, our ability to issue new debt instruments, and cash
generated from operations will be sufficient to meet our working capital and capital expenditures requirements for at least the next 12 months.
Uses of cash
Our principal cash requirements include working capital, capital expenditures, taxes, and payments of principal and interest on our debt. In
addition, we regularly evaluate our ability to repurchase stock and acquire other businesses.
Acquisitions: In fiscal 2012, we acquired Clearwell, LiveOffice and another company for an aggregate amount of $508 million, net of cash
acquired. In fiscal 2011, we acquired the identity and authentication business of VeriSign, as well as PGP, GuardianEdge and two other
companies for an aggregate amount of $1.5 billion, net of cash acquired. In fiscal 2010, we acquired two companies for an aggregate amount of
$31 million, net of cash acquired.
Convertible senior notes: In June 2006, we issued $1.1 billion principal amount of 0.75% Notes due June 15, 2011, and $1.0 billion
principal amount of 1.00% Notes due June 15, 2013, to initial purchasers in a private offering for resale to qualified institutional buyers pursuant
to SEC Rule 144A. In fiscal 2011, we repurchased $500 million of aggregate principal amount of our 0.75% Notes in privately negotiated
transactions for approximately $510 million. Concurrently with the repurchase, we sold a proportionate share of the note hedges that we entered
into at the time of the issuance of the convertible notes back to the note hedge counterparties for approximately $13 million. The net cost of the
repurchase of the 0.75% Notes and the concurrent sale of the note hedges was $497 million in cash. We repaid the $600 million balance under
our 0.75% Notes upon maturity in fiscal 2012.
Stock repurchases: We repurchased 51 million, 57 million, and 34 million shares for $893 million, $872 million, and $553 million during
fiscal 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively. As of March 30, 2012, we had $984 million remaining under the plan authorized for future
repurchases.
U.S. tax: As of March 30, 2012, $2.4 billion in cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities were held by our foreign subsidiaries. We
have provided U.S. deferred taxes on a portion of our undistributed foreign earnings sufficient to address the incremental U.S. tax that would be
due if we needed these funds to support our operations in the U.S.
Cash Flows
The following table summarizes, for the periods indicated, selected items in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows:

Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities
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Fiscal 2012

Fiscal 2011
(In millions)

Fiscal 2010

$ 1,901
(318)
(1,386)

$ 1,794
(1,760)
(184)

$ 1,693
(65)
(441)
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Operating activities
Net cash provided by operating activities was $1.9 billion for fiscal 2012, which resulted from net income of $1.2 billion adjusted for noncash items, which largely included depreciation and amortization charges of $712 million, stock-based compensation expense of $164 million,
an increase in deferred revenue of $177 million, an increase in trade accounts receivable, net of $89 million, and an increase in account payable
and accrued liabilities of $77 million. Additionally, net income was adjusted for the net gain from the sale of the joint venture of $526 million, as
the gross proceeds were included as a cash inflow provided by investing activities.
Net cash provided by operating activities was $1.8 billion for fiscal 2011, which resulted from net income of $593 million adjusted for
non-cash items, including depreciation and amortization charges of $743 million and stock-based compensation expense of $145 million, and an
increase in deferred revenue of $442 million. These amounts were partially offset by a decrease in income taxes payable of $128 million.
Net cash provided by operating activities was $1.7 billion for fiscal 2010, which resulted from net income of $714 million adjusted for
non-cash items, including depreciation and amortization charges of $837 million and stock-based compensation expense of $155 million. These
amounts were partially offset by a decrease in income taxes payable of $95 million primarily related to the outcome of the Veritas v.
Commissioner Tax Court decision; see Note 12 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Investing activities
Net cash used in investing activities was $318 million for fiscal 2012, which was used to pay for fiscal 2012 acquisitions, net of cash
acquired, of $508 million, payments of $286 million for capital expenditures, and $47 million in purchases of held-to-maturity securities,
partially offset by the gross proceeds from the sale of the joint venture of $530 million.
Net cash used in investing activities of $1.8 billion for fiscal 2011 was due to $1.5 billion of payments for our fiscal 2011 acquisitions, net
of cash acquired, and $268 million paid for capital expenditures.
Net cash used in investing activities was $65 million for fiscal 2010 and was primarily due to payments of $248 million for capital
expenditures, partially offset by $190 million in net proceeds from the sale of available-for-sale securities.
Financing activities
Net cash used in financing activities was $1.4 billion for fiscal 2012, which was due to the repurchases of our common stock of $893
million and repayment of our outstanding balance of $600 million under the 0.75% Notes, partially offset by net proceeds from sales of common
stock through employee stock plans of $147 million.
Net cash used in financing activities of $184 million for fiscal 2011 was primarily due to repurchases of common stock of $872 million and
repurchases of long-term debt of $510 million, partially offset by proceeds from debt issuance, net of discount, of $1.1 billion and net proceeds
from sales of common stock through employee stock plans of $122 million.
Net cash used in financing activities of $441 million for fiscal 2010 were due to repurchases of common stock of $553 million, partially
offset by net proceeds from sales of common stock through employee stock plans of $124 million.
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Contractual obligations
The following is a schedule by years of our significant contractual obligations as of March 30, 2012:
Payments Due by Period
Fiscal 2018
Fiscal 2014
Total

Senior Notes (1)
Interest payments on Senior Notes (1)
Convertible Senior Notes (2)
Interest payments on Convertible Senior Notes (2)
Purchase obligations (3)
Operating leases (4)
Uncertain tax positions (5)
Total

$1,100
300
1,000
12
473
457
393
$3,735

Fiscal 2013

$

$

—
41
—
10
420
99
—
570

Fiscal 2016

and 2015
and 2017
(In millions)

$

—
82
1,000
2
51
149
—
$ 1,284

$

$

350
67
—
—
2
84
—
503

and
Thereafter

$

$

750
110
—
—
—
125
—
985

Other

$ —
—
—
—
—
—
393
$393

(1)

In the second quarter of fiscal 2011, we issued $350 million in principal amount of 2.75% notes due September 15, 2015 and $750 million
in principal amount of 4.20% notes due September 15, 2020. Interest payments were calculated based on terms of the related notes. For
further information on the notes, see Note 6 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(2)

In the first quarter of fiscal 2007, we issued $1.0 billion in principal amount of 1.00% notes due June 15, 2013. Interest payments were
calculated based on terms of the notes. For further information on the notes, see Note 6 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(3)

These amounts are associated with agreements for purchases of goods or services generally including agreements that are enforceable and
legally binding and that specify all significant terms, including fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum, or variable
price provisions; and the approximate timing of the transaction. The table above also includes agreements to purchase goods or services
that have cancellation provisions requiring little or no payment. The amounts under such contracts are included in the table above because
management believes that cancellation of these contracts is unlikely and we expect to make future cash payments according to the contract
terms or in similar amounts for similar materials.

(4)

We have entered into various noncancelable operating lease agreements that expire on various dates beyond fiscal 2018. The amounts in
the table above include $24 million in exited or excess facility costs related to restructuring activities, excluding expected sublease income.

(5)

As of March 30, 2012, we reflected $393 million in long term taxes payable related to uncertain tax positions. At this time, we are unable
to make a reasonably reliable estimate of the timing of payments in individual years beyond the next twelve months due to uncertainties in
the timing of the commencement and settlement of potential tax audits and controversies.
Indemnifications

As permitted under Delaware law, we have agreements whereby we indemnify our officers and directors for certain events or occurrences
while the officer or director is, or was, serving at our request in such capacity. The maximum potential amount of future payments we could be
required to make under these indemnification agreements is not limited; however, we have directors’ and officers’ insurance coverage that
reduces our exposure and may enable us to recover a portion of any future amounts paid. We believe the estimated fair value of these
indemnification agreements in excess of applicable insurance coverage is minimal.
We provide limited product warranties and the majority of our software license agreements contain provisions that indemnify licensees of
our software from damages and costs resulting from claims alleging that
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our software infringes the intellectual property rights of a third party. Historically, payments made under these provisions have been immaterial.
We monitor the conditions that are subject to indemnification to identify if a loss has occurred.
Recently issued and adopted authoritative guidance
In May 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued an accounting standards update that provided guidance on
achieving a consistent definition of and common requirements for measurement and disclosure of fair values in U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”) and International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The guidance expanded disclosures relating to fair
value measurements that are estimated using significant unobservable (Level 3) inputs. The guidance also required categorization by level of the
fair value hierarchy for items that are not measured at fair value but for which fair value is required to be disclosed. We adopted this guidance in
the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements.
In June 2011, the FASB issued an accounting standards update that eliminates the option to report other comprehensive income and its
components in the statement of stockholders’ equity and requires that all non-owner changes in stockholders’ equity be presented in either a
single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements. In December 2011, the FASB issued
another accounting standards update that defers the requirement to present reclassification adjustments for each component of Accumulated
other comprehensive income (“AOCI”) in both Other comprehensive income and Net income on the face of the financial statements. The
amended guidance will be adopted by us in the first quarter of fiscal 2013, on a retrospective basis, and will result only in changes in our
financial statement presentation.
In September 2011, the FASB issued an accounting standards update that permits entities to first assess qualitative factors to determine
whether it is more likely than not (a likelihood of more than 50%) that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount as a basis
for determining whether it is necessary to perform the two-step goodwill impairment test. This new guidance will be adopted by us in fiscal 2013
on a prospective basis, and will be applied in our fourth quarter of fiscal 2013 at the time we perform our annual goodwill test. We do not expect
that this guidance will materially impact our Consolidated Financial Statements.
In December 2011, the FASB issued an accounting standards update that will require us to disclose information about offsetting and
related arrangements associated with certain financial and derivative instruments to enable users of our financial statements to better understand
the effect of those arrangements on our financial position. The new guidance will be applicable to us on a retrospective basis in the first quarter
of fiscal 2014. We do not expect that this guidance will materially impact our disclosures included in our Consolidated Financial Statements.
Item 7A.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We are exposed to various market risks related to fluctuations in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, and equity prices. We may
use derivative financial instruments to mitigate certain risks in accordance with our investment and foreign exchange policies. We do not use
derivatives or other financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.
Interest rate risk
As of March 30, 2012, we had $1.1 billion in principal amount of fixed-rate Senior Notes outstanding, with a carrying amount of $1.1
billion and a fair value of $1.13 billion, which fair value is based on Level 2 inputs of market prices for similar convertible debt instruments and
resulting yields. On March 30, 2012, a hypothetical 50 bps increase or decrease in market interest rates would change the fair value of the fixedrate debt by a decrease
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of approximately $22 million and an increase of approximately $45 million, respectively. However, this hypothetical change in interest rates
would not impact the interest expense on the fixed-rate debt.
Foreign currency exchange rate risk
We conduct business in 38 currencies through our worldwide operations and, as such, we are exposed to foreign currency risk. Foreign
currency risks are associated with our cash and cash equivalents, investments, receivables, and payables denominated in foreign currencies.
Fluctuations in exchange rates will result in foreign exchange gains and losses on these foreign currency assets and liabilities and are included in
Other (expense) income, net. Our objective in managing foreign exchange activity is to preserve stockholder value by minimizing the risk of
foreign currency exchange rate changes. Our strategy is to primarily utilize forward contracts to hedge foreign currency exposures. Under our
program, gains and losses in our foreign currency exposures are offset by losses and gains on our forward contracts. Our forward contracts
generally have terms of one to six months. At the end of the reporting period, open contracts are marked-to-market with unrealized gains and
losses included in Other (expense) income, net.
The following table presents a sensitivity analysis on our foreign forward exchange contract portfolio using a statistical model to estimate
the potential gain or loss in fair value that could arise from hypothetical appreciation or depreciation of foreign currency:
Value of
Contracts
Given X%
Appreciation of
Foreign
Currency
10%
5%

Foreign Forward Exchange Contracts

Purchased, March 30, 2012
Sold, March 30, 2012
Purchased, April 1, 2011
Sold, April 1, 2011

$353
$267
$217
$271

$339
$280
$208
$283

Notional
Amount
(In millions)

$
$
$
$

323
294
199
298

Value of
Contracts
Given X%
Depreciation of
Foreign
Currency
(5)%
(10)%

$306
$309
$188
$313

$287
$327
$177
$331

Equity price risk
In June 2006, we issued $1.1 billion in principal amount of 0.75% notes and $1.0 billion in principal amount of 1.00% notes. We received
proceeds of $2.1 billion from the 0.75% notes and 1.00% notes and incurred net transaction costs of approximately $33 million, of which $9
million was allocated to equity and the remainder allocated proportionately to the 0.75% notes and 1.00% notes. The 0.75% notes and 1.00%
notes were each issued at par and bear interest at 0.75% and 1.00% per annum, respectively. Interest is payable semiannually in arrears on
June 15 and December 15. Concurrent with the issuance of the 0.75% notes and 1.00% notes, the Company entered into note hedge transactions
with affiliates of certain initial purchasers whereby the Company has the option to purchase up to 110 million shares of Symantec common stock
at a price of $19.12 per share. The cost of the note hedge transactions was approximately $592 million.
In September 2010, we repurchased $500 million of aggregate principal amount of our 0.75% convertible senior notes in privately
negotiated transactions for approximately $510 million. Concurrently with the repurchase, we sold a proportionate share of the note hedges that
we entered into at the time of the issuance of the convertible senior notes back to the note hedge counterparties for approximately $13 million.
The net cost of the repurchase and the concurrent sale of the note hedges was $497 million in cash. On June 15, 2011, we repaid the remaining
principal balance of $600 million under our 0.75% convertible senior notes upon maturity. Concurrent with the maturity, the remaining related
note hedges and warrants expired. No portion of these hedges and warrants was converted into our common shares upon maturity.
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The convertible senior notes have a fixed annual interest rate and therefore, we do not have economic interest rate exposure on the
convertible senior notes. However, the values of the convertible senior notes are exposed to interest rate risk. Generally, the fair market value of
our fixed interest rate convertible senior notes will increase as interest rates fall and decrease as interest rates rise. In addition, the fair values of
our convertible senior notes are affected by our stock price. The carrying value of the 1.00% notes was $941 million as of March 30, 2012 which
represents the liability component of the $1.0 billion principal balance. The total estimated fair value of our 1.00% notes at March 30, 2012 was
$1.1 billion and the fair value was determined based on the closing trading price per $100 of the 1.00% notes as of the last day of trading for the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2012, which was $111.50. See Note 6 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
For business and strategic purposes, we also hold equity interests in several privately held companies, many of which can be considered to
be in the start-up or development stages. These investments are inherently risky and we could lose a substantial part or our entire investment in
these companies. These investments are recorded at cost and classified as Other long-term assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of
March 30, 2012, we held equity investments in privately-held companies of $40 million.
Item 8.

Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Annual financial statements
The Consolidated Financial Statements and related disclosures included in Part IV, Item 15 of this annual report are incorporated by
reference into this Item 8.
Selected quarterly financial data
Fiscal 2012

Fiscal 2011

Mar. 30,

Net revenue
Gross profit
Operating income
Net income
Less: Income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interest
Net income attributable to Symantec Corporation
stockholders
Net income per share attributable to Symantec
Corporation stockholders — basic
Net income per share attributable to Symantec
Corporation stockholders — diluted
(a)

2012 (a )

Dec. 30,
2011

Sep. 30,
2011

Jul. 1,
Apr. 1,
Dec. 31,
2011
2011
2010
(Unaudited)
(In millions, except per share data)

$1,681
1,394
192
559
—

$1,715
1,444
300
241
1

$1,681
1,416
285
182
—

559

240

182

191

168

132

136

161

$ 0.77

$ 0.33

$ 0.24

$ 0.25

$ 0.23

$ 0.17

$ 0.17

$ 0.20

$ 0.76

$ 0.32

$ 0.24

$ 0.25

$ 0.22

$ 0.17

$ 0.17

$ 0.20

$1,653
1,394
302
190
(1)

$1,673
1,403
239
166
(2)

$1,604
1,340
229
132
—

Oct. 1,
2010

Jul. 2,
2010

$1,480
1,234
218
134
(2)

$1,433
1,168
194
161
—

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012, we sold our 49% ownership interest in the joint venture to Huawei for $530 million in cash. The
gross proceeds of $530 million, offset by costs to sell the joint venture of $4 million, are included in “Gain from sale of joint venture”
reflected in our fiscal 2012 Consolidated Statements of Income.

Item 9.

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.
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Item 9A.
a)

Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The SEC defines the term “disclosure controls and procedures” to mean a company’s controls and other procedures that are designed to
ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized, and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. “Disclosure controls and procedures” include, without
limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by an issuer in the reports that it files or submits
under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the issuer’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial
officers, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our disclosure controls
and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management. Our
Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer have concluded, based on an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act) by our management, with the participation of our Chief
Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level as
of the end of the period covered by this report.
b)

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act) for Symantec. Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our
Chief Financial Officer, has conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of March 30, 2012,
based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (“COSO”). We have excluded from our evaluation the internal control over financial reporting of Clearwell Systems Inc.
(“Clearwell”), acquired on June 24, 2011, and LiveOffice LLC (“LiveOffice”), acquired on January 13, 2012, as discussed in Note 3 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this annual report. As of March 30, 2012, total tangible assets subject to these acquisitions’
internal control over financial reporting represented $84 million or less than 1% of our consolidated total assets. Total net revenue subject to
these acquisitions’ internal control over financial reporting represented $51 million, or less than 1%, of our consolidated total net revenue for the
fiscal year ended March 30, 2012. As noted below, our internal control over financial reporting, subsequent to the dates of acquisition, includes
certain additional internal controls relating to these acquisitions, in addition to these acquisitions’ internal control over financial reporting.
Our management has concluded that, as of March 30, 2012, our internal control over financial reporting was effective based on these
criteria.
The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm has issued an attestation report regarding its assessment of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of March 30, 2012, which is included in Part IV, Item 15 of this annual report.
c)

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended March 30, 2012 which have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
d)

Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our disclosure controls and
procedures or our internal controls will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control
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system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control
system are met. Furthermore, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls
must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide
absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within our Company have been detected.
Item 9B.

Other Information

None
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PART III
Item 10.

Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this item will be included in an amendment to this annual report on Form 10-K or incorporated by reference
from Symantec’s definitive proxy statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A.
Item 11.

Executive Compensation

The information required by this item will be included in an amendment to this annual report on Form 10-K or incorporated by reference
from Symantec’s definitive proxy statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A.
Item 12.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item will be included in an amendment to this annual report on Form 10-K or incorporated by reference
from Symantec’s definitive proxy statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A.
Item 13.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this item will be included in an amendment to this annual report on Form 10-K or incorporated by reference
from Symantec’s definitive proxy statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A.
Item 14.

Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item will be included in an amendment to this annual report on Form 10-K or incorporated by reference
from Symantec’s definitive proxy statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A.
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PART IV
Item 15.

Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

Upon written request, we will provide, without charge, a copy of this annual report, including the Consolidated Financial Statements and
financial statement schedule. All requests should be sent to:
Symantec Corporation
Attn: Investor Relations
350 Ellis Street
Mountain View, California 94043
650-527-8000
The following documents are filed as part of this report:
Page
Number

1. Consolidated Financial Statements:
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 30, 2012 and April 1, 2011
Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended March 30, 2012, April 1, 2011 and April 2, 2010
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income for the years ended March 30, 2012, April 1,
2011 and April 2, 2010
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended March 30, 2012, April 1, 2011 and April 2, 2010
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
2. Financial Statement Schedule: The following financial statement schedule of Symantec
Corporation for the years ended March 30, 2012, April 1, 2011 and April 2, 2010 is filed as part of this Form 10-K and
should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements of Symantec Corporation
Schedule II: Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Schedules other than those listed above have been omitted since they are either not required, not applicable, or the
information is otherwise included.
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3. Exhibits: The following exhibits are filed as part of or furnished with this annual report as applicable:
EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number

3.01
3.02
3.03
3.04
3.05
4.01
4.02

4.03

4.04

4.05

Incorporated by Reference
File No.
Exhibit

Exhibit Description

Form

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Symantec
Corporation
Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate
of Incorporation of Symantec Corporation
Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate
of Incorporation of Symantec Corporation
Certificate of Designations of Series A Junior Participating
Preferred Stock of Symantec Corporation
Bylaws, as amended, of Symantec Corporation
Form of Common Stock Certificate
Indenture related to the 1.00% Convertible Senior Notes, due
2013, dated as of June 16, 2006, between Symantec Corporation
and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (including form
of 1.00% Convertible Senior Notes due 2013)
Form of Master Terms and Conditions For Convertible Bond
Hedging Transactions between Symantec Corporation and each
of Bank of America, N.A. and Citibank, N.A., respectively,
dated June 9, 2006, including Exhibit and Schedule thereto
Form of Master Terms and Conditions For Warrants Issued by
Symantec Corporation between Symantec Corporation and each
of Bank of America, N.A. and Citibank, N.A., respectively,
dated June 9, 2006, including Exhibit and Schedule thereto
Credit Agreement, dated as of September 8, 2010, by and among
Symantec Corporation, the lenders party thereto (the “Lenders”),
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative
Agent, Bank of America, N.A. and Citibank, N.A., as CoSyndication Agents, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and Morgan
Stanley Senior Funding, Inc., as Co-Documentation Agents, and
Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, Banc of America Securities LLC
and Citigroup Global Markets Inc., as Joint Bookrunners and
Joint Lead Arrangers

S-8

333-119872

4.01

10/21/04

S-8

333-126403

4.03

07/06/05

10-Q

000-17781

3.01

08/05/09

8-K

000-17781

3.01

12/21/04

8-K
S-3ASR
8-K

000-17781
333-139230
000-17781

3.01
4.07
4.02

05/07/12
12/11/06
06/16/06

10-Q

000-17781

10.04

08/09/06

10-Q

000-17781

10.05

08/09/06

10-Q

000-17781

4.01

11/03/10

57

Filing Date

Filed
Herewith

Table of Contents
Exhibit
Number

4.06
4.07
4.08
10.01(*)
10.02(*)
10.03(*)
10.04(*)
10.05(*)
10.06(*)
10.07(*)
10.08(*)
10.09(*)
10.10(*)
10.11(*)
10.12(*)
10.13(*)
10.14(*)

Incorporated by Reference
File No.
Exhibit

Exhibit Description

Form

Indenture, dated September 16, 2010, between Symantec Corporation
and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee
Form of Global Note for Symantec’s 2.750% Senior Note due 2015
(contained in Exhibit No. 4.02)
Form of Global Note for Symantec’s 4.200% Senior Note due 2020
(contained in Exhibit No. 4.02)
Form of Indemnification Agreement with Officers and Directors, as
amended (form for agreements entered into prior to January 17, 2006)
Form of Indemnification Agreement for Officers, Directors and Key
Employees
Veritas Software Corporation 1993 Equity Incentive Plan, including
form of Stock Option Agreement
Symantec Corporation 1996 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended,
including form of Stock Option Agreement and form of Restricted
Stock Purchase Agreement
Symantec Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan, restated and
amended January 1, 2010, as adopted December 15, 2009
Brightmail Inc. 1998 Stock Option Plan, including form of Stock
Option Agreement and form of Notice of Assumption
Symantec Corporation 2000 Director Equity Incentive Plan, as amended
Symantec Corporation 2001 Non-Qualified Equity Incentive Plan
Amended and Restated Symantec Corporation 2002 Executive Officers’
Stock Purchase Plan
Altiris, Inc. 2002 Stock Plan
Form of Stock Option Agreement under the Altiris, Inc. 2002 Stock
Plan
Vontu, Inc. 2002 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan, as amended
Form of Vontu, Inc. Stock Option Agreement
Veritas Software Corporation 2003 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended
and restated, including form of Stock Option Agreement, form of Stock
Option Agreement for Executives and Senior VPs and form of Notice of
Stock Option Assumption

8-K

000-17781

4.01

09/16/10

8-K

000-17781

4.03

09/16/10

8-K

000-17781

10.04

09/16/10

S-1

33-28655

10.17

06/21/89

8-K

000-17781

10.01

01/23/06

10-K

000-17781

10.03

06/09/06

10-K

000-17781

10.05

06/09/06

10-K

000-17781

10.05

05/24/10

10-K

000-17781

10.08

06/09/06

10-Q
10-K
8-K

000-17781
000-17781
000-17781

10.01
10.12
10.01

11/01/11
06/09/06
01/25/08

S-8
S-8

333-141986
333-141986

99.03
99.04

04/10/07
04/10/07

S-8
S-8
10-K

333-148107
333-148107
000-17781

99.02
99.03
10.15

12/17/07
12/17/07
06/09/06

58

Filing Date

Filed
Herewith

Table of Contents
Exhibit
Number

10.15(*)

10.16(*)
10.17(*)
10.18(*)
10.19(*)
10.20(*)
10.21(*)
10.22(*)
10.23(*)
10.24(*)
10.25(*)
10.26(*)
10.27(*)
10.28(*)
10.29(*)
10.30(*)
10.31(*)
10.32(*)
10.33(*)
10.34(*)
10.35

Incorporated by Reference
File No.
Exhibit

Exhibit Description

Form

Symantec Corporation 2004 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended,
including Stock Option Grant — Terms and Conditions, form of RSU
Award Agreement, form of RSU Award Agreement for Non-Employee
Directors and form of PRU Award Agreement
Altiris, Inc. 2005 Stock Plan
Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the Altiris, Inc. 2005
Stock Plan, as amended
Clearwell Systems, Inc. 2005 Stock Plan, as amended
Form of Clearwell Systems, Inc. Stock Option Agreement
Symantec Corporation 2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as
amended
Offer Letter, dated February 8, 2006, from Symantec Corporation to
James A. Beer
Letter Agreement, dated April 6, 2009, between Symantec Corporation
and John W. Thompson
Employment Agreement, dated September 23, 2009, between Symantec
Corporation and Enrique Salem
FY11 Long Term Incentive Plan
FY12 Long Term Incentive Plan
Form of FY12 Executive Annual Incentive Plan — Chief Executive
Officer
Form of FY12 Executive Annual Incentive Plan — Executive Vice
President and Group President — 95%
Form of FY12 Executive Annual Incentive Plan — Executive Vice
President and Group President
FY13 Long Term Incentive Plan
Form of FY13 Executive Annual Incentive Plan — Plan 1 — Chief
Executive Officer
Form of FY13 Executive Annual Incentive Plan — Plan 2 — Vice
President, Senior Vice President, Executive Vice President & Group
President
Symantec Senior Executive Incentive Plan, as amended and restated
Symantec Corporation Executive Retention Plan, as amended and
restated
Symantec Corporation Executive Severance Plan
Assignment of Copyright and Other Intellectual Property Rights, by and
between Peter Norton and Peter Norton Computing, Inc., dated
August 31, 1990

10-K

000-17781

10.17

05/20/11

S-8
S-8

333-141986
333-141986

99.05
99.06

04/10/07
04/10/07

S-8
S-8
10-Q

333-175783
333-175783
000-17781

99.01
99.02
10.2

07/26/11
07/26/11
11/03/10

10-K

000-17781

10.17

06/09/06

8-K

000-17781

10.01

04/09/09

8-K

000-17781

10.01

09/29/09

10-Q
10-K
10-K

000-17781
000-17781
000-17781

10.04
10.29
10.30

08/04/10
05/20/11
05/20/11

10-K

000-17781

10.31

05/20/11

10-K

000-17781

10.32

05/20/11
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Filed
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X
X
X
10-Q

000-17781

10.03

11/07/08
X
X

S-4

33-35385

10.37

06/13/90
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Number

10.36†

10.37

10.38
21.01
23.01
24.01
31.01
31.02
32.01(††)
32.02(††)
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

Exhibit Description

Form

Environmental Indemnity Agreement, dated April 23, 1999, S-1/A
between Veritas and Fairchild Semiconductor Corporation,
included as Exhibit C to that certain Agreement of Purchase and
Sale, dated March 29, 1999, between Veritas and Fairchild
Semiconductor of California
Amendment, dated June 20, 2007, to the Amended and Restated 10-Q
Agreement Respecting Certain Rights of Publicity dated as of
August 31, 1990, by and between Peter Norton and Symantec
Corporation
Amendment, effective December 6, 2010, to the Trademark 10-Q
License Agreement, dated August 9, 2010, by and between
VeriSign, Inc. and Symantec Corporation
Subsidiaries of Symantec Corporation
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Power of Attorney (see Signature page to this annual report)
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Schema Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Labels Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Document

*

Indicates a management contract, compensatory plan or arrangement.

†

Filed by Veritas Software Corporation.

††

Incorporated by Reference
File No.
Exhibit

Filing Date

333-83777

10.27 Exhibit C

08/06/99

000-17781

10.01

08/07/07

000-17781

10.01

02/02/11

Filed
Herewith

X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X

This exhibit is being furnished, rather than filed, and shall not be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing, in accordance with
Item 601 of Regulation S-K.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Symantec Corporation:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Symantec Corporation (and subsidiaries) as of March 30, 2012 and
April 1, 2011, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the
years in the three-year period ended March 30, 2012. In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, we have also audited
the related financial statement schedule listed in Item 15. We also have audited Symantec Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting
as of March 30, 2012, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Symantec Corporation’s management is responsible for these consolidated financial
statements, financial statement schedule, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
appearing under Item 9A(b). Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements, financial statement schedule,
and an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the
consolidated financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Symantec Corporation and subsidiaries as of March 30, 2012 and April 1, 2011, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each
of the years in the three-year period ended March 30, 2012, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our
opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole,
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presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein. Symantec Corporation maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of March 30, 2012, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
As discussed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted updated authoritative accounting guidance related to
impairment testing of goodwill in the first quarter of fiscal 2012 by recording a cumulative-effect adjustment to beginning Accumulated deficit.
Management excluded from its assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of March 30,
2012, the internal control over financial reporting of Clearwell Systems Inc. (“Clearwell”), acquired on June 24, 2011, and LiveOffice LLC
(“LiveOffice”) acquired on January 13, 2012, as discussed in Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. As of March 30, 2012,
total tangible assets subject to these acquisitions’ internal control over financial reporting represented $84 million, or less than 1% of the
consolidated total assets. Total net revenue subject to these acquisitions’ internal control over financial reporting represented $51 million, or less
than 1%, of the consolidated total net revenue for the fiscal year ended March 30, 2012. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of
Symantec Corporation also excluded an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of Clearwell and LiveOffice.
/s/ KPMG LLP
Santa Clara, California
May 21, 2012
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SYMANTEC CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
March 30,
April 1,
2012
2011
(In millions, except
par value)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Trade accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Deferred income taxes
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Investment in joint venture
Other long-term assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued compensation and benefits
Deferred revenue
Current portion of long-term debt
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Long-term deferred revenue
Long-term deferred tax liabilities
Long-term income taxes payable
Other long-term obligations
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)
Stockholders’ equity:
Symantec Corporation stockholders’ equity:
Common stock (par value: $0.01, 3,000 shares authorized; 938 and 972 shares issued at March 30, 2012 and
April 1, 2011; 724 and 758 shares outstanding at March 30, 2012 and April 1, 2011)
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Accumulated deficit
Total Symantec Corporation stockholders’ equity
Noncontrolling interest in subsidiary
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$ 3,162
49
940
28
205
249
4,633
1,100
1,337
5,826
—
124
$ 13,020

$ 2,950
8
1,013
30
223
262
4,486
1,050
1,511
5,494
27
151
$12,719

$

$

7
7,773
173
(2,859)
5,094
78
5,172
$ 13,020

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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324
416
3,444
—
321
4,505
2,039
529
288
393
94
7,848

260
443
3,321
596
273
4,893
1,987
498
296
361
79
8,114

8
8,361
171
(4,012)
4,528
77
4,605
$12,719
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SYMANTEC CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
Year Ended
March 30,
April 1,
April 2,
2012
2011
2010
(In millions, except per share data)

Net revenue:
Content, subscription, and maintenance
License
Total net revenue
Cost of revenue:
Content, subscription, and maintenance
License
Amortization of intangible assets
Total cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Amortization of intangible assets
Restructuring and transition
Impairment of intangible assets
Loss and impairment of assets held for sale
Total operating expenses
Operating income
Interest income
Interest expense
Other (expense) income, net
Loss on early extinguishment of debt
Loss from joint venture
Gain from sale of joint venture
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income
Less: Loss attributable to noncontrolling interest
Net income attributable to Symantec Corporation stockholders
Net income per share attributable to Symantec Corporation stockholders — basic
Net income per share attributable to Symantec Corporation stockholders — diluted
Weighted-average shares outstanding attributable to Symantec Corporation stockholders — basic
Weighted-average shares outstanding attributable to Symantec Corporation stockholders — diluted

$ 5,823
907
6,730

$ 5,242
948
6,190

$ 5,025
960
5,985

943
48
91
1,082
5,648

903
27
115
1,045
5,145

849
22
234
1,105
4,880

2,622
862
390
270
92
27
2
4,265
880
10
(143)
(2)
(16)
(31)
—
698
105
593
(4)
$ 597
$ 0.77
$ 0.76
778
786

2,367
857
352
247
94
—
30
3,947
933
6
(129)
55
—
(39)
—
826
112
714
—
$ 714
$ 0.88
$ 0.87
810
819

2,814
969
437
289
56
4
—
4,569
1,079
13
(115)
(6)
—
(27)
526
1,470
298
1,172
—
$ 1,172
$ 1.58
$ 1.57
741
748

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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SYMANTEC CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
AS OF MARCH 30, 2012, APRIL 1, 2011 AND APRIL 2, 2010

Common Stock

Shares
Balances, April 3, 2009
Components of comprehensive income:
Net income
Translation adjustment, net of tax of $9
Reclassification adjustment for net gain on legal
liquidation of foreign entities included in net
income, net

817

Other
Total comprehensive income
Issuance of common stock under employee stock
plans
Repurchases of common stock
Restricted stock units released, net of taxes
Stock-based compensation, net of estimated
forfeitures
Income tax benefit from employee stock transactions
Balances, April 2, 2010
Components of comprehensive income:
Net income
Translation adjustment, net of tax of $13
Reclassification adjustment for net loss on legal
liquidation of foreign entities included in net
income, net
Other
Total comprehensive income
Issuance of common stock under employee stock
plans
Repurchases of common stock
Restricted stock units released, net of taxes
Stock-based compensation, net of estimated
forfeitures
Noncontrolling interest in subsidiary
Dividend declared to noncontrolling interest in
subsidiary
Adjustments to goodwill related to stock options
assumed in business combination
Balances, April 1, 2011
Cumulative effect adjustment to retained earnings
Beginning balance as adjusted
Components of comprehensive income:
Net income
Translation adjustment, net of tax of $22
Reclassification adjustment for net loss on legal
liquidation of foreign entities included in net
income, net
Total comprehensive income
Issuance of common stock under employee stock
plans
Repurchases of common stock
Restricted stock units released, net of taxes
Stock-based compensation, net of estimated
forfeitures
Income tax benefit from employee stock transactions
Dividend declared to noncontrolling interest in
subsidiary
Adjustments to goodwill related to stock options
assumed in business combination
Balances, March 30, 2012

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Amount
$

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive

8

$

Income

9,289

$

Accumulated

Earnings
(Deficit)
(In millions)
186
$
(5,336)

Total
Symantec
Corporation
Stockholders’
Equity
$

Noncontrolling
Interest in

Total
Stockholders’

Subsidiary

Equity

4,147

—

$

4,147

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
17

714
—

714
17

—
—

714
17

—

—

—

(47)

—

(47)

—

(47)

—

—

—

3

—

3
687

—
—

3
687

12
(34)
3

—
—
—

124
(566)
(20)

—
—
—

—
13*
—

124
(553)*
(20)

—
—
—

124
(553)
(20)

—
—
798

—
—
8

154
9
8,990

—
—
159

—
—
(4,609)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
(8)

597
—

597
(8)

(4)
—

593
(8)

—

—

—

21

—

21

—

21

—

—

—

(1)

—

(1)
609

—
(4)

(1)
605

7
(57)
5

—
—
—

122
(870)
(28)

—
—
—

—
—
—

122
(870)
(28)

—
(2)
—

122
(872)
(28)

5
—

—
—

146
—

—
—

—
—

146
—

—
84

146
84

—

—

—

—

—

—

(1)

—
758

—
8

1
8,361

—
171

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
(1)

—

—

—

3

—

11
(51)
6

—
(1)
—

147
(892)
(41)

—
—
—

—
—
—

147
(893)
(41)

—
—
—

147
(893)
(41)

—
—

—
—

161
30

—
—

—
—

161
30

—
—

161
30

—

—

—

—

—

—

(1)

—
724

$

—
7

$

7
7,773

$

—
173

$

154
9
4,548

—
—
—

(1)

—
(4,012)
(19)

1
4,528
(19)
4,509

—
77
—
77

1
4,605
(19)
4,586

1,172
—

1,172
(1)

—
2

1,172
1

3
1,174

—
2

3
1,176

—
(2,859)

$

7
5,094

$

* As adjusted for the retrospective adoption of authoritative guidance on convertible debt instruments.
The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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9
4,548

—
78

(1)

$

7
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Year Ended
March 30,
2012

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of discount on debt
Stock-based compensation expense
Loss on early extinguishment of debt
Impairment of intangible assets
Loss and impairment of assets held for sale
Deferred income taxes
Excess income tax benefit from the exercise of stock options
Net gain from sale of joint venture
Loss from joint venture
Liquidation of foreign entities
Other
Net change in assets and liabilities, excluding effects of acquisitions:
Trade accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Accounts payable
Accrued compensation and benefits
Deferred revenue
Income taxes payable
Other assets
Other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Cash payments for acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Purchases of equity investments
Proceeds from sale of joint venture
Purchases of held-to-maturity securities
Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale securities
Other
Net cash used in investing activities
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Net proceeds from sales of common stock under employee stock benefit plans
Excess income tax benefit from the exercise of stock options
Payments related to restricted stock units activities
Repurchase of common stock
Repayment of debt
Proceeds from debt issuance, net of discount
Proceeds from sale of bond hedge
Debt issuance costs
Repayment of other obligations
Net cash used in financing activities
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents
Change in cash and cash equivalents
Beginning cash and cash equivalents
Ending cash and cash equivalents
Supplemental cash flow disclosures:
Income taxes paid (net of refunds)
Interest expense paid

$ 1,172

April 1,
2011
(In millions)

$

593

April 2,
2010*

$ 714

656
56
164
—
4
—
15
(8)
(526)
27
3
(1)

647
96
145
16
27
2
5
(7)
—
31
21
(13)

733
104
155
—
—
30
(41)
(13)
—
39
(47)
—

89
2
30
(31)
177
39
(14)
47
1,901

(88)
(4)
2
72
442
(128)
6
(71)
1,794

(14)
3
4
(34)
114
(95)
1
40
1,693

(286)
—
(508)
(10)
530
(47)
3
—
(318)

(268)
30
(1,537)
(7)
—
—
20
2
(1,760)

(248)
45
(31)
(21)
—
(2)
192
—
(65)

147
8
(41)
(893)
(600)
—
—
—
(7)
(1,386)
15
212
2,950
$ 3,162

122
7
(28)
(872)
(510)
1,097
13
(10)
(3)
(184)
71
(79)
3,029
$ 2,950

124
13
(20)
(553)
—
—
—
—
(5)
(441)
49
1,236
1,793
$3,029

$
$

$
$

$ 247
$ 19

234
56

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Note 1.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Business
Symantec Corporation (“we,” “us,” “our,” and “the Company” refer to Symantec Corporation and all of its subsidiaries) is a global
provider of security, storage, and systems management solutions that help organizations and consumers secure and manage their informationdriven world. Our software and services protect against advanced threats enabling confidence wherever information is used or stored.
Principles of consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Symantec Corporation and its wholly-owned subsidiaries are prepared in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“U.S.”). Noncontrolling interest positions of certain of our
consolidated entities are reported as a separate component of consolidated equity from the equity attributable to our stockholders for all periods
presented. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.
Fiscal calendar
We have a 52/53-week fiscal year ending on the Friday closest to March 31. Our fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010 were 52-week years and our
2013 fiscal year will consist of 52 weeks.
Reclassifications
Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation including the reclassification of certain
revenue from Content, subscription and maintenance revenue to License revenue. License revenue includes revenue from software licenses,
appliances and certain revenue-sharing arrangements.
Use of estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S. requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying
notes. Estimates are based upon historical factors, current circumstances and the experience and judgment of management. Management
evaluates its assumptions and estimates on an ongoing basis and may engage outside subject matter experts to assist in its valuations. Actual
results could differ from those estimates. Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include those related to the allocation of
revenue between recognized and deferred amounts, valuation of goodwill, intangible assets and long-lived assets, valuation of stock-based
compensation, contingencies and litigation, and the valuation allowance for deferred income taxes.
Foreign currency translation
The functional currency of our foreign subsidiaries is generally the local currency. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated using the exchange rate on the balance sheet dates. Revenues and expenses are translated using monthly average exchange rates
prevailing during the year. The translation adjustments resulting from this process are included as a component of Accumulated other
comprehensive income. Deferred tax assets (liabilities) are established on the cumulative translation adjustment attributable to unremitted
foreign earnings that are not intended to be indefinitely reinvested. In the event of liquidation of a foreign subsidiary, the accumulated translation
adjustment attributable to that foreign subsidiary is reclassified
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from Accumulated other comprehensive income and included in Other (expense) income, net. As a result of such liquidations in fiscal 2012,
2011, and 2010, we recorded a net loss of $3 million, a net loss of $21 million, and a net gain of $47 million, respectively. Foreign currency
transaction gains and losses are also included in Other (expense) income, net, in the Consolidated Statements of Income.
Revenue recognition
We market and distribute our software products both as stand-alone products and as integrated product suites. We recognize revenue when
1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, 2) delivery has occurred or services have been rendered, 3) fees are fixed or determinable and
4) collectability is probable. If we determine that any one of the four criteria is not met, we will defer recognition of revenue until all the criteria
are met.
We derive revenue primarily from sales of content, subscriptions, and maintenance and licenses. We present revenue net of sales taxes and
any similar assessments.
Content, subscriptions, and maintenance revenue includes arrangements for software maintenance and technical support for our products,
content and subscription services primarily related to our security products, revenue from arrangements where vendor-specific objective
evidence (“VSOE”) of the fair value of undelivered elements does not exist, arrangements for managed security services, and Software-as-aService (“SaaS”) offerings. These arrangements are generally offered to our customers over a specified period of time, and we recognize the
related revenue ratably over the maintenance, subscription, or service period.
Content, subscriptions, and maintenance revenue also includes professional services revenue, which consists primarily of the fees we earn
related to consulting and educational services. We generally recognize revenue from professional services as the services are performed or upon
written acceptance from customers, if applicable, assuming all other conditions for revenue recognition noted above have been met.
License revenue is derived primarily from the licensing of our various products and technology. We generally recognize license revenue
upon delivery of the product, assuming all other conditions for revenue recognition noted above have been met. We enter into perpetual software
license agreements through direct sales to customers and indirect sales with distributors and resellers. The license agreements generally include
product maintenance agreements, for which the related revenue is included with Content, subscriptions, and maintenance and is deferred and
recognized ratably over the period of the agreements. License revenue also includes appliances product revenue. We generally recognize
appliance product revenue as each product is delivered, assuming all other conditions for revenue recognition noted about have been met.
For arrangements that include multiple elements, including perpetual software licenses, maintenance, services, and packaged products with
content updates, managed security services, and subscriptions, we allocate and defer revenue for the undelivered items based on VSOE of the
fair value of the undelivered elements, and recognize the difference between the total arrangement fee and the amount deferred for the
undelivered items as license revenue. VSOE of each element is based on historical evidence of our stand-alone sales of these elements to third
parties or from the stated renewal rate for the undelivered elements. When VSOE does not exist for undelivered items, the entire arrangement fee
is recognized ratably over the performance period. Our deferred revenue consists primarily of the unamortized balance of enterprise product
maintenance, consumer product content updates, managed security services, subscriptions, and arrangements where VSOE does not exist for an
undelivered element.
For arrangements that include both software and non-software elements, we allocate revenue to the software deliverables as a group and
non-software deliverables based on their relative selling prices. In such
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circumstances, the accounting principles establish a hierarchy to determine the selling price used for allocating revenue to the deliverables as
follows: (i) VSOE, (ii) third-party evidence of selling price (“TPE”) and (iii) the best estimate of the selling price (“ESP”). Our appliance
products, SaaS and certain other services are considered to be non-software elements in our arrangements.
When we are unable to establish a selling price using VSOE or TPE, we use ESP in the allocation of arrangement consideration. The
objective of ESP is to determine the price at which we would transact a sale if the product or service were sold on a stand-alone basis. The
determination of ESP is made through consultation with and formal approval by our management, taking into consideration the go-to-market
strategy, pricing factors, and historical transactions. ESP applies to a small portion of our arrangements with multiple deliverables.
Indirect channel sales
For our Consumer segment, we sell packaged software products through a multi-tiered distribution channel. For our consumer products
that include content updates, we recognize revenue ratably over the term of the subscription upon sell-through to end-users, as the subscription
period commences on the date of sale to the end-user. For most other consumer products, we recognize packaged product revenue on distributor
and reseller channel inventory that is not in excess of specified inventory levels in these channels. We offer the right of return of our products
under various policies and programs with our distributors, resellers, and end-user customers. We estimate and record reserves for product returns
as an offset to revenue. We fully reserve for obsolete products in the distribution channel as an offset to deferred revenue for products with
content updates and to revenue for all other products.
For our Security and Compliance and Storage and Server Management segments, we generally recognize revenue from the licensing of
software products through our indirect sales channel upon sell-through or with evidence of an end-user. For licensing of our software to OEMs,
royalty revenue is recognized when the OEM reports the sale of the software products to an end-user, generally on a quarterly basis. In addition
to license royalties, some OEMs pay an annual flat fee and/or support royalties for the right to sell maintenance and technical support to the enduser. We recognize revenue from OEM support royalties and fees ratably over the term of the support agreement.
We offer channel and end-user rebates for our products. Our estimated reserves for channel volume incentive rebates are based on
distributors’ and resellers’ actual performance against the terms and conditions of volume incentive rebate programs, which are typically entered
into quarterly. Our reserves for end-user rebates are estimated based on the terms and conditions of the promotional program, actual sales during
the promotion, the amount of actual redemptions received, historical redemption trends by product and by type of promotional program, and the
value of the rebate. We estimate and record reserves for channel and end-user rebates as an offset to revenue. For consumer products that include
content updates, rebates are recorded as a ratable offset to revenue over the term of the subscription.
Financial instruments
The following methods were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instruments for which it is practicable to estimate that
value:
Cash and cash equivalents. We consider all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents. Cash equivalents are recognized at fair value.
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Short-term investments . Short-term investments primarily consist of marketable debt securities that are classified as held-to-maturity and
recognized at amortized cost. Such securities have contractual maturity dates of one year or less.
Equity investments. We make equity investments in privately held companies whose businesses are complementary to our business.
These investments are accounted for under the cost method of accounting, as we hold less than 20% of the voting stock outstanding and do not
exert significant influence over these companies. The investments are included in Other long-term assets. We assess the recoverability of these
investments by reviewing various indicators of impairment and determine the fair value of these investments by performing a discounted cash
flow analysis of estimated future cash flows if there are indicators of impairment. If a decline in value is determined to be other-than-temporary,
impairment would be recognized and included in Other (expense) income, net. As of March 30, 2012 and April 1, 2011, we held equity
investments in privately-held companies of $40 million and $30 million, respectively. Other-than-temporary impairments related to these
investments were not material for the periods presented.
Long term debt. Long-term debt includes senior notes, convertible senior notes and a revolving credit facility . Our senior notes and
convertible senior notes are recorded at cost based upon par value at issuance less discounts. The discount associated with our senior notes
represents the amount by which the face value exceeds the issuance price. For the convertible senior notes, the liability component is recognized
at fair value on the issuance date, based on the fair value of a similar instrument that does not have a conversion feature at issuance. The equity
component (also known as “discount”) is the excess of the principal amount of the convertible senior notes over the fair value of the liability
component and represents the estimated fair value of the conversion feature. Such amount is reflected in Additional paid-in capital. The discount
and issuance costs (recognized initially in the Other long-term assets) are amortized using the effective interest rate method over the term of the
debt as a non-cash charge to interest expense. Borrowings under our $1 billion senior unsecured revolving credit facility are recognized at cost
plus accrued interest based upon stated interest rates.
Trade accounts receivable
Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and are not interest bearing. We maintain an allowance for doubtful
accounts to reserve for potentially uncollectible trade receivables. Additions to the allowance for doubtful accounts are recorded as General and
administrative expenses. We review our trade receivables by aging category to identify specific customers with known disputes or collectability
issues. In addition, we maintain an allowance for all other receivables not included in the specific reserve by applying specific percentages of
projected uncollectible receivables to the various aging categories. In determining these percentages, we analyze our historical collection
experience and current economic trends. We exercise judgment when determining the adequacy of these reserves as we evaluate historical bad
debt trends, general economic conditions in the U.S. and internationally, and changes in customer financial conditions. We also offset deferred
revenue against accounts receivable when channel inventories are in excess of specified levels and for transactions where collection of a
receivable is not considered probable.
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The following table summarizes trade accounts receivable, net of allowances and reserves, for the periods presented:
As of
March 30,
April 1,
2011

2012
(In millions)

Trade accounts receivable, net:
Receivables
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts
Less: reserve for product returns
Trade accounts receivable, net:

$

$

962
(5)
(17)
940

$1,034
(9)
(12)
$1,013

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. Cost is principally determined using the first-in, first-out method. Adjustments to
reduce the cost of inventory to its net realizable value are made, if required, for estimated excess, obsolescence or impaired balances. Inventory
predominantly consists of deferred costs of revenue and finished goods. Deferred costs of revenue were $20 million as of March 30, 2012 and
$22 million as of April 1, 2011. Finished goods were $11 million as of March 30, 2012 and $7 million as of April 1, 2011.
Property and equipment
Property, equipment, and leasehold improvements are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization. We capitalize costs
incurred during the application development stage related to the development of internal use software and enterprise cloud computing services.
We expense costs incurred related to the planning and post-implementation phases of development as incurred. Depreciation and amortization is
provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Buildings are depreciated over 20 to 30 years. Leasehold
improvements are depreciated over the lesser of the life of the improvement or the initial lease term. Computer hardware and software, and
office furniture and equipment are depreciated over three to five years.
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The following table summarizes property and equipment by categories for the periods presented:
As of
March 30,
April 1,
2011

2012
(In millions)

Property and equipment, net:
Computer hardware and software
Office furniture and equipment
Buildings
Leasehold improvements

$ 1,640
176
489
284
2,589
(1,663)
926
95
79
$ 1,100

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization
Construction in progress
Land
Property and equipment, net

$ 1,458
189
467
270
2,384
(1,530)
854
117
79
$ 1,050

Depreciation expense was $273 million, $257 million, and $247 million in fiscal 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively.
Business combinations
We use the acquisition method of accounting under the authoritative guidance on business combinations. Each acquired company’s
operating results are included in our consolidated financial statements starting on the date of acquisition. The purchase price is equivalent to the
fair value of consideration transferred. Tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the date of acquisition
are recorded at the acquisition date fair value. Goodwill is recognized for the excess of purchase price over the net fair value of assets acquired
and liabilities assumed.
Amounts allocated to assets and liabilities are based upon fair values. Such valuations require management to make significant estimates
and assumptions, especially with respect to the identifiable intangible assets. Management makes estimates of fair value based upon assumptions
believed to be reasonable and that of a market participant. These estimates are based on historical experience and information obtained from the
management of the acquired companies and are inherently uncertain. The separately identifiable intangible assets generally include developed
technology, customer relationships and tradenames. We estimate the fair value of deferred revenue related to product support assumed in
connection with acquisitions. The estimated fair value of deferred revenue is determined by estimating the costs related to fulfilling the
obligations plus a normal profit margin. The estimated costs to fulfill the support contracts are based on the historical direct costs related to
providing the support.
For any given acquisition, we may identify certain pre-acquisition contingencies. We estimate the fair value of such contingencies, which
are included under the acquisition method as part of the assets acquired or liabilities assumed, as appropriate. Differences from these estimates
are recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Income in the period in which they are identified.
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Goodwill and intangible assets
Goodwill. Our methodology for allocating the purchase price relating to acquisitions is determined through established valuation
techniques. Goodwill is measured as the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the sum of the amounts assigned to tangible and identifiable
intangible assets acquired less liabilities assumed. We review goodwill for impairment on an annual basis during the fourth quarter of the fiscal
year and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of goodwill may be impaired. In testing for a potential
impairment of goodwill, we determine the carrying value (book value) of the assets and liabilities for each reporting unit, which requires the
allocation of goodwill to each reporting unit. We then estimate the fair value of each reporting unit, which are the same as our operating
segments. The first step in evaluating goodwill for impairment is to determine if the estimated fair value of equity is greater than the carrying
value of equity of each reporting unit. If step one indicates that impairment potentially exists or if a reporting unit has a zero or negative carrying
value, the second step is performed to measure the amount of impairment, if any. Goodwill impairment exists when the estimated fair value of
goodwill is less than its carrying value.
To determine the reporting units’ fair values in the current year analysis, we used the income approach which is based on the estimated
discounted future cash flows of that reporting unit. The estimated fair value of each reporting unit under the income approach is corroborated
with the market approach which measures the value of a business through an analysis of recent sales or offerings of a comparable entity. We also
consider our market capitalization on the date of the analysis. The methodology applied in the current year analysis was consistent with the
methodology applied in the prior year analysis, but was based on updated assumptions, as appropriate.
Our cash flow assumptions are based on historical and forecasted revenue, operating costs and other relevant factors. To determine the
reporting units’ carrying values, we allocated assets and liabilities based on either specific identification or by using judgment for the remaining
assets and liabilities that are not specific to a reporting unit. Goodwill was allocated to the reporting units based on a combination of specific
identification and relative fair values, which is consistent with the methodology utilized in the prior year impairment analysis. The use of relative
fair values was necessary for certain reporting units due to impairment charges and changes in our operating structure in prior years.
Prior to performing our second step in the goodwill impairment analysis, we perform an assessment of long-lived assets, including
intangible assets, for impairment. We apply a fair value based impairment test to the carrying value of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible
assets on an annual basis in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year or earlier if indicators of impairment exist.
Intangible assets. In connection with our acquisitions, we generally recognize assets for customer relationships, developed technology
(which consists of acquired product rights, technologies, databases, and contracts), in-process research and development, trademarks and
tradenames. Indefinite-lived intangible assets are not subject to amortization. Finite-lived intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated
amortization. Such amortization is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets, generally from one to
eleven years. Amortization for developed technology is recognized in Cost of revenue as Amortization of acquired product rights. Amortization
for customer relationships and certain tradenames is recognized in Operating expenses.
On an interim basis, we assess the impairment of identifiable intangible assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
an asset group’s carrying amount may not be recoverable. Recoverability of certain finite-lived intangible assets, particularly customer
relationships and finite-lived tradenames, would be measured
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by the comparison of the carrying amount of the asset group to which the assets are assigned to the sum of the undiscounted estimated future
cash flows the asset group is expected to generate. If the asset is considered to be impaired, such amount would be measured as the difference
between the carrying amount of the asset and its fair value. Recoverability and impairment of other finite-lived intangible assets, particularly
developed technology and patents, would be measured by the comparison of the carrying amount of the asset to the sum of undiscounted
estimated future product revenues offset by estimated future costs to dispose of the product. In addition, for indefinite-lived intangible assets, we
review such assets for impairment on an annual basis consistent with the timing of the annual evaluation for goodwill. These assets generally
include tradenames, trademarks and in-process research and development. Recoverability of infinite-lived intangible assets would be measured
by the comparison of the carrying amount of the asset to the sum of the discounted estimated future cash flows the asset is expected to generate.
If the asset is considered to be impaired, such amount would be measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and its fair
value. Our cash flow assumptions are based on historical and future revenue, operating costs, and other relevant factors. Assumptions and
estimates about the remaining useful lives of our intangible assets are subjective and are affected by changes to our business strategies. These
estimates may be subject to change.
Income taxes
The provision for income taxes is computed using the asset and liability method, under which deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and
liabilities, and for operating loss and tax credit carryforwards in each jurisdiction in which we operate. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using the currently enacted tax rates that apply to taxable income in effect for the years in which those tax assets are expected to be
realized or settled. We record a valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that is believed more likely than not to be
realized.
We are required to compute our income taxes in each federal, state, and international jurisdiction in which we operate. This process
requires that we estimate the current tax exposure as well as assess temporary differences between the accounting and tax treatment of assets and
liabilities, including items such as accruals and allowances not currently deductible for tax purposes. The income tax effects of the differences
we identify are classified as current or long-term deferred tax assets and liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Our judgments,
assumptions, and estimates relative to the current provision for income tax take into account current tax laws, our interpretation of current tax
laws, and possible outcomes of current and future audits conducted by foreign and domestic tax authorities. Changes in tax laws or our
interpretation of tax laws and the resolution of current and future tax audits could significantly impact the amounts provided for income taxes in
our Consolidated Balance Sheets and Consolidated Statements of Income. We must also assess the likelihood that deferred tax assets will be
realized from future taxable income and, based on this assessment, establish a valuation allowance, if required. Our determination of our
valuation allowance is based upon a number of assumptions, judgments, and estimates, including forecasted earnings, future taxable income, and
the relative proportions of revenue and income before taxes in the various domestic and international jurisdictions in which we operate. To the
extent we establish a valuation allowance or change the valuation allowance in a period, we reflect the change with a corresponding increase or
decrease to our tax provision in our Consolidated Statements of Income.
We apply the authoritative guidance on income taxes that prescribes a minimum recognition threshold a tax position is required to meet
before being recognized in the financial statements. It also provides guidance on derecognition, measurement, classification, interest and
penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition.
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This guidance prescribes a two-step process to determine the amount of tax benefit to be recognized. The first step is to evaluate the tax
position for recognition by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the position will be
sustained on audit, including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. The second step requires us to estimate and measure the
tax benefit as the largest amount that is more than 50% likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement. It is inherently difficult and subjective to
estimate such amounts, as this requires us to determine the probability of various possible outcomes. We reevaluate these uncertain tax positions
on a quarterly basis. This evaluation is based on factors including, but not limited to, changes in facts or circumstances, changes in tax law,
effectively settled issues under audit, and new audit activity. Such a change in recognition or measurement would result in the recognition of a
tax benefit or an additional charge to the tax provision in the period.
Stock-based compensation
Stock-based compensation is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense ratably on a
straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period of the respective award. No compensation cost is
ultimately recognized for awards for which employees do not render the requisite service and are forfeited.
Fair value of stock-based awards. We have four types of stock-based awards: stock options, restricted stock units, restricted stock
awards, and performance-based restricted stock units.
• Stock options . We use the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to determine the fair value of stock options. The determination of the
grant date fair value of options using an option-pricing model is affected by our stock price as well as assumptions regarding a number
of complex and subjective variables. These variables include our expected stock price volatility over the expected life of the awards,
actual and projected employee stock option exercise and cancellation behaviors, risk-free interest rates and expected dividends. We
estimate the expected life of options granted based on an analysis of our historical experience of employee exercise and post-vesting
termination behavior considered in relation to the contractual life of the option. Expected volatility is based on the average of historical
volatility for the period commensurate with the expected life of the option and the implied volatility of traded options. The risk free
interest rate is equal to the U.S. Treasury constant maturity rates for the period equal to the expected life. We do not currently pay cash
dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate doing so in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, our expected dividend yield is
zero.
• Restricted stock units and restricted stock awards. The fair value of each Restricted Stock Unit (“RSU”) and Restricted Stock Award
(“RSA”) is equal to the market value of Symantec’s common stock on the date of grant.
• Performance-based restricted stock unit. We use the Monte Carlo simulation model to determine the fair value of each performancebased restricted stock unit (“PRU”). The determination of the grant date fair value of PRUs using a simulation model is affected by our
stock price as well as assumptions regarding a number of complex and subjective variables. These variables include our expected stock
price volatility over the expected life of the awards, risk-free interest rates and expected dividends. Expected volatility is based on the
average of historical volatility for the period commensurate with the expected life of the PRUs. The risk free interest rate is equal to the
U.S. Treasury constant maturity rates for the period equal to the expected life. We do not currently pay cash dividends on our common
stock and do not anticipate doing so in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, our expected dividend yield is zero.
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Concentrations of credit risk
A significant portion of our revenue and net income is derived from international sales and independent agents and distributors.
Fluctuations of the U.S. dollar against foreign currencies, changes in local regulatory or economic conditions, piracy, or nonperformance by
independent agents or distributors could adversely affect operating results.
Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, short-term
investments, and trade accounts receivable. Our investment policy limits the amount of credit risk exposure to any one issuer and to any one
country. We are exposed to credit risks in the event of default by the issuers to the extent of the amount recorded in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets. The credit risk in our trade accounts receivable is substantially mitigated by our credit evaluation process, reasonably short collection
terms, and the geographical dispersion of sales transactions. We maintain reserves for potential credit losses and such losses have been within
management’s expectations. See Note 10 for details of significant customers.
Advertising costs
Advertising costs are charged to operations as incurred and include electronic and print advertising, trade shows, collateral production,
placement fees with hardware manufacturers, and all forms of direct marketing. Advertising costs included in Sales and marketing expense for
fiscal 2012, 2011, and 2010 were $667 million, $668 million, and $615 million, respectively.
Recently issued and adopted authoritative guidance
In May 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued an accounting standards update that provided guidance on
achieving a consistent definition of and common requirements for measurement and disclosure of fair values in U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”) and International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The guidance expanded disclosures relating to fair
value measurements that are estimated using significant unobservable (Level 3) inputs. The guidance also required categorization by level of the
fair value hierarchy for items that are not measured at fair value but for which fair value is required to be disclosed. We adopted this guidance in
the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements.
In June 2011, the FASB issued an accounting standards update that eliminates the option to report other comprehensive income and its
components in the statement of stockholders’ equity and requires that all non-owner changes in stockholders’ equity be presented in either a
single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements. In December 2011, the FASB issued
another accounting standards update that defers the requirement to present reclassification adjustments for each component of Accumulated
other comprehensive income (“AOCI”) in both Other comprehensive income and Net income on the face of the financial statements The
amended guidance will be adopted by us in the first quarter of fiscal 2013, on a retrospective basis, and will result only in changes in our
financial statement presentation.
In September 2011, the FASB issued an accounting standards update that permits entities to first assess qualitative factors to determine
whether it is more likely than not (a likelihood of more than 50%) that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount as a basis
for determining whether it is necessary to perform the two-step goodwill impairment test. This new guidance will be adopted by us in fiscal 2013
on a prospective basis, and will be applied in our fourth quarter of fiscal 2013 at the time we perform our annual goodwill test. We do not expect
that this guidance will materially impact our Consolidated Financial Statements.
77

Table of Contents
SYMANTEC CORPORATION
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)
In December 2011, the FASB issued an accounting standards update that will require us to disclose information about offsetting and
related arrangements associated with certain financial and derivative instruments to enable users of our financial statements to better understand
the effect of those arrangements on our financial position. The new guidance will be applicable to us on a retrospective basis in the first quarter
of fiscal 2014. We do not expect that this guidance will materially impact our disclosures included in our Consolidated Financial Statements.
Note 2.

Fair Value Measurements

For assets and liabilities measured at fair value such amounts are based on an expected exit price, representing the amount that would be
received on the sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability, as the case may be, in an orderly transaction between market participants. As such,
fair value may be based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. The authoritative guidance on fair
value measurements establishes a consistent framework for measuring fair value on either a recurring or nonrecurring basis whereby inputs, used
in valuation techniques, are assigned a hierarchical level. The following are the hierarchical levels of inputs to measure fair value:
• Level 1:

Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

• Level 2: Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in markets that are not active; quoted prices for
similar assets or liabilities in active markets; inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the assets or liabilities; or inputs that
are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means.
• Level 3: Unobservable inputs reflecting our own assumptions incorporated in valuation techniques used to determine fair value.
These assumptions are required to be consistent with market participant assumptions that are reasonably available.
Assets measured and recorded at fair value on a recurring basis
There have been no transfers between fair value measurement levels during fiscal 2012. The following table summarizes our assets
measured at fair value on a recurring basis, by level, within the fair value hierarchy:
As of March 30, 2012
As of April 1, 2011
Level 1
Level 2
Total
Level 1
Level 2
Total
(In millions)

Cash Equivalents (1)
(1)

$1,483

$ —

$1,483

$1,866

$ —

Cash equivalents are money market funds which are valued based on quoted market prices of the identical underlying security.
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Assets and liabilities measured and recorded at fair value on a nonrecurring basis
Goodwill. In fiscal 2012, we recorded an impairment of $19 million as a cumulative-effect adjustment in Accumulated deficit, related to an
implied fair value measurement made for our Services reporting unit upon the adoption of a new accounting standard. The valuation technique
used to estimate the implied fair value of goodwill was an income approach which relied upon Level 3 inputs, which included estimated future
cash flows or profit streams.
Indefinite-lived intangible assets. In fiscal years 2012 and 2011, we recorded impairment charges of $4 million and $27 million,
respectively, which reduced the gross carrying value of indefinite-lived tradenames. The fair value amounts were derived using an income
approach which required Level 3 inputs such as estimated future cash flows on profit streams. These impairment charges were due to reductions
in expected future cash flows for certain indefinite-lived tradenames related to the Security and Compliance segment and the Consumer segment,
respectively. These impairment charges were recorded within Impairment of intangible assets on the Consolidated Statements of Income.
Debt. In fiscal 2011, we repurchased $500 million of aggregate principal amount of our 0.75% convertible senior notes, which had a net
book value of $481 million. Concurrently with the repurchase, we sold a proportionate share of the initial note hedges back to the note hedge
counterparties for approximately $13 million. These transactions resulted in a loss from extinguishment of debt of approximately $16 million,
which represented the difference between book value of the notes net of the remaining unamortized discount prior to repurchase and the fair
value of the liability component of the notes upon repurchase. The fair value of the liability component was calculated to be $497 million upon
repurchase using Level 2 inputs based on market prices for similar convertible debt instruments and resulting yields.
Note 3.

Acquisitions

Fiscal 2012 acquisitions
Clearwell Systems Inc.
On June 24, 2011, we completed the acquisition of Clearwell Systems Inc. (“Clearwell”), a privately-held provider of eDiscovery
solutions. In exchange for all of the voting equity interests of Clearwell, we transferred a total consideration of $392 million, which consists of
$364 million in cash, net of $20 million cash acquired, and $8 million of assumed stock options. The objective of the acquisition was to enhance
our eDiscovery, archiving and backup offerings to our customers. The results of operations of Clearwell are included since the date of
acquisition as part of the Storage and Server Management segment. Supplemental pro forma information for Clearwell was not material to our
financial results and therefore not included.
The following table presents the purchase price allocation included in our Consolidated Balance Sheets ( in millions ):
Net tangible assets (1)
Intangible assets (2)
Goodwill (3)
Net tax liabilities
Total purchase price
(1)

$ 33
154
268
(63)
$392

Net tangible assets included deferred revenue which was adjusted down from $13 million to $3 million, representing our estimate of the
fair value of the contractual obligation assumed for support services.
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(2)

Intangible assets included customer relationships, developed technology, and tradenames of $82 million, $60 million, and $12 million,
respectively, which are amortized over their estimated useful lives of seven to nine years.

(3)

Goodwill is not tax deductible. The amount resulted primarily from our expectation of synergies from the integration of Clearwell product
offerings with our existing product offerings.
Other Fiscal 2012 acquisitions

During fiscal 2012, in addition to Clearwell, we completed the acquisitions of LiveOffice LLC (“LiveOffice”) and another nonpublic
company for an aggregate purchase price of $151 million, which consisted of $144 million in cash, net of $7 million cash acquired. The results
of operations for the acquired companies have been included in the Storage and Server Management segment and the Security and Compliance
segment since their respective acquisition dates. Supplemental pro forma information for these acquisitions was not material to our financial
results and therefore not included. For fiscal 2012, we recorded acquisition-related transaction costs of $2 million, which were included in
general and administrative expense.
The following table presents the purchase price allocation included in our Consolidated Balance Sheets ( in millions ):
Acquisition date
Net tangible (liabilities) assets (1)
Intangible assets (2)
Goodwill (3)
Total purchase price

LiveOffice

Other

Total

January 13, 2012
$
(5)
51
69
$
115

March 2, 2012
$
2
8
26
$
36

$ (3)
59
95
$151

(1)

Net tangible (liabilities) assets included deferred revenue, which was adjusted down from $12 million to $6 million, representing our
estimate of the fair value of the contractual obligation assumed for support services.

(2)

Intangible assets included primarily developed technology of $44 million and customer relationships of $15 million, which are amortized
over their estimated useful lives of four to ten years. The weighted-average estimated useful lives were 4.8 years for developed technology
and 9.9 years for customer relationships.

(3)

Goodwill is partially tax deductible. The goodwill amount resulted primarily from our expectation of synergies from the integration of the
acquisitions’ product offerings with our existing product offerings.

Fiscal 2011 acquisitions
Identity and Authentication Business of VeriSign, Inc.
On August 9, 2010, we completed the acquisition of the identity and authentication business of VeriSign, which included a controlling
interest in VeriSign Japan and equity interests in certain other subsidiary entities. In exchange for the assets and liabilities of the acquired
business, we paid a total purchase price of $1.29 billion, which consisted of $1.16 billion in cash, net of $128 million cash acquired, and working
capital adjustments of $3 million. No equity interests were issued. The results of operations of the identity and authentication business of
VeriSign are included since the date of acquisition as part of the Security and Compliance segment. Supplemental pro forma information for
VeriSign was not material to our financial results and therefore not included. For fiscal 2011, we recorded acquisition-related transaction costs of
$11 million, which were included in general and administrative expense.
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The following table presents the purchase price allocation included in our Consolidated Balance Sheets ( in millions ):
Net tangible assets (1)
Intangible assets (2)
Goodwill (3)
Net tax liabilities
Noncontrolling interest in VeriSign Japan (4)
Total purchase price

$ 178
628
602
(38)
(85)
$1,285

(1)

Net tangible assets included deferred revenue, which was adjusted down from $286 million to $68 million, representing our estimate of the
fair value of the contractual obligation assumed for the support of the authentication business.

(2)

Intangible assets included customer relationships of $226 million, developed technology of $123 million and tradenames of $5 million,
which are amortized over their estimated useful lives of 18 months to nine years. The weighted-average estimated useful lives were 8.0
years for customer relationships and 9.0 years for developed technology. Intangible assets also included indefinite-lived tradenames and
trademarks of $274 million.

(3)

Goodwill is partially tax deductible. The goodwill amount resulted primarily from our expectation of synergies from the integration of
VeriSign product offerings with our existing product offerings.

(4)

The fair value of the noncontrolling interest was calculated on a market basis using the closing stock price of VeriSign Japan on the date of
acquisition.
PGP Corporation

On June 4, 2010, we completed the acquisition of PGP Corporation (“PGP”), a nonpublic provider of email and data encryption software.
In exchange for all of the voting equity interests of PGP, we paid a total purchase price of $306 million, which consisted of $299 million in cash,
net of $7 million cash acquired. The results of operations of PGP are included since the date of acquisition as part of the Security and
Compliance segment. Supplemental pro forma information for PGP was not material to our financial results and therefore not included. For
fiscal 2011, we recorded acquisition-related transaction costs of $1 million, which were included in general and administrative expense.
The following table presents the purchase price allocation included in our Consolidated Balance Sheets ( in millions ):
Net tangible assets (1)
Intangible assets (2)
Goodwill (3)
Total purchase price

$

7
74
225
$306

(1)

Net tangible assets included deferred revenue, which was adjusted down from $55 million to $9 million, representing our estimate of the
fair value of the contractual obligation assumed for support services.

(2)

Intangible assets included customer relationships of $29 million, developed technology of $39 million, and definite-lived tradenames of $3
million, which are amortized over their estimated useful lives of two to eight
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years. The weighted-average estimated useful lives were 8.0 years for customer relationships, 5.0 years for developed technology, and 2.0
years for definite-lived tradenames. Intangible assets also included indefinite-lived in-process research and development (“IPR&D”) of $3
million.
(3)

Goodwill is not tax deductible. The goodwill amount resulted primarily from our expectation of synergies from the integration of PGP
product offerings with our existing product offerings.
Other Fiscal 2011 acquisitions

During fiscal 2011, in addition to VeriSign and PGP, we completed the acquisitions of GuardianEdge Technologies, Inc.
(“GuardianEdge”) and two other businesses for an aggregate purchase price of $91 million, which consisted of $81 million in cash, net of $9
million cash acquired, and $1 million in assumed equity awards at fair value. The results of operations for the acquired companies have been
included in the Security and Compliance segment since their respective acquisition dates. Supplemental pro forma information for these
acquisitions was not material to our financial results and therefore not included. For fiscal 2011, we recorded acquisition-related transaction costs
of $2 million, which were included in general and administrative expense.
The following table presents the purchase price allocation included in our Consolidated Balance Sheets ( in millions ):
Acquisition date
Net tangible assets (1)
Intangible assets (2)
Goodwill (3)
Total purchase price

GuardianEdge

Others

Total

June 3, 2010
$
3
30
40
$
73

Various
$
—
6
12
$
18

$ 3
36
52
$ 91

(1)

Net tangible assets included deferred revenue, which was adjusted down from $17 million to $2 million, representing our estimate of the
fair value of the contractual obligation assumed for support services.

(2)

Intangible assets included customer relationships of $24 million and developed technology of $12 million, which are amortized over their
estimated useful lives of three to nine years. The weighted-average estimated useful lives were 9.0 years for customer relationships and 5.0
years for developed technology.

(3)

Goodwill is partially tax deductible. The goodwill amount resulted primarily from our expectation of synergies from the integration of the
acquisitions’ product offerings with our existing product offerings.
Fiscal 2010 acquisitions

During fiscal 2010, we completed two acquisitions of nonpublic companies for an aggregate of $42 million in cash. No equity interests
were issued. We recorded goodwill in connection with each of these acquisitions, which resulted primarily from our expectation of synergies
from the integration of the acquired companies’ technology with our technology. The goodwill for these acquisitions is only partially tax
deductible, if at all. The results of operations for the acquired companies have been included in our results of operations since their respective
acquisition dates. These acquisitions are included in our Security and Compliance segment.
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The following table presents the purchase price allocation included in our Consolidated Balance Sheets ( in millions ):
Acquisition date
Intangible assets (1)
Goodwill
Total purchase price
(1)

Various
18
24
$
42
$

Intangible assets included customer relationships of $13 million and developed technology of $5 million, which are amortized over their
estimated useful lives of four to 11 years. The weighted-average estimated useful lives were 10.0 years for customer relationships and
4.0 years for developed technology.

Note 4.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill are as follows:
Security and

Net balance as of April 2, 2010 (1)
Goodwill acquired through acquisitions (2)
Goodwill adjustments (3)
Net balance as of April 1, 2011 (4)
Goodwill impairment (5)
Goodwill acquired through acquisitions (2)
Goodwill adjustments (3)
Net balance as of March 30, 2012 (6)

Consumer

Compliance

$

$

$

$

356
—
7
363
—
—
(8)
355

$

$

1,582
880
2
2,464
—
26
(4)
2,486

Storage and
Server
Management
(In millions)

$

$

$

2,648
—
—
2,648
—
337
—
2,985

Services

$

19
—
—
$ 19
(19)
—
—
$ —

Total

$4,605
880
9
$5,494
(19)
363
(12)
$5,826

(1)

Gross goodwill balances for the Consumer, Security and Compliance, Storage and Server Management, and Services were $356 million,
$4.0 billion, $7.2 billion, and $461 million, respectively as of April 2, 2010. Accumulated impairments for the Consumer, Security and
Compliance, Storage and Server Management, and Services were $0, $2.4 billion, $4.6 billion, and $442 million, respectively as of April 2,
2010. These balances are reflective of amounts after adjustment for segment reclassifications during the period.

(2)

See Note 3 for acquisitions completed in fiscal 2012 and 2011.

(3)

Adjustments made to goodwill primarily reflect foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations.

(4)

Gross goodwill balances for the Consumer, Security and Compliance, Storage and Server Management, and Services were $363 million,
$4.9 billion, $7.2 billion, and $461 million, respectively as of April 1, 2011. Accumulated impairments for the Consumer, Security and
Compliance, Storage and Server Management, and Services were $0, $2.4 billion, $4.6 billion, and $442 million, respectively as of April 1,
2011.

(5)

Due to the adoption of new authoritative guidance at the beginning of fiscal 2012, we were required to perform a goodwill Step 2
impairment test for our Services reporting unit. As a result, we recognized an impairment loss of $19 million which was recorded to
beginning Accumulated deficit as a cumulative-effect adjustment.
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(6)

Gross goodwill balances for the Consumer, Security and Compliance, Storage and Server Management, and Services were $355 million,
$4.9 billion, $7.6 billion, and $461 million, respectively as of March 30, 2012. Accumulated impairments for the Consumer, Security and
Compliance, Storage and Server Management, and Services were $0, $2.4 billion, $4.6 billion, and $461 million, respectively as of
March 30, 2012.
Intangible assets, net

Customer relationships
Developed technology
Finite-lived tradenames
Patents
Indefinite-lived tradenames (1)
Indefinite-lived IPR&D
Total
(1)

Gross
Carrying

As of March 30, 2012
Net
Accumulated
Carrying

Amount

Amortization

Amount

$ 2,219
1,914
146
75
297
—
$ 4,651

$

$ 720
260
50
10
297
—
$ 1,337

$

(1,499)
(1,654)
(96)
(65)
—
—
(3,314)

WeightedGross
Average
Carrying
Remaining
Useful Life
Amount
($ in millions)

3 years
4 years
3 years
6 years
Indefinite
Indefinite
3 years

$ 2,121
1,810
136
75
302
3
$ 4,447

As of April 1, 2011
Net
Accumulated
Carrying
Amortization

Amount

WeightedAverage
Remaining
Useful Life

$

$ 894
243
56
13
302
3
$ 1,511

3 years
4 years
4 years
2 years
Indefinite
Indefinite
3 years

$

(1,227)
(1,567)
(80)
(62)
—
—
(2,936)

During fiscal 2012 and 2011, we recorded impairments of $4 million and $27 million, respectively, which reduced the gross carrying value
of indefinite-lived tradenames. These impairment charges were due to reductions in expected future cash flows for certain indefinite-lived
tradenames related to the Consumer segment. These impairment charges were recorded within Impairment of intangible assets on the
Consolidated Statements of Income.
Amortization expense was $380 million, $385 million, and $481 million in fiscal 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively.

Total future amortization expense for intangible assets that have finite lives, based on our existing intangible assets and their current
estimated useful lives as of March 30, 2012, is estimated as follows (in millions) :
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
Thereafter
Total

$ 356
211
157
106
88
122
$1,040
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Note 5.

Investment in Joint Venture

On February 5, 2008, Symantec formed Huawei-Symantec Technologies Co., Ltd. (“joint venture”) with a subsidiary of Huawei
Technologies Co., Limited (“Huawei”). The joint venture was domiciled in Hong Kong with principal operations in Chengdu, China. We had an
ownership interest of 49% which was accounted for under the equity method of accounting. As of March 30, 2012, our equity investment was
zero. As such, we did not provide for additional losses as we have no commitments to provide financial support to the joint venture.
On March 30, 2012, we sold our 49% ownership interest in the joint venture to Huawei for $ 530 million in cash. The gain of $530 million,
offset by costs to sell the joint venture of $4 million, is included in “Gain from sale of joint venture” reflected in our Consolidated Statements of
Income.
Note 6.

Long-Term Debt

The following table summarizes components of our long-term debt:

Face Value

4.20% Senior Notes, due September 2020 (“4.20% notes”)
2.75% Senior Notes, due September 2015 (“2.75% notes”)
1.00% Convertible Senior Notes, due June 2013 (“1.00% notes”)

$

750
350
1,000

Face Value

4.20% notes
2.75% notes
1.00% notes
0.75% Convertible Senior Notes, due June 2011 (“0.75% notes”)

$

750
350
1,000
600

As of March 30, 2012
Effective
interest rate
(In millions)

4.25%
2.76%
6.78% (1)
As of April 1, 2011
Effective
interest rate
(In millions)

4.25%
2.76%
6.78% (1)
6.78% (1)

Fair Value (2)

$

771
363
1,115

Fair Value (2)

$

706
340
1,208
618

(1)

Represents the interest rate on our debt for accounting purposes while taking into account the effects of amortization of debt discount.
Although the effective interest rates of the 1.00% notes and 0.75% notes were 6.78%, we are making cash interest payments at the stated
coupon rates of 1.00% and 0.75%, respectively.

(2)

The fair value of long-term debt relies on Level 2 inputs. See Note 2 for definition of Level 2 inputs. For convertible senior notes, the fair
value represents that of the liability component. See Note 1 for our accounting policy of estimating the fair value of our long-term debt.
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As of March 30, 2012, future maturities of long-term debt are as follows (in millions) :
2013
2014
2015
2016
Thereafter
Total

$

—
1,000
—
350
750
$2,100

Senior Notes
We issued the 4.20% notes and 2.75% notes in September 2010. These are senior unsecured obligations that rank equally in right of
payment with all of our existing and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations and are redeemable by us at any time, subject to a “makewhole” premium. Our proceeds from the issuance of the senior notes were $1.1 billion, net of an issuance discount. Interest on these notes is
payable semiannually. Contractual interest expense was $41 million and $22 million in fiscal 2012 and 2011, respectively.
Convertible Senior Notes
We issued the 1.00% notes and 0.75% notes in June 2006. In September 2010, we repurchased $500 million of aggregate principal amount
of our 0.75% convertible senior notes in privately negotiated transactions for approximately $510 million. Concurrently with the repurchase, we
sold a proportionate share of the note hedges that we entered into at the time of the issuance of the convertible senior notes back to the note
hedge counterparties for approximately $13 million. The net cost of the repurchase and the concurrent sale of the note hedges was $497 million
in cash. On June 15, 2011, the remaining principal balance on our 0.75% convertible senior notes matured and was settled by a cash payment of
$600 million. Concurrent with the maturity, the remaining related note hedges and warrants expired. No portion of it was converted into our
common shares upon maturity.
As of March 30, 2012, the remaining amortization period of the discount and debt issuance costs associated with the 1.00% notes is
approximately one year and the “if-converted” value of the 1.00% notes does not exceed the principal amount. Contractual interest expense was
$11 million, $16 million, and $18 million in fiscal 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively. Amortization of the debt discount was $56 million, $96
million, and $104 million in fiscal 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively. Interest on these notes is payable semiannually.
The following table summarizes information regarding the equity and liability components of the convertible senior notes:
As of
March 30,
April 1,
2011

2012
(In millions)

Principal amount
Equity component
Liability component
Unamortized discount

$ 1,000
313
941
59
86

$1,600
462
1,485
115
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Conversion features. Each $1,000 of principal of the 1.00% notes will initially be convertible into 52.2951 shares of our common stock,
which is the equivalent of $19.12 per share, subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of specified events. Holders of the 1.00% notes may
convert their 1.00% notes prior to maturity during specified periods as follows: (1) during any calendar quarter, if the closing price of our
common stock for at least 20 trading days in the 30 consecutive trading days ending on the last trading day of the immediately preceding
calendar quarter is more than 130% of the applicable conversion price per share; (2) if specified corporate transactions, including a change in
control, occur; (3) at any time on or after April 5, 2013; or (4) during the five business-day period after any five consecutive trading-day period
during which the trading price of the 1.00% notes falls below a certain threshold. Upon conversion, we would pay the holder the cash value of
the applicable number of shares of our common stock, up to the principal amount of the note. Amounts in excess of the principal amount, if any,
may be paid in cash or in stock at our option. Holders who convert their 1.00% notes in connection with a change in control may be entitled to a
“make whole” premium in the form of an increase in the conversion rate. As of March 30, 2012, none of the conditions allowing holders of the
1.00% notes to convert had been met. In addition, upon a change in control of Symantec, the holders of the 1.00% notes may require us to
repurchase for cash all or any portion of their 1.00% notes for the principal amount.
Concurrently with the issuance of the 1.00% notes, we entered into note hedge transactions with affiliates of certain initial purchasers
whereby we have the option to purchase up to 52 million shares of our common stock at a price of $19.12 per share. The outstanding options for
52 million shares will expire on June 15, 2013. The options must be settled in the same manner as we settle the 1.00% notes (cash or net shares).
In addition, we have previously issued warrants to affiliates of certain initial purchasers whereby they have the option to purchase up to
52 million shares of our common stock at a price of $27.3175 per share. The warrants expire on various dates through August 2013 and must be
settled in net shares.
Effect of conversion on earning per share (“EPS”). The 1.00% notes will have no impact on diluted EPS until the price of our common
stock exceeds the conversion price of $19.12 per share because the principal amount of the 1.00% notes will be settled in cash upon conversion.
Prior to conversion, we will include the effect of the additional shares that may be issued if our common stock price exceeds $19.12 per share
using the treasury stock method. As a result, for the first $1.00 by which the average price of our common stock for a quarterly period exceeds
$19.12 per share there would be dilution of approximately 2.6 million shares. As the share price continues to increase, additional dilution would
occur at a declining rate such that an average price of $27.3175 per share would yield cumulative dilution of approximately 15.7 million shares.
If the average price of our common stock exceeds $27.3175 per share for a quarterly period we will also include the effect of the additional
potential shares that may be issued related to the warrants using the treasury stock method. The 1.00% notes along with the warrants has a
combined dilutive effect such that for the first $1.00 by which the average price exceeds $27.3175 per share there would be cumulative dilution
of approximately 18.8 million shares prior to conversion. As the share price continues to increase, additional dilution would occur but at a
declining rate.
Prior to conversion, the note hedge transactions are not considered for purposes of the EPS calculation, as their effect would be antidilutive. Upon conversion, the note hedge will automatically serve to neutralize the dilutive effect of the 1.00% notes when the stock price is
above $19.12 per share. For example, if upon conversion the price of our common stock was $28.3175 per share, the cumulative effect of
approximately 18.8 million shares in the example above would be reduced to approximately 1.8 million shares. The preceding calculations
assume that the average price of our common stock exceeds the respective conversion prices during the period for which EPS is calculated and
excludes any potential adjustments to the conversion ratio provided under the terms of the 1.00% notes.
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Revolving credit facility
In fiscal 2011, we entered into a four-year $1.0 billion senior unsecured revolving credit facility (“credit facility”) that expires on
September 8, 2014. The credit facility provides that we may borrow up to $1.0 billion under revolving loans. Revolving loans under the credit
facility bear interest, at our option, either at a rate equal to a) LIBOR plus a margin based on our consolidated leverage ratio, as defined in the
credit facility agreement or b) the bank’s prime rate plus a margin based on our consolidated leverage ratio, as defined in the credit facility
agreement. Under the terms of this credit facility, we must comply with certain financial and non-financial covenants, including a covenant to
maintain a specified ratio of debt to EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization). As of March 30, 2012, we were in
compliance with all required covenants, and no amounts were outstanding.
Note 7.

Restructuring and Transition

Our restructuring and transition costs and liabilities consist primarily of severance, facilities costs, and transition and other related costs.
Severance generally includes severance payments, outplacement services, health insurance coverage, effects of foreign currency exchange, and
legal costs. Facilities costs generally include rent expense and lease termination costs, less estimated sublease income. Transition and other
related costs consist of severance costs associated with acquisition integrations in efforts to streamline our business operations, consulting
charges associated with the planning and design phase of implementing a new enterprise resource planning system, and costs related to the
outsourcing of certain back office functions. Restructuring and transition costs are included in the Other segment.
Restructuring plans
The following restructuring plans are substantially complete:
• Fiscal 2011 plan. In the first quarter of fiscal 2011, management approved and initiated a plan to expand our consulting partner sales
and delivery capabilities. This action was initiated to expand our partner eco-system to better leverage their customer reach and
operational scale, which resulted in a headcount reduction within our consulting services organization.
• Fiscal 2010 plan. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, management approved and initiated a plan to reduce worldwide operating costs
through workforce realignment and to reduce operating costs through a facilities consolidation. These actions were initiated to
appropriately allocate resources to our key strategic initiatives and streamline our operations to deliver better and more efficient support
to our customers and employees. During fiscal 2011, we terminated certain operating leases and consolidated facilities in North America
and Europe. Excess facility obligations are expected to be paid over the respective lease terms, the longest of which extends through
fiscal 2016.
Other exit and disposal costs
Our other exit and disposal costs consist primarily of costs associated with closing or consolidating certain facilities that are not accounted
for under the restructuring plans above. Largely as a result of business acquisitions, management may deem certain leased facilities to be in
excess and make a plan to exit them either at the time of acquisition or after the acquisition in conjunction with our efforts to integrate and
streamline our operations. As of March 30, 2012, liabilities for these excess facility obligations at several locations around the world are
expected to be paid over the respective lease terms, the longest of which extends through fiscal 2018.
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Restructuring and transition summary
Cumulative
Costs, Net of
April 1,

March 30,
Adjustments
(1)

2011

Restructuring liabilities:
Severance
Facilities
Total
Other exit and disposal costs
Total restructuring liabilities
Transition and other related costs
Total restructuring and
transition
Balance Sheet:
Other current liabilities
Other long-term obligations
Total restructuring liabilities
(1)

$

3
10
13
13
$ 26

$

$

$
$ 14
12
$ 26

3
1
4
7
11
45

Cash
Payments
(In millions)

$

$

(5)
(5)
(10)
(11)
(21)

Incurred to

2012

$

$

1
6
7
9
16

Date

$

73
20
93

56
$
$

8
8
16

Total net adjustments were not material for fiscal 2012. Adjustments primarily relate to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations.
Included in transition and other related costs is $26 million of severance costs and $19 million of costs associated with the planning and
design phase of implementing a new enterprise resource planning system.

Note 8.

Commitments and Contingencies

Lease commitments
We lease certain of our facilities and related equipment under operating leases that expire at various dates beyond fiscal 2018. We currently
sublease some space under various operating leases that will expire on various dates through fiscal 2018. Some of our leases contain renewal
options, escalation clauses, rent concessions, and leasehold improvement incentives. Rent expense was $111 million for fiscal 2012 of which $89
million was recorded in General and administrative expenses and $22 million was recorded in Cost of revenue. Rent expense was $110 million
for fiscal 2011 of which $89 million was recorded in General and administrative expenses and $21 million was recorded in Cost of revenue. Rent
expense was $106 million for fiscal 2010 of which $88 million was recorded in General and administrative expenses and $18 million was
recorded in Cost of revenue.
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The following is a schedule by years of minimum future rentals on noncancelable operating leases as of March 30, 2012 (in millions) :
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
Thereafter
Total minimum future lease payments
Less: sublease income
Total minimum future lease payments, net (1)
(1)

$118
91
66
47
38
125
$485
6
$479

The total minimum future lease payments, net includes $24 million related to restructuring activities.
Purchase obligations

We have purchase obligations of $473 million as of March 30, 2012 that are associated with agreements for purchases of goods or services.
Management believes that cancellation of these contracts is unlikely and we expect to make future cash payments according to the contract
terms.
The following is a schedule by years of our unrecognized purchase obligations as of March 30, 2012 (in millions) :
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
Thereafter
Total purchase obligations

$ 420
45
6
—
2
—
$ 473

Indemnification
As permitted under Delaware law, we have agreements whereby we indemnify our officers and directors for certain events or occurrences
while the officer or director is, or was, serving at our request in such capacity. The maximum potential amount of future payments we could be
required to make under these indemnification agreements is not limited; however, we have directors’ and officers’ insurance coverage that
reduces our exposure and may enable us to recover a portion of any future amounts paid. We believe the estimated fair value of these
indemnification agreements in excess of applicable insurance coverage is minimal.
We provide limited product warranties and the majority of our software license agreements contain provisions that indemnify licensees of
our software from damages and costs resulting from claims alleging that our software infringes the intellectual property rights of a third party.
Historically, payments made under these provisions have been immaterial. We monitor the conditions that are subject to indemnification to
identify if a loss has occurred.
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Litigation contingencies
For a discussion of our tax litigation with the Internal Revenue Service relating to the 2000 and 2001 tax years of Veritas, see Note 12.
We are also involved in a number of other judicial and administrative proceedings that are incidental to our business. Although adverse
decisions (or settlements) may occur in one or more of the cases, it is not possible to estimate the possible loss or losses from each of these cases.
The final resolution of these lawsuits, individually or in the aggregate, is not expected to have a material adverse effect on our business, results
of operations, financial condition, or cash flow.
Other
In January 2012, we became aware of claims made by a group of hackers, that it possessed, and intended to publicly expose, portions of
the source code for certain Symantec products. Following investigation of these claims, we believe that the group came into possession of the
code as a result of a theft of source code that occurred in 2006. We believe that source code for the 2006-era versions of the following products
was exposed: Norton Antivirus Corporate Edition; Norton Internet Security; Norton SystemWorks (Norton Utilities and Norton GoBack); and
pcAnywhere. We announced that customers of our pcAnywhere product may face an increased security risk as a result of this exposure. The
product, pcAnywhere, is also bundled with three Symantec products, Altiris Client Management Suite and Altiris IT Management Suite versions
7.0 or later, and Altiris Deployment Solution with Remote version 7.1. In addition, customers with earlier versions of Altiris suites may have
opted to leverage pcAnywhere. The increased risk is isolated to the pcAnywhere components only. Our pcAnywhere product accounted for less
than three tenths of a percent of our fiscal 2012 consolidated net revenue. We have completed our planned remediation of this issue.
Note 9.

Stock Repurchases

The following table summarizes our stock repurchases:
March 30, 2012

Total number of shares repurchased attributable to Symantec
Corporation
Dollar amount of shares repurchased attributable to Symantec
Corporation
Average price paid per share
Range of price paid per share

Year Ended
April 1, 2011
(In millions, except per share data)

April 2, 2010

51

57

34

$
893
$
17.62
$ 15.38 -$20.51

$
870
$
15.39
$ 12.07 -$18.46

$
553
$
16.39
$ 14.14 -$18.29

We have had stock repurchase programs in the past and have repurchased shares on a quarterly basis since the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004
under various programs. On January 25, 2012, we announced that our Board of Directors approved a new $1 billion stock repurchase program.
This program does not have an expiration date and as of March 30, 2012, $984 million was authorized for future repurchases.
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Note 10.

Segment Information

As of March 30, 2012, our five reportable segments are the same as our operating segments and are as follows:
• Consumer: Our Consumer segment focuses on delivering internet security for PC’s, tablets and mobile devices along with services
such as online backup, online family protection and remote help to individual users and home offices.
• Security and Compliance: Our Security and Compliance segment focuses on providing large, medium, and small-sized businesses
with solutions for endpoint security and management, compliance, messaging management, data loss prevention, encryption, managed
security services, and authentication services. These products allow our customers to secure, provision, and remotely manage their
laptops, PC’s, mobile devices, and servers. We also provide our customers with solutions delivered through our SaaS and appliance
security offerings.
• Storage and Server Management: Our Storage and Server Management segment focuses on providing large, medium, and small-sized
businesses with storage and server management, backup, archiving, eDiscovery, and data protection solutions across heterogeneous
storage and server platforms, as well as solutions delivered through our SaaS and appliance offerings.
• Services:
Our Services segment provides customers with implementation services and solutions designed to assist them in
maximizing the value of their Symantec software. Our offerings include consulting, business critical services, and education.
• Other: Our Other segment is comprised of sunset products and products nearing the end of their life cycle. It also includes general
and administrative expenses; amortization of intangible assets; impairment of goodwill, intangible assets, and other long-lived assets;
stock-based compensation; restructuring and transition expenses; and certain indirect costs that are not charged to the operating
segments described above, such as interest income and expense.
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The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in Note 1. There are no intersegment sales. Our chief operating
decision maker evaluates performance primarily based on net revenue. Except for goodwill, as disclosed in Note 4, the majority of our assets are
not discretely identified by segment. The depreciation and amortization of our property, equipment, and leasehold improvements are allocated
based on headcount, unless specifically identified by segment.
Security and

Fiscal 2012
Net revenue
Percentage of total net revenue
Operating income (loss)
Operating margin of segment
Depreciation and amortization expense
Fiscal 2011
Net revenue
Percentage of total net revenue
Operating income (loss)
Operating margin of segment
Depreciation and amortization expense
Fiscal 2010
Net revenue
Percentage of total net revenue
Operating income (loss)
Operating margin of segment
Depreciation and amortization expense

Consumer

Compliance

$ 2,104
31%
1,013
48%
40

$

$ 1,953
32%
899
46%
39

$

$ 1,871
31%
860
46%
29

$

Storage and
Server
Management
Services
($ in millions)

1,965
29%
442
22%
56

$

1,638
26%
260
16%
42

$

1,482
25%
401
27%
27

$

Other

2,410
36%
977
41%
30

$ 251
4%
39
16%
3

$

2,307
37%
1,063
46%
33

$ 292
5%
7
2%
4

$

2,287
38%
1,097
48%
41

$ 345
6%
12
3%
6

$

Total
Company

—
0%
(1,392)
*
583

$ 6,730
100%
1,079

—
0%
(1,349)
*
625

$ 6,190
100%
880

—
0%
(1,437)
*
732

$ 5,985
100%
933

712

743

835

* Percentage not meaningful.
During the first quarter of fiscal 2012, we modified our segment reporting structure to more readily match our operating structure. The
following modification was made to the segment reporting structure: managed security services revenue and expenses were moved to the
Security and Compliance segment from the Services segment. All historical periods have been adjusted to reflect this modified reporting
structure.
Product revenue information
The following table represents revenue by significant product categories:
March 30,
2012

Core consumer security
Backup
Storage and availability management
Endpoint security and management
Others (1)
Total product revenue
(1)

28%
20%
9%
9%
34%
100%

No other product category was material to the respective totals.
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2011

28%
21%
10%
10%
31%
100%

April 2,
2010

28%
20%
11%
10%
31%
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Geographical Information
The following table represents net revenue amounts recognized for sales in the corresponding countries:
Year Ended
March 30,
2012

United States
United Kingdom
Other foreign countries (1)
Total net revenue
(1)

April 1,
2011
(In millions)

$ 3,240
580
2,910
$ 6,730

April 2,
2010

$3,056
599
2,535
$6,190

$2,967
594
2,424
$5,985

No individual country represented more than 10% of the respective totals.

The table below lists our property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation, by geographic area. With the exception of property and
equipment, we do not identify or allocate our assets by geographic area:
As of
March 30,
April 1,
2011

2012
(In millions)

United States
Foreign countries (1)
Total
(1)

$

885
215
$ 1,100

$ 835
215
$1,050

No individual country represented more than 10% of the respective totals.
Significant customers

In fiscal 2012, there were no significant customers that accounted for more than 10% of our total net revenue. In fiscal 2011 and 2010, one
distributor, Ingram Micro accounted for 10% of our total net revenue in both periods. Our distributor arrangements with Ingram Micro consist of
several non-exclusive, independently negotiated agreements with its subsidiaries, each of which cover different countries or regions. Each of
these agreements is separately negotiated and is independent of any other contract (such as a master distribution agreement), and these
agreements are not based on the same form of contract.
Note 11.

Employee Benefits and Stock-Based Compensation

401(k) plan
We maintain a salary deferral 401(k) plan for all of our domestic employees. This plan allows employees to contribute up to 50% of their
pretax salary up to the maximum dollar limitation prescribed by the Internal Revenue Code. We match 50% of the employee’s contribution. The
maximum match in any given plan year is 3% of the employees’ eligible compensation, up to $6,000. Our contribution under the plan was $25
million, $22 million, and $22 million in fiscal 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively.
Stock purchase plans
2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
In September 2008, our stockholders approved the 2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“2008 ESPP”) and reserved 20 million shares of
common stock for issuance thereunder. In September 2010, the 2008 ESPP was
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amended by our stockholders to increase the shares available for issuance thereunder by 20 million. As of March 30, 2012, 14 million shares
have been issued under this plan and 26 million shares remained available for future issuance.
Subject to certain limitations, our employees may elect to have 2% to 10% of their compensation withheld through payroll deductions to
purchase shares of common stock under the 2008 ESPP. Employees purchase shares of common stock at a price per share equal to 85% of the
fair market value on the purchase date at the end of each six-month purchase period.
2002 Executive Officers’ Stock Purchase Plan
In September 2002, our stockholders approved the 2002 Executive Officers’ Stock Purchase Plan and reserved 250,000 shares of common
stock for issuance thereunder. The purpose of the plan is to provide executive officers with a means to acquire an equity interest in Symantec at
fair market value by applying a portion or all of their respective bonus payments towards the purchase price. As of March 30, 2012,
40,401 shares have been issued under the plan and 209,599 shares remained available for future issuance. Shares reserved for issuance under this
plan have not been adjusted for stock dividends.
Stock award plans
2000 Director Equity Incentive Plan
In September 2000, our stockholders approved the 2000 Director Equity Incentive Plan and reserved 50,000 shares of common stock for
issuance thereunder. Stockholders increased the number of shares of stock that may be issued by 50,000 in September 2004, September 2007,
and October 2011. The purpose of this plan is to provide the members of the Board of Directors with an opportunity to receive common stock for
all or a portion of the retainer payable to each director for serving as a member. Each director may elect any portion up to 100% of the retainer to
be paid in the form of stock. As of March 30, 2012, a total of 123,464 shares have been issued under this plan and 76,536 shares remained
available for future issuance.
2004 Equity Incentive Plan
Under the 2004 Equity Incentive Plan, (“2004 Plan”) our Board of Directors, or a committee of the Board of Directors, may grant incentive
and nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, RSUs, RSAs, or PRUs to employees, officers, directors, consultants, independent
contractors, and advisors to us, or to any parent, subsidiary, or affiliate of ours. The purpose of the 2004 Plan is to attract, retain, and motivate
eligible persons whose present and potential contributions are important to our success by offering them an opportunity to participate in our
future performance through equity awards of stock options and stock bonuses. Under the terms of the 2004 Plan, the exercise price of stock
options may not be less than 100% of the fair market value on the date of grant. Options generally vest over a four-year period. Options granted
prior to October 2005 generally have a maximum term of ten years and options granted thereafter generally have a maximum term of seven
years.
As of March 30, 2012, we have reserved 190 million shares for issuance under the 2004 Plan. These shares include 18 million shares
originally reserved for issuance under the 2004 Plan upon its adoption by our stockholders in September 2004, 27 million shares that were
transferred to the 2004 Plan from the 1996 Equity Incentive Plan, (“1996 Plan”), and 40 million, 50 million and 55 million shares that were
approved for issuance thereunder on the amendment and restatement of the 2004 Plan at our 2006, 2008 and 2010 annual meeting of
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stockholders, respectively. In addition to the shares currently reserved under the 2004 Plan, any shares reacquired by us from options outstanding
under the 1996 Plan upon their cancellation will also be added to the 2004 Plan reserve. As of March 30, 2012, 80 million shares remained
available for future issuance.
Performance-based restricted stock units
During the first quarter of fiscal 2012, we granted PRUs to certain senior level employees under our 2004 Plan. The PRU grants are in lieu
of the stock option grants typically awarded as part of our annual compensation program. These PRUs can be earned depending upon the
achievement of a company-specific performance condition and a market condition as follows: (1) our achievement of an annual target earnings
per share for fiscal 2012 and (2) our two and three year cumulative relative total shareholder return ranked against that of other companies that
are included in the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index. These PRUs are also subject to a three year continued service vesting provision with earlier
vesting permitted under certain conditions, such as upon a change of control of the company. The determination of the fair value of these awards
takes into consideration the likelihood of achievement of the market condition. The compensation expense for the PRUs is initially based on the
probability of achieving the target level of the company-specific performance condition, and will be adjusted for subsequent changes in the
estimated or actual outcome of this performance condition.
Assumed Clearwell stock options
In connection with our acquisition of Clearwell, we assumed all unexercised, outstanding options to purchase Clearwell common stock.
Each unexercised, outstanding option assumed was converted into an option to purchase our common stock after applying the exchange ratio of
0.40906 shares of our common stock for each share of Clearwell common stock which resulted in an allocation of approximately 1 million
shares of our common stock to the assumed options.
Furthermore, all shares obtained upon early exercise of unvested Clearwell options were converted into the right to receive a cash
consideration of $7.65 per share upon vesting. The total value of the early exercised, unvested Clearwell shares on the date of acquisition was
approximately $4 million, assuming no forfeitures.
Other stock option plans
Options remain outstanding under several other stock option plans, including the 1996 Plan, and various plans assumed in connection with
acquisitions. No further options may be granted under any of these plans.
Valuation of stock-based awards
The fair value of share-based awards for stock options was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The fair value of
PRUs was estimated using a Monte Carlo simulation model. The fair value of each restricted stock grant is equal to the market value of our
common stock on the date of grant.
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The following assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of stock options and PRUs:
Fiscal
2012

Stock Options:
Expected life
Weighted-average expected volatility
Weighted-average risk-free interest rate
Expected dividends
PRUs:
Expected life
Expected volatility
Weighted-average expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected dividends

Fiscal
2011

3.76 years
35%
1.62%
—

Fiscal
2010

3.52 years
34%
1.85%
—

2.8 - 2.89 years
48% - 49%
49%
0.65% - 0.90%
—

3.38 years
44%
1.47%
—

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

Both the Black-Scholes and the Monte Carlo simulation fair value models require the use of highly subjective and complex assumptions,
including the expected life and the price volatility of the underlying stock. Changes in the Black-Scholes and the Monte Carlo valuation
assumptions and our related estimates may change the fair value for stock-based compensation and the related expense recognized. There have
not been any material changes to our stock-based compensation expense due to changes in our valuation assumptions.
Stock-based compensation expense
The following table sets forth the total stock-based compensation expense recognized in our Consolidated Statements of Income.
March 30,

Year Ended
April 1,

April 2,

2012
2011
2010
(In millions, except per share data)

Cost of revenue — Content, subscription, and maintenance
Cost of revenue — License
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Total stock-based compensation expense
Tax benefit associated with stock-based compensation expense
Net stock-based compensation expense
Net stock-based compensation expense per share attributable to Symantec
Corporation stockholders — basic
Net stock-based compensation expense per share attributable to Symantec
Corporation stockholders — diluted
97

$

$

19
3
58
40
25
145
(41)
$ 104

$

$

14
2
70
49
29
164
(46)
118

14
2
59
53
27
155
(43)
$ 112

$

0.16

$ 0.13

$ 0.14

$

0.16

$ 0.13

$ 0.14
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Stock options activity
WeightedNumber
of Shares

Outstanding at April 1, 2011
Granted
Assumed in acquisitions
Exercised
Forfeited
Expired
Outstanding at March 30, 2012
Exercisable at March 30, 2012
Vested and expected to vest at March 30, 2012
(1)

54
3
1
(6)
(1)
(10)
41
34
40

WeightedAverage
Average
Remaining
Exercise
Price
Years
(In millions, except per share data)

$ 19.61
18.31
3.21
11.94
16.36
25.16
$ 18.98
$ 19.59
$ 19.01

2.53 years
1.92 years
2.47 years

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value (1)

$

91

$
$
$

70
50
69

Intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the market value of our common stock as of March 30, 2012 and the exercise price
of the option. The aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding and exercisable includes options with an exercise price below $18.70,
the closing price of our common stock on March 30, 2012, as reported by the NASDAQ Global Select Market.

The weighted-average fair value per share of options granted during fiscal 2012, 2011, and 2010 including assumed options was $5.23,
$4.04, and $5.15, respectively. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during fiscal 2012, 2011, and 2010 was $40 million, $43 million,
and $64 million, respectively.
As of March 30, 2012, total unrecognized compensation cost adjusted for estimated forfeitures related to unvested stock options was
$24 million, which is expected to be recognized over the remaining weighted-average vesting period of 2.54 years. Total unrecognized
compensation cost related to the assumed, unvested Clearwell stock options was approximately $7 million, which is expected to be recognized
over the remaining weighted-average vesting period of 2.18 years, assuming no forfeitures. Total unrecognized compensation cost related to
early exercised, unvested Clearwell shares was approximately $1 million.
Restricted stock activity
WeightedAverage
Grant Date
Number
of Shares

Outstanding and unvested at April 1, 2011
Granted
Vested and released
Forfeited
Outstanding and unvested at March 30, 2012
Expected to vest at March 30, 2012

18
11
(8)
(3)
18
15

WeightedAverage
Remaining
Fair Value
Years
(In millions, except per share data)

Aggregate

$ 15.80
18.13
16.98
16.30
$ 16.62
$
—

$

323

$
$

330
282

1.55 years
1.46 years

Intrinsic
Value

The weighted-average grant date fair value per share of restricted stock granted during fiscal 2012, 2011, and 2010 including assumed
restricted stock was $18.13, $14.96, and $15.60, respectively. The total fair value of restricted stock that vested in fiscal 2012, 2011, and 2010
was $150 million, $104 million, and $71 million, respectively.
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As of March 30, 2012, total unrecognized compensation cost adjusted for estimated forfeitures related restricted stock was $218 million,
which is expected to be recognized over the remaining weighted-average vesting period of 2.42 years.
Performance-based restricted stock units activity
Shares

Unvested at April 1, 2011
Granted
Changes due to performance and market conditions
Vested
Forfeited
Unvested at March 30, 2012

—
467,000
23,350
—
—
490,350

The weighted-average grant date fair value per share of PRUs granted during fiscal 2012 was $23.58 per share.
As of March 30, 2012, total unrecognized compensation cost related to the PRUs was approximately $8 million, which is expected to be
recognized over the remaining weighted average period of 2.0 years, assuming no forfeitures.
Shares reserved
As of March 30, 2012, we had reserved the following shares of authorized but unissued common stock ( in millions ):
Stock purchase plans
Stock award plans
Total
Note 12.

26
138
164

Income Taxes

The components of the provision for income taxes are as follows:
March 30,
2012

Current:
Federal
State
International

$

Deferred:
Federal
State
International
Total provision of income taxes

$
99

Year Ended
April 1,
2011
(In millions)

April 2,
2010

123
30
121
274

$ 17
18
70
105

$ 62
—
91
153

32
(9)
1
24
298

26
3
(29)
—
$ 105

2
(2)
(41)
(41)
$ 112
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Pretax income from international operations was $891 million, $460 million, and $498 million for fiscal 2012, fiscal 2011, and 2010,
respectively.
The difference between our effective income tax and the federal statutory income tax is as follows:
March 30,
2012

Expected Federal statutory tax
State taxes, net of federal benefit
Foreign earnings taxed at less than the federal rate
Domestic production activities deduction
Federal research and development credit
Valuation allowance increase (decrease)
Benefit of losses from joint venture
Veritas tax positions (including valuation allowance release)
Other, net

Year Ended
April 1,

April 2,

2011
(In millions)

$

515
12
(160)
(20)
(12)
5
(1)
(52)
11
$ 298

$ 255
12
(84)
(9)
(10)
(15)
(2)
(49)
7
$ 105

2010

$ 303
(2)
(92)
(10)
(6)
(11)
(5)
(70)
5
$ 112

The principal components of deferred tax assets are as follows:
As of
March 30,

April 1,

2012

2011
(In millions)

Deferred tax assets:
Tax credit carryforwards
Net operating loss carryforwards of acquired companies
Other accruals and reserves not currently tax deductible
Deferred revenue
Loss on investments not currently tax deductible
State income taxes
Goodwill
Stock-based compensation
Other

$

Valuation allowance
Total deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:
Tax over book depreciation
Intangible assets
Unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiaries
Total deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax assets

$
$

$
$
100

43
137
152
95
23
33
36
60
4
583
(55)
528

$ 17
181
141
77
17
35
34
70
9
581
(45)
$ 536

(41)
(208)
(329)
(578)
(50)

$ (26)
(228)
(282)
$ (536)
$ —
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The $55 million total valuation allowance provided against our deferred tax assets as of March 30, 2012 is attributable to acquisitionrelated assets and net operating losses in foreign jurisdictions. The valuation allowance increased by a net of $10 million in fiscal 2012, related
mostly to credits in foreign jurisdictions and net operating losses in foreign jurisdictions subject to a valuation allowance.
As of March 30, 2012, we have U.S. federal net operating losses attributable to various acquired companies of approximately $120 million,
which, if not used, will expire between fiscal 2013 and 2032. These net operating loss carryforwards are subject to an annual limitation under
Internal Revenue Code § 382, but are expected to be fully realized. Furthermore, we have U.S. state net operating loss and credit carryforwards
attributable to various acquired companies of approximately $314 million and $24 million, respectively, which will expire in various fiscal years.
In addition, we have foreign net operating loss carryforwards attributable to various acquired foreign companies of approximately $404 million
net of valuation allowances, which, under current applicable foreign tax law, can be carried forward indefinitely.
In assessing the ability to realize our deferred tax assets, we considered whether it was more likely than not that some portion or all the
deferred tax assets will not be realized. We considered the following: we have historical cumulative book income, as measured by the current
and prior two years, we have strong, consistent taxpaying history, we have substantial U.S. federal income tax carryback potential; and we have
substantial amounts of scheduled future reversals of taxable temporary differences from our deferred tax liabilities. We have concluded that this
positive evidence outweighs the negative evidence and, thus, that the deferred tax assets as of March 30, 2012 of $528 million, after application
of the valuation allowances described above, are realizable on a “more likely than not” basis.
As of March 30, 2012, no provision has been made for federal or state income taxes on $2.4 billion of cumulative unremitted earnings of
certain of our foreign subsidiaries since we plan to indefinitely reinvest these earnings. As of March 30, 2012, the unrecognized deferred tax
liability for these earnings was $730 million.
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The aggregate changes in the balance of gross unrecognized tax benefits from April 3, 2009 to March 30, 2012 were as follows ( in
millions ):
Balance as of April 3, 2009
Settlements and effective settlements with tax authorities and related remeasurements
Lapse of statute of limitations
Increases in balances related to tax positions taken during prior years
Decreases in balances related to tax positions taken during prior years
Increases in balances related to tax positions taken during current year
Balance as of April 2, 2010
Settlements and effective settlements with tax authorities and related remeasurements
Lapse of statute of limitations
Increases in balances related to tax positions taken during prior years
Decreases in balances related to tax positions taken during prior years
Increases in balances related to tax positions taken during current year
Balance as of April 1, 2011
Settlements and effective settlements with tax authorities and related remeasurements
Lapse of statute of limitations
Increases in balances related to tax positions taken during prior years
Decreases in balances related to tax positions taken during prior years
Increases in balances related to tax positions taken during current year
Balance as of March 30, 2012

$ 633
(7)
(14)
12
(92)
11
$ 543
(6)
(27)
13
(36)
40
$ 527
(62)
(12)
78
(30)
118
$ 619

Of the $92 million of changes in gross unrecognized tax benefits during the fiscal year as disclosed above, approximately $32 million was
provided through purchase accounting in connection with acquisitions during fiscal 2012. This gross liability is reduced by offsetting tax benefits
associated with the correlative effects of potential transfer pricing adjustments, interest deductions, and state income taxes, as well as payments
made to date.
Of the total unrecognized tax benefits at March 30, 2012, $612 million, if recognized, would favorably affect the Company’s effective tax
rate, while $7 million would affect the cumulative translation adjustments. However, one or more of these unrecognized tax benefits could be
subject to a valuation allowance if and when recognized in a future period, which could impact the timing of any related effective tax rate
benefit.
At March 30, 2012, before any tax benefits, we had $73 million of accrued interest and penalties on unrecognized tax benefits. Interest
included in our provision for income taxes was approximately $11 million for the year ended March 30, 2012. If the accrued interest and
penalties do not ultimately become payable, amounts accrued will be reduced in the period that such determination is made, and reflected as a
reduction of the overall income tax provision.
We file income tax returns in the U.S. on a federal basis and in many U.S. state and foreign jurisdictions. Our two most significant tax
jurisdictions are the U.S. and Ireland. Our tax filings remain subject to examination by applicable tax authorities for a certain length of time
following the tax year to which those filings relate. Our 2002 through 2012 fiscal years remain subject to examination by the Internal Revenue
Service (“IRS”) for U.S. federal tax purposes, and our 2007 through 2012 fiscal years remain subject to examination by the
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appropriate governmental agencies for Irish tax purposes. Other significant jurisdictions include California, Japan, the UK and India. As of
March 30, 2012, we are in appeals with the IRS regarding Veritas U.S. federal income taxes for the 2002 through 2005 tax years, and under
examination regarding Symantec U.S. federal income taxes for the fiscal years 2005 through 2008. In addition, we are under examination by the
California Franchise Tax Board for the Symantec California income taxes for the 2005 through 2006 tax years. We are also under audit by the
Indian income tax authorities for fiscal years 2004 through 2011.
On December 10, 2009, the U.S. Tax Court issued its opinion in Veritas v. Commissioner, finding that our transfer pricing methodology,
with appropriate adjustments, was the best method for assessing the value of the transaction at issue between Veritas and its international
subsidiary in the 2000 to 2001 tax years. In June 2010, we reached an agreement with the IRS concerning the amount of the adjustment based on
the U.S. Tax Court decision. As a result of the agreement, we reduced our liability for unrecognized tax benefits, resulting in a $39 million tax
benefit in the first quarter of fiscal 2011. In March 2011, we reached agreement with Irish Revenue concerning compensating adjustments
arising from this matter, resulting in an additional $10 million tax benefit in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2011. This matter has now been closed
and no further adjustments to the accrued liability are expected.
On December 2, 2009, we received a Revenue Agent’s Report from the IRS for the Veritas 2002 through 2005 tax years assessing
additional taxes due. We have contested $80 million of the tax assessed and all penalties. As a result of negotiations with IRS Appeals in the
three months ended December 30, 2011, we have remeasured our liability for unrecognized tax benefits, resulting in a tax benefit of $52 million.
The timing of the resolution of income tax examinations is highly uncertain, and the amounts ultimately paid, if any, upon resolution of the
issues raised by the taxing authorities may differ materially from the amounts accrued for each year. Although potential resolution of uncertain
tax positions involve multiple tax periods and jurisdictions, it is reasonably possible that a reduction of up to $21 million of the reserves for
unrecognized tax benefits may occur within the next 12 months, some of which, depending on the nature of the settlement or expiration of
statutes of limitations, may affect our income tax provision and therefore benefit the resulting effective tax rate. The actual amount could vary
significantly depending on the ultimate timing and nature of any settlements.
We continue to monitor the progress of ongoing income tax controversies and the impact, if any, of the expected tolling of the statute of
limitations in various taxing jurisdictions.
Note 13.

Earnings Per Share

Basic and diluted earnings per share are computed on the basis of the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding
during the period. Diluted earnings per share also include the incremental effect of dilutive potential common shares outstanding during the
period using the treasury stock method. Dilutive potential common shares include the dilutive effect of shares underlying outstanding stock
options, restricted stock, warrants and Convertible Senior Notes.
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The components of earnings per share are as follows:
Year Ended
March 30,
April 1,
April 2,
2012
2011
2010
(In millions, except per share data)

Net income attributable to Symantec Corporation stockholders
Net income per share attributable to Symantec Corporation stockholders — basic
Net income per share attributable to Symantec Corporation stockholders — diluted
Weighted average outstanding common shares attributable to Symantec Corporation
stockholders — basic
Dilutive potential shares issuable from assumed exercise of stock options
Dilutive potential shares related to stock award plans
Weighted average shares outstanding attributable to Symantec Corporation
stockholders — diluted
Anti-dilutive weighted-average stock options (1)
Anti-dilutive weighted-average restricted stock (1)
(1)

$ 1,172
$ 1.58
$ 1.57

$ 597
$ 0.77
$ 0.76

$ 714
$ 0.88
$ 0.87

741
3
4

778
4
4

810
6
3

748
26
—

786
43
—

819
47
—

For these fiscal years, the effects of the warrants issued and the option purchased in connection with the Convertible Senior Notes were
excluded because they have no impact on diluted earnings per share until our average stock price for the applicable period reaches
$27.3175 per share and $19.12 per share, respectively.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Mountain View, State of California, on the 21st day of May
2012.
SYMANTEC CORPORATION
By /s/ Enrique Salem
Enrique Salem,
President and Chief Executive Officer
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Enrique
Salem, James A. Beer and Scott C. Taylor, and each or any of them, his attorneys-in-fact, each with the power of substitution, for him in any and
all capacities to sign any and all amendments to this report on Form 10-K and any other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities
and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act
and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person,
hereby ratifying and confirming all that such attorneys-in-fact, or his or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by
virtue hereof. This Power of Attorney may be signed in several counterparts.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated below.
Signature

Title

Date

/s/

Enrique Salem
Enrique Salem

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

May 21, 2012

/s/

James A. Beer
James A. Beer

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

May 21, 2012

Andrew H. Del Matto
Andrew H. Del Matto

Senior Vice President and Chief Accounting
Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

May 21, 2012

/s/

Stephen M. Bennett
Stephen M. Bennett

Chairman of the Board

May 18, 2012

/s/

Michael A. Brown
Michael A. Brown

Director

May 18, 2012

/s/

Frank E. Dangeard
Frank E. Dangeard

Director

May 18, 2012

/s/

Stephen E. Gillett
Stephen E. Gillett

Director

May 18, 2012

/s/
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Date

/s/ Geraldine B. Laybourne
Geraldine B. Laybourne

Director

May 18, 2012

/s/ David L. Mahoney
David L. Mahoney

Director

May 18, 2012

/s/ Robert S. Miller
Robert S. Miller

Director

May 18, 2012

/s/ Daniel H. Schulman
Daniel H. Schulman

Director

May 18, 2012

/s/ V. Paul Unruh
V. Paul Unruh

Director

May 18, 2012
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VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
Additions
Balance at
Beginning

Charged Against
Revenue and to
Operating Expense
(1)

of Period

Allowance for doubtful accounts:
Year ended March 30, 2012
Year ended April 1, 2011
Year ended April 2, 2010
Reserve for product returns:
Year ended March 30, 2012
Year ended April 1, 2011
Year ended April 2, 2010
Reserve for rebates:
Year ended March 30, 2012
Year ended April 1, 2011
Year ended April 2, 2010

Charged to

Amount
Written Off

Other
Accounts
(In millions)

Balance at
End of
Period

or Used

$

9
8
9

$

(1)
3
3

$

1
1
—

$

(4)
(3)
(4)

$

5
9
8

$

19
9
12

$

72
60
46

$

8
7
—

$

(74)
(57)
(49)

$

25
19
9

$

79
71
70

$

204
210
181

$

98(2)
108(2)
96(2)

$

(308)
(310)
(276)

$

73
79
71

(1)

Reserve for product returns and reserve for rebates are charged against revenue.

(2)

Balances represent unrecognized customer rebates that will be amortized within 12 months and are recorded as a reduction of deferred
revenue.
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Exhibit
Number

3.01
3.02
3.03
3.04
3.05
4.01
4.02

4.03

4.04

4.05

4.06

Exhibit Description

Form

Incorporated by Reference
File No.
Exhibit

Filing Date

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Symantec
Corporation
Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation of Symantec Corporation
Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation of Symantec Corporation
Certificate of Designations of Series A Junior Participating Preferred
Stock of Symantec Corporation
Bylaws, as amended, of Symantec Corporation
Form of Common Stock Certificate
Indenture related to the 1.00% Convertible Senior Notes, due 2013,
dated as of June 16, 2006, between Symantec Corporation and U.S.
Bank National Association, as trustee (including form of
1.00% Convertible Senior Notes due 2013)
Form of Master Terms and Conditions For Convertible Bond Hedging
Transactions between Symantec Corporation and each of Bank of
America, N.A. and Citibank, N.A., respectively, dated June 9, 2006,
including Exhibit and Schedule thereto
Form of Master Terms and Conditions For Warrants Issued by
Symantec Corporation between Symantec Corporation and each of
Bank of America, N.A. and Citibank, N.A., respectively, dated June 9,
2006, including Exhibit and Schedule thereto
Credit Agreement, dated as of September 8, 2010, by and among
Symantec Corporation, the lenders party thereto (the “Lenders”),
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent,
Bank of America, N.A. and Citibank, N.A., as Co-Syndication Agents,
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and Morgan Stanley Senior Funding,
Inc., as Co-Documentation Agents, and Wells Fargo Securities, LLC,
Banc of America Securities LLC and Citigroup Global Markets Inc.,
as Joint Bookrunners and Joint Lead Arrangers
Indenture, dated September 16, 2010, between Symantec Corporation
and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee

S-8

333-119872

4.01

10/21/04

S-8

333-126403

4.03

07/06/05

10-Q

000-17781

3.01

08/05/09

8-K

000-17781

3.01

12/21/04

8-K
S-3ASR
8-K

000-17781
333-139230
000-17781

3.01
4.07
4.02

05/07/12
12/11/06
06/16/06

10-Q

000-17781

10.04

08/09/06

10-Q

000-17781

10.05

08/09/06

10-Q

000-17781

4.01

11/03/10

8-K

000-17781

4.01

09/16/10
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Incorporated by Reference
File No.
Exhibit
Filing Date

Exhibit Description

Form

8-K

000-17781

4.03

09/16/10

8-K

000-17781

10.04

09/16/10

S-1

33-28655

10.17

06/21/89

8-K

000-17781

10.01

01/23/06

10.03

06/09/06

000-17781

10.05

06/09/06

000-17781

10.05

05/24/10

000-17781

10.08

06/09/06

000-17781

10.01

11/01/11

10.08(*)

Symantec Corporation 2001 Non-Qualified Equity Incentive Plan

000-17781

10.12

06/09/06

10.09(*)

000-17781

10.01

01/25/08

10.10(*)

Amended and Restated Symantec Corporation 2002 Executive Officers’ Stock
Purchase Plan
Altiris, Inc. 2002 Stock Plan

10K
10K
10K
10K
10Q
10K
8-K

000-17781

10.07(*)

Form of Global Note for Symantec’s 2.750% Senior Note due 2015 (contained
in Exhibit No. 4.02)
Form of Global Note for Symantec’s 4.200% Senior Note due 2020 (contained
in Exhibit No. 4.02)
Form of Indemnification Agreement with Officers and Directors, as amended
(form for agreements entered into prior to January 17, 2006)
Form of Indemnification Agreement for Officers, Directors and Key
Employees
Veritas Software Corporation 1993 Equity Incentive Plan, including form of
Stock Option Agreement
Symantec Corporation 1996 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, including form
of Stock Option Agreement and form of Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement
Symantec Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan, restated and amended
January 1, 2010, as adopted December 15, 2009
Brightmail Inc. 1998 Stock Option Plan, including form of Stock Option
Agreement and form of Notice of Assumption
Symantec Corporation 2000 Director Equity Incentive Plan, as amended

S-8

99.03

04/10/07

10.11(*)

Form of Stock Option Agreement under the Altiris, Inc. 2002 Stock Plan

S-8

99.04

04/10/07

10.12(*)

Vontu, Inc. 2002 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan, as amended

S-8

99.02

12/17/07

10.13(*)

Form of Vontu, Inc. Stock Option Agreement

S-8

99.03

12/17/07

10.14(*)

Veritas Software Corporation 2003 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and
restated, including form of Stock Option Agreement, form of Stock Option
Agreement for Executives and Senior VPs and form of Notice of Stock Option
Assumption
Symantec Corporation 2004 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, including
Stock Option Grant — Terms and Conditions, form of RSU Award Agreement,
form of RSU Award Agreement for Non-Employee Directors and form of PRU
Award Agreement
Altiris, Inc. 2005 Stock Plan

10K

333141986
333141986
333148107
333148107
000-17781

10.15

06/09/06

10K

000-17781

10.17

05/20/11

S-8

333141986
333141986

99.05

04/10/07

99.06

04/10/07

4.07
4.08
10.01(*)
10.02(*)
10.03(*)
10.04(*)
10.05(*)
10.06(*)

10.15(*)

10.16(*)
10.17(*)

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the Altiris, Inc. 2005 Stock
Plan, as amended
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10.18(*)
10.19(*)
10.20(*)
10.21(*)
10.22(*)
10.23(*)
10.24(*)
10.25(*)
10.26(*)
10.27(*)
10.28(*)
10.29(*)
10.30(*)
10.31(*)
10.32(*)
10.33(*)
10.34(*)
10.35
10.36†

Incorporated by Reference
File No.
Exhibit

Exhibit Description

Form

Clearwell Systems, Inc. 2005 Stock Plan, as amended
Form of Clearwell Systems, Inc. Stock Option Agreement
Symantec Corporation 2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as
amended
Offer Letter, dated February 8, 2006, from Symantec Corporation
to James A. Beer
Letter Agreement, dated April 6, 2009, between Symantec
Corporation and John W. Thompson
Employment Agreement, dated September 23, 2009, between
Symantec Corporation and Enrique Salem
FY11 Long Term Incentive Plan
FY12 Long Term Incentive Plan
Form of FY12 Executive Annual Incentive Plan — Chief Executive
Officer
Form of FY12 Executive Annual Incentive Plan — Executive Vice
President and Group President – 95%
Form of FY12 Executive Annual Incentive Plan — Executive Vice
President and Group President
FY13 Long Term Incentive Plan
Form of FY13 Executive Annual Incentive Plan — Plan 1 – Chief
Executive Officer
Form of FY13 Executive Annual Incentive Plan — Plan 2 – Vice
President, Senior Vice President, Executive Vice President &
Group President
Symantec Senior Executive Incentive Plan, as amended and restated
Symantec Corporation Executive Retention Plan, as amended and
restated
Symantec Corporation Executive Severance Plan
Assignment of Copyright and Other Intellectual Property Rights, by
and between Peter Norton and Peter Norton Computing, Inc., dated
August 31, 1990
Environmental Indemnity Agreement, dated April 23, 1999,
between Veritas and Fairchild Semiconductor Corporation,
included as Exhibit C to that certain Agreement of Purchase and
Sale, dated March 29, 1999, between Veritas and Fairchild
Semiconductor of California

S-8
S-8
10-Q

333-175783
333-175783
000-17781

99.01
99.02
10.2

07/26/11
07/26/11
11/03/10

10-K

000-17781

10.17

06/09/06

8-K

000-17781

10.01

04/09/09

8-K

000-17781

10.01

09/29/09

10-Q
10-K
10-K

000-17781
000-17781
000-17781

10.04
10.29
10.30

08/04/10
05/20/11
05/20/11

10-K

000-17781

10.31

05/20/11

10-K

000-17781

10.32

05/20/11

110

Filing Date

Filed
Herewith

X
X
X
10-Q

000-17781

10.03

11/07/08
X
X

S-4

33-35385

10.37
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10.37
10.38
21.01
23.01
24.01
31.01
31.02
32.01(††)
32.02(††)
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

Form

Amendment, dated June 20, 2007, to the Amended and Restated
Agreement Respecting Certain Rights of Publicity dated as of August 31,
1990, by and between Peter Norton and Symantec Corporation
Amendment, effective December 6, 2010, to the Trademark License
Agreement, dated August 9, 2010, by and between VeriSign, Inc. and
Symantec Corporation
Subsidiaries of Symantec Corporation
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Power of Attorney (see Signature page to this annual report)
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Schema Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Labels Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Document

10-Q

000-17781

10.01

08/07/07

10-Q

000-17781

10.01

02/02/11

*

Indicates a management contract, compensatory plan or arrangement.

†

Filed by Veritas Software Corporation.

††
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This exhibit is being furnished, rather than filed, and shall not be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing, in accordance with
Item 601 of Regulation S-K.
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FY13 Long Term Incentive Plan
(LTIP)
This Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) of Symantec Corporation (“Symantec” or the “Company”) is effective as of March 31, 2012. The
Board of Directors reserves the right to alter or cancel all or any portion of the LTIP for any reason at any time.
1

FY13 Long Term Incentive Plan
Purpose:

Provide critical focus on specific, measurable corporate goals and provide performance-based compensation based
upon the level of attainment of such goals and ensure retention of key executives of the Company.

Amount:

LTIP target cash payments (“LTIP Payments”) will be determined and approved by the Compensation Committee
of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Committee”), with input from the CEO and Chairman of the Board.
LTIP Payments will be determined and paid based on the actual achievement of the performance metric set forth
below against the target performance metric under the LTIP for the Company’s fiscal year ending March 29, 2013
in which Target LTIP Awards are granted under this LTIP (the “(Performance Period”). All LTIP Payments will be
subject to the Company’s collection of applicable payroll taxes and withholdings, and the Participant will only
receive the net amount remaining after such
taxes and withholdings have been collected.

Eligibility:

Participants shall be at levels of senior vice president or above, and shall be recommended for eligibility by the
CEO and the Chairman of the Board and approved by the Committee prior to the end of the Performance Period
(individually, a “Participant” and, collectively, the “Participants”). Participants must be in an eligible position for at
least 60 days before the end of the Performance Period. Employees hired or promoted into an eligible position with
less than 60 days remaining in the Performance Period will not be eligible for an LTIP Payment. The calculation of
the LTIP Payment for a Participant that becomes eligible during the Performance Period will be pro-rated based on
the number of days the Participant is in an eligible position during the Performance Period.

Service Requirement:

The long-term incentive will be measured at the end of the Performance Period. However, no Participant shall earn
or accrue any right to the long-term incentive based on the level of performance metric attained for the Performance
Period unless that individual remains in the continuous active employ of the Company (or any majority or greater
owned subsidiary) through the last day of the second (2 nd ) fiscal year following the end of the Performance Period
(the Requisite Service Period”). Upon the completion of the Requisite Service Period, the incentive bonus earned on
the basis of both the attained performance metric and the completed service period will be paid (the “Payment
Date”). However, any payment due under this LTIP is at the sole discretion of the Committee. A Participant (or any
majority or greater owned subsidiary) terminates for any reason before his or her completion of the Requisite
Service Period will not be eligible to receive the LTIP Payment or any prorated portion thereof, except to the
limited extent set forth below.

Performance Metric:

The Company’s Operating Cash Flow achievement for the Performance Period against target Operating Cash Flow
for the Performance Period will be used to determine the eligibility for an LTIP Payment. “Operating Cash Flow” is
determined based on the Company’s budgeted cash flow and is equal to the operating cash flow that is
communicated to public investors via filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission[ . ], but Operating Cash
Flow metric for the Performance Period shall in all events be established within the first ninety (90) days of the
Performance Period.

Achievement Schedule:

A 100% LTIP Payment will be paid to the Participant who completes the Requisite Service Period if 100% of
budgeted Operating Cash Flow is attained with respect to the Performance Period (the “Target LTIP Award”). The
Target LTIP Awards shall be set forth on a schedule approved by the Committee within 90 days of the beginning of
the
2

Performance Period. A Participant who completes the Requisite Service Period is eligible for 25% of the Target
LTIP Award if at least 85% of budgeted Operating Cash Flow is attained with respect to the Performance Period
and for 200% of the Target LTIP Award if at least 120% of budgeted Operating Cash Flow is attained with respect
to the Performance Period. Achievement of budgeted Operating Cash Flow between 85% and 200% will be
prorated. Achievement of budgeted Operating Cash Flow shall be certified by the Committee (“Certification”)
following the end of the Performance Period and prior to the Payment Date or any alternative date of payment.
Death Disability
Involuntary
Termination:

If a Participant’s employment with the Company (or any majority or greater owned subsidiary) terminates by reason
of death, total and permanent disability or an involuntary termination other than for cause (as defined below) after
the last day of the Performance Period but prior to the completion of the Requisite Service Period, then that
Participant shall be entitled to payment of a prorated portion of the LTIP Payment that would have otherwise been
payable to the Participant based on the actual level at which the Operating Cash Flow performance metric is
attained, had he or she completed the Requisite Service Period (the “Base Amount”). The prorated portion shall be
calculated by multiplying the Base Amount by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of calendar months
rounded up to the next whole month) the Participant was in the employ of the Company (or any majority or greater
owned subsidiary) during the period commencing with the start of the Performance Period and ending with his or
her termination date, and the denominator of which is thirty-six (36) months. Such prorated amount shall be paid to
the Participant on his or her termination date or as soon as administratively practicable thereafter, but in no event
later than the fifteenth (15th) day of the third (3rd) calendar month following such termination date. In no event,
however, will any prorated LTIP Payment be made to the Participant if the applicable Operating Cash Flow
performance metric is not attained at a level at or above the 85% threshold level or if the Participant voluntarily
leaves the employ of the Company (or any majority or greater owned subsidiary) prior to the completion of the
Requisite Service Period.
For purposes of the foregoing, an individual will be deemed to have been involuntarily terminated for cause, and
thus ineligible for any prorated LTIP Payment if such individual is discharged or dismissed from employment for
one or more of the following reasons or actions:
(i) gross negligence or willful misconduct in the performance of duties to the Company (other than as a result of a
disability) that has resulted or is likely to result in substantial and material damage to the Company, after a demand
for substantial performance is delivered by the Company which specifically identifies the manner in which it
believes the individual has not substantially performed his/her duties and provides the individual with a reasonable
opportunity to cure any alleged gross negligence or willful misconduct; (ii) commission of any act of fraud with
respect to the Company or its affiliates; or (iii) conviction of a felony or a crime involving moral turpitude causing
material harm to the business and affairs of the Company.

Leave of Absence:

In the event a Participant takes a leave of absence from the Company after the end of the Performance Period but
prior to the completion of the Requisite Service Period, the type of leave and time away from the Company may be
taken into consideration as the basis for a prorated LTIP Payment determined in the sole discretion of the
Committee, with any such prorated LTIP Payment to be based on such Participant’s period of active employment
during the period commencing with the start of the Performance Period and ending with the last day of the
Requisite Service Period, but excluding the period of
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such leave of absence. Any such prorated amount shall be paid to the Participant on the Payment Date or such
earlier date as may be necessary to avoid a deferred compensation arrangement under Section 409A of the Internal
Revenue Code. In no event, however, will any such prorated LTIP payment be made to the Participant if the
applicable Operating Cash Flow performance metric is not attained at a level at or above the 85% threshold level.
Exchange Rates:

Neither LTIP Payments nor Operating Cash Flow will be adjusted for any fluctuating currency exchange rates.

Adjustments:

In the event of an accretive event, such as a stock buyback, or other events that might have an effect on the
Operating Cash Flow, such as an acquisition or purchase of products or technology, the Committee may at its
discretion adjust the Operating Cash Flow to reflect the potential impact upon the Company’s financial performance
consistent with generally accepted accounting principals and Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30.

Change of Control:

In the event of a Change of Control of the Company (as defined in the Company’s Executive Retention Plan) (i) all
unpaid LTIP Payments for the Performance Period (where the Performance Period has been completed and
Certification has occurred prior to the Change of Control) and (ii) all Target LTIP Awards for the Performance
Period (where the Performance Period has not been completed and Certification has not occurred prior to the
Change of Control) whether or not 100% budgeted Operating Cash Flow has been attained for such Performance
Period, shall be paid in full on the Change of Control.

LTIP Provisions:

This LTIP is adopted under the Symantec Senior Executive Incentive Plan as amended and restated as of September
22, 2008 and approved by Symantec’s stockholders on September 22, 2008.
Participation in the LTIP does not guarantee participation in other or future incentive plans. LTIP structures and
participation will be determined on a year-to-year basis.
The Company’s Board of Directors reserves the right to alter or cancel all or any portion of the LTIP for any reason
at any time. The LTIP shall be administered by the Committee and the Committee shall have all powers and
discretion necessary or appropriate to administer and interpret the LTIP.
The Company’s Board of Directors reserves the right to modify or amend this LTIP or a Target LTIP Award under
this LTIP with regard to Company performance in light of events outside the control of management and/or
Participant.

Section 409A:

The payment provisions are designed to qualify for the short-term deferral exception to Section 409A of the Internal
Revenue Code. Accordingly, for Participants who complete the Requisite Service Period requirement, the Payment
Date shall occur within two and one-half (2 1 / 2 ) months following the completion of the Requisite Service Period.
For Participants who become entitled to a prorated LTIP Payment upon the termination of their employment by
reason of death, disability or involuntary termination other than for cause, the payment will be made within two and
one-half (2 1 / 2 ) months following their termination date. LTIP Payments shall be payable solely from the general
assets of the Company.
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Restatement of
Financial Results:

If the Company’s financial statements are the subject of a restatement due to error or misconduct, to the extent
permitted by governing law, in all appropriate cases, the Company will seek reimbursement of excess incentive
cash compensation paid under the LTIP to Participants for the Performance Period covered by such financial
statements. For purposes of this LTIP, excess incentive cash compensation means the positive difference, if any,
between (i) the LTIP Payment paid to each Participant and (ii) the LTIP Payment that would have been made to that
Participant had the Operating Cash Flow performance metric been calculated based on the Company’s financial
statements as restated. The Company will not be required to award any Participant an additional LTIP Payment
should the restated financial statements result in a higher LTIP Payment.

No Employment Rights:

A Participant’s employment with the Company shall be as an “at will” employee. Nothing in the LTIP shall either
confer upon any Participant the right to continue in the employ of the Company or interfere with or restrict in any
way the rights of the Company to discharge or change the terms of employment (or of any employment agreement)
of any Participant at any time for any reason whatsoever, with or without cause.

Governing Law:

This LTIP shall be governed by the laws of the State of California.
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Exhibit 10.30

FY13 Executive Annual Incentive Plan
Plan 1 - Chief Executive Officer
This Annual Incentive Plan (“Plan”) of Symantec Corporation (“Symantec”) is effective as of March 31, 2012. The Board of Directors reserves
the right to alter or cancel all or any portion of the Plan for any reason at any time.
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FY13 Executive Annual Incentive Compensation Plan
Job Category:

Chief Executive Officer

Purpose:

Provide critical focus on specific, measurable corporate goals and provide performance-based compensation based
upon the level of attainment of such goals.

Bonus Target:

The target incentive bonus for this job category is 150% of the annual base salary. Annual base salary has been
established at the beginning of the fiscal year. Bonuses will be calculated based on actual base salary earnings from
time of eligibility under the Plan through March 29, 2013. (Base salary earnings for the purpose of this Plan do not
include any PTO accrual payments.) Payments will be subject to applicable payroll taxes and withholdings.

Bonus Payments:

The annual incentive bonus will be paid once annually. Payment will be made within six weeks after the end of the
fiscal year but in the event the amount cannot be calculated within such six weeks in no event may payments be
made later than 2-1/2 (two and a half) months after the end of the fiscal year. Payments made pursuant to this Plan
are at the sole discretion of the Administrator of the Plan.

Components:

Two performance metrics will be used in the determination of the annual incentive bonus payment as determined by
the Administrator. The Company’s reported numbers are based on GAAP Corporate Revenue and non-GAAP EPS
results.
Metric

Weighting

Corporate Revenue
Corporate Earnings per Share

50%
50%

Achievement Schedule:

An established threshold must be exceeded for each of the applicable performance metrics before the portion of the
bonus applicable to such performance metric will be paid. All three metrics are capped.

Pro-ration:

The calculation of the annual incentive bonus will be determined, in part, based on eligible base salary earnings for
the fiscal year and, subject to the eligibility requirements below, will be pro-rated based on the number of days the
participant is actively employed as a regular status employee of Symantec during the fiscal year. If a participant
takes a leave of absence from the Company during the fiscal year, any payments received by the participant as an
income protection benefit will not be counted toward base salary earnings for the purpose of bonus calculations.

Eligibility:

Participants must be regular status employees on the day bonus checks are distributed to earn the bonus. If the
Company grants an interim payment for any reason, the Participant must be a regular status employee at the end of
the fiscal year in order to receive such payment. Ongoing contributions toward the Company’s overall success,
particularly toward year end is of particular business importance. As such, a participant who leaves before the end
of the fiscal year will not be eligible to earn the annual incentive bonus or any pro-rated portion thereof. The Plan
participant must be a regular status employee of Symantec at the end of the fiscal year in order to be eligible to
receive the annual incentive bonus and at the time the bonus checks are distributed, unless otherwise determined by
the Administrator.
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To be eligible to participate in the Plan in the given fiscal year, participants must be in an eligible position for at
least 60 days before the end of the Plan year. Employees hired or promoted into an eligible position with less than
60 days in the Plan year will not be eligible to participate in the annual bonus plan until the next fiscal year.
Exchange Rates:

The performance metrics targets will not be adjusted for any fluctuating currency exchange rates.

Target Changes:

In the event of an accretive event, such as a stock buyback, or other events that might have an effect on the revenue
or EPS targets of the Company, such as acquisition or purchase of products or technology, the Administrator may at
its discretion adjust the revenue and earnings per share metrics to reflect the potential impact upon Symantec’s
financial performance.

Restatement of
Financial Results:

If the Company’s financial statements are the subject of a restatement due to error or misconduct, to the extent
permitted by governing law, in all appropriate cases, the Company will seek reimbursement of excess incentive
cash compensation paid under the Plan. For purposes of this Plan, excess incentive cash compensation means the
positive difference, if any, between (i) the incentive bonus paid and (ii) the incentive bonus that would have been
made had the performance metrics been calculated based on the Company’s financial statements as restated. The
Company will not be required to award Participant an additional Payment should the restated financial statements
result in a higher bonus calculation.

Plan Provisions:

This Plan is adopted under the Symantec Senior Executive Incentive Plan as amended and restated as of September
22, 2008 and approved by Symantec’s stockholders on September 22, 2008.
This Plan supersedes the FY12 Executive Annual Incentive Plan dated April 2, 2011, which is null and void as of
the adoption of this Plan.
Participation in the Plan does not guarantee participation in other or future incentive plans, nor does it guarantee
continued employment for a specified term. Plan structures and participation will be determined on a year-to-year
basis.
The Board of Directors reserves the right to alter or cancel all or any portion of the Plan for any reason at any time.
The Plan shall be administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Administrator”),
and the Administrator shall have all powers and discretion necessary or appropriate to administer and interpret the
Plan.
The Board of Directors reserves the right to exercise its own judgment with regard to company performance in light
of events outside the control of management and/or participant.
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Exhibit 10.31

FY13 Executive Annual Incentive Plan
Plan 2 - Vice President, Senior Vice President,
Executive Vice President, & Group President
This Annual Incentive Plan (“Plan”) of Symantec Corporation (“Symantec”) is effective as of March 31, 2012. The Board of Directors reserves
the right to alter or cancel all or any portion of the Plan for any reason at any time.
1

FY13 Executive Annual Incentive Compensation Plan
Job Category:

Vice President, Senior Vice President, Executive Vice President, Group President

Purpose:

Provide critical focus on specific, measurable corporate and division goals and provide performance-based
compensation based upon the level of attainment of such goals.

Bonus Target:

The target incentive bonus, expressed as a percentage of base salary, is determined based on the executive’s
position. Annual base salary has been established at the beginning of the fiscal year. Bonuses will be calculated
based on actual base salary earnings from time of eligibility under the Plan through March 29, 2013. (Base salary
earnings for the purpose of this Plan do not include any PTO accrual payments.) Payments will be subject to
applicable payroll taxes and withholdings.

Bonus Payments:

The annual incentive bonus will be paid once annually. Payment will be made within six weeks after the end of the
fiscal year but in the event the amount cannot be calculated within such six weeks in no event may payments be
made later than 2-1/2 (two and a half) months after the end of the fiscal year. Payments made pursuant to this Plan
are at the sole discretion of the Administrator of the Plan.

Components:

Three performance metrics will be used in the determination of the annual incentive bonus payment as determined
by the Administrator. The Company’s reported numbers are based on GAAP Corporate Revenue and non-GAAP
EPS results. The Individual Performance metric is evaluated based on the individual’s Victory Plan results. The
President & CEO and the Board of Directors reserve the right to determine final payout level for the individual
performance metric.
Metric

Weighting

Corporate Revenue
Corporate Earnings per Share
Individual Performance/Victory Plan Results

50%
20%
30%

Achievement Schedule:

An established threshold must be exceeded for each of the applicable performance metrics before the portion of the
bonus applicable to such performance metric will be paid. All three metrics are capped.

Pro-ration:

The calculation of the annual incentive bonus will be determined, in part, based on eligible base salary earnings for
the fiscal year and, subject to the eligibility requirements below, will be pro-rated based on the number of days the
participant is actively employed as a regular status employee of Symantec during the fiscal year. If a participant
takes a leave of absence from the Company during the fiscal year, any payments received by the participant as an
income protection benefit will not be counted toward base salary earnings for the purpose of bonus calculations.

Eligibility:

Participants must be regular status employees on the day bonus checks are distributed to earn the bonus. If the
company grants an interim payment for any reason, the Participant must be a regular status employee at the end of
the fiscal year in order to receive such payment. Ongoing contributions toward the Company’s overall success,
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particularly toward year end is of particular business importance. As such, a participant who leaves before the end
of the fiscal year will not be eligible to earn the annual incentive bonus or any pro-rated portion thereof. The Plan
participant must be a regular status employee of Symantec at the end of the fiscal year in order to be eligible to
receive the annual incentive bonus and at the time the bonus checks are distributed, unless otherwise determined by
the Administrator.
To be eligible to participate in the Plan in the given fiscal year, participants must be in an eligible position for at
least 60 days before the end of the Plan year. Employees hired or promoted into an eligible position with less than
60 days in the Plan year will not be eligible to participate in the annual bonus plan until the next fiscal year.
Exchange Rates:

The performance metrics targets will not be adjusted for any fluctuating currency exchange rates.

Target Changes:

In the event of an accretive event, such as a stock buyback, or other events that might have an effect on the revenue
or EPS targets of the Company, such as acquisition or purchase of products or technology, the Administrator may at
its discretion adjust the revenue and earnings per share metrics to reflect the potential impact upon Symantec’s
financial performance.

Restatement of
Financial Results:

If the Company’s financial statements are the subject of a restatement due to error or misconduct, to the extent
permitted by governing law, in all appropriate cases, the Company will seek reimbursement of excess incentive
cash compensation paid under the Plan. For purposes of this Plan, excess incentive cash compensation means the
positive difference, if any, between (i) the incentive bonus paid and (ii) the incentive bonus that would have been
made had the performance metrics been calculated based on the Company’s financial statements as restated. The
Company will not be required to award Participant an additional Payment should the restated financial statements
result in a higher bonus calculation.

Plan Provisions:

This Plan is adopted under the Symantec Senior Executive Incentive Plan as amended and restated as of September
22, 2008 and approved by Symantec’s stockholders on September 22, 2008.
This Plan supersedes the FY12 Executive Annual Incentive Plan dated April 2, 2011, which is null and void as of
the adoption of this Plan.
Participation in the Plan does not guarantee participation in other or future incentive plans, nor does it guarantee
continued employment for a specified term. Plan structures and participation will be determined on a year-to-year
basis.
The Board of Directors reserves the right to alter or cancel all or any portion of the Plan for any reason at any time.
The Plan shall be administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Administrator”),
and the Administrator shall have all powers and discretion necessary or appropriate to administer and interpret the
Plan.
The Board of Directors reserves the right to exercise its own judgment with regard to company performance in light
of events outside the control of management and/or participant.
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Exhibit 10.33
SYMANTEC CORPORATION
EXECUTIVE RETENTION PLAN
(as amended and restated on April 30, 2012)
This Executive Retention Plan (the “Plan”), as amended and restated, applies to two groups of beneficiaries (i) the Chief Executive Officer
(“CEO”), President, and other executive officers of Symantec Corporation (the “Company”) who are designated as Section 16(b) officers or are
otherwise designated as “Group 1” beneficiaries by the Company’s Compensation Committee; and (ii) without duplication of those designated as
“Group 1” beneficiaries under clause (i) above, all employees of the Company who are at the Executive Vice President, Senior Vice President or
Vice President level, plus any other employees who are designated as “Group 2” beneficiaries by the Company’s Compensation Committee,
based on recommendations made by the CEO (the Group 1 and Group 2 beneficiaries are collectively defined as the “Designated Beneficiaries”).
1.

Acceleration of Equity Compensation Awards.

If the employment of a Group 1 beneficiary is terminated other than for Cause, or if the Group 1 beneficiary resigns following a
Constructive Termination, in either case within 12 months after a Change in Control, all Equity Compensation Awards granted by the Company
to such Group 1 beneficiary shall become fully vested and, if applicable, exercisable. Acceleration of vesting will not occur if there is no Change
in Control within 12 months prior to such termination or Constructive Termination.
If the employment of a Group 2 beneficiary is terminated other than for Cause within 12 months after a Change in Control, all Equity
Compensation Awards granted by the Company to such Group 2 beneficiary shall become fully vested and, if applicable, exercisable.
Acceleration of vesting will not occur if there is no Change in Control within 12 months prior to such termination.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the acceleration of vesting (and, if applicable, the exercisability of Equity Compensation Awards granted
by the Company to such Designated Executive) described hereunder shall only occur in the event that such acceleration would not result in the
Designated Beneficiary becoming subject to interest or additional taxes under Section 409A (a)(1)(B) of the Code (as defined in Section 3).
2.

Payment of Cash Severance to Certain Designated Beneficiaries.

If the employment of a Group 1 beneficiary is terminated other than for Cause, or if the Group 1 beneficiary resigns following a
Constructive Termination, in either case within 12 months after a Change in Control, such beneficiary shall be entitled to receive a cash payment
equal to one (1) times the sum of such beneficiary’s base salary plus the beneficiary’s target payout under the applicable Annual Incentive Plan
then in effect for such beneficiary. The foregoing payment will not be made if there is no Change in Control within 12 months prior to such
termination or Constructive Termination.
If the employment of a Group 2 beneficiary is terminated other than for Cause within 12 months after a Change in Control, such
beneficiary shall be entitled to receive a cash payment equal to one (1) times the sum of such beneficiary’s base salary plus the beneficiary’s
target payout under the applicable Annual Incentive Plan then in effect for such beneficiary; provided that such benefit shall not be provided to
any Group 2 beneficiary who is not at the Senior Vice President level or above. The foregoing payment will not be made if there is no Change in
Control within 12 months prior to such termination.

Any payments of severance pursuant to this Section 2 will be made in a single, lump-sum payment minus taxes, any amounts owed to the
Company, and any legally required deductions. Severance will be paid as soon as administratively feasible after the termination giving rise to the
right to such payment.
3.

Definitions.

Unless defined elsewhere herein, for purposes of the Plan, the following shall have the meaning as set forth below:
“Cause” means (i) gross negligence or willful misconduct in the performance of duties to the Company (other than as a result of a
disability) that has resulted or is likely to result in substantial and material damage to the Company, after a demand for substantial performance
is delivered by the Company which specifically identifies the manner in which it believes the Designated Beneficiary has not substantially
performed his/her duties and provides the Designated Beneficiary with a reasonable opportunity to cure any alleged gross negligence or willful
misconduct; (ii) commission of any act of fraud with respect to the Company or its affiliates; or (iii) conviction of a felony or a crime involving
moral turpitude causing material harm to the business and affairs of the Company. No act or failure to act by the Designated Beneficiary shall be
considered “willful” if done or omitted by the Designated Beneficiary in good faith with reasonable belief that such action or omission was in the
best interest of the Company.
“Change in Control” means (i) any person or entity becoming the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company
representing forty (40%) percent of the total voting power of all its then outstanding voting securities, (ii) a merger or consolidation of the
Company in which its voting securities immediately prior to the merger or consolidation do not represent, or are not converted into securities that
represent, a majority of the voting power of all voting securities of the surviving entity immediately after the merger or consolidation, (iii) a sale
of substantially all of the assets of the Company or a liquidation or dissolution of the Company, or (iv) individuals who, as of the date of
adoption of this Plan, constitute the Board of Directors (the “Incumbent Board”) cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority of such
Board; provided that any individual who becomes a director of the Company subsequent to the date of adoption of this Plan, whose election, or
nomination for election by the Company stockholders, was approved by the vote of at least a majority of the directors then in office shall be
deemed a member of the Incumbent Board.
“Constructive Termination” means the occurrence of any of the following conditions without a Group 1 beneficiary’s written consent,
which condition remains in effect for ten (10) days after written notice to the Company from such Group 1 beneficiary of such condition:
(a)

a decrease in the Group 1 beneficiary’s base salary or target bonus, or a substantial reduction of other compensation and benefits,
from that in effect immediately prior to the Change in Control;

(b)

the relocation of a Group 1 beneficiary’s work place for the Company to a location more than 25 miles from the location of such
Group 1 beneficiary’s work place prior to the Change in Control;

(c)

the assignment of responsibilities and duties that are not the Substantive Functional Equivalent of the position which the Group 1
beneficiary occupied immediately preceding the Change in Control; or

(d)

any material breach by the Company of the terms of this Plan which is not cured within 10 days of written notice.
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“Equity Compensation Award” shall mean any award of stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights or
such other equity compensation award held by a Designated Beneficiary granted under an equity compensation plan of the Company, including,
without limitation, the Company’s 1996 Equity Incentive Plan, its 2004 Equity Incentive Plan and any equity compensation award assumed by
the Company in prior acquisitions.
“Substantive Functional Equivalent” means an employment position occupied by a Group 1 beneficiary after the Change in Control that:
(a)

is in a substantive area of competence (such as, accounting; engineering management; executive management; finance; human
resources; marketing, sales and service; operations and manufacturing; etc.) that is consistent with such Group 1 beneficiary’s
experience;

(b)

requires a Group 1 beneficiary to serve in a role and perform duties that are functionally equivalent to those performed by the Group
1 beneficiary prior to the Change in Control,

(c)

does not otherwise constitute a material, adverse change in the Group 1 beneficiary’s responsibilities or duties, as measured against
the Group 1 beneficiary’s responsibilities or duties prior to the Change in Control, in each case, causing it to be of materially lesser
rank or responsibility.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, any change in role, responsibilities or duties that is solely attributable to the change in the Company’s
status from that of an independent company to that of a subsidiary of the newly controlling entity shall not constitute a change in role,
responsibilities or duties for purposes of claims (b) or (c) above.
4.

Adjustment of Excess Parachute Payments to a Designated Beneficiary.

If (1) benefits that accrue to a Designated Beneficiary under this Plan are characterized as excess parachute payments pursuant to
Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “ Code ”), and (2) the Designated Beneficiary thereby would be subject to
any United States federal excise tax due to that characterization, then (3) the Designated Beneficiary may elect, in the Designated Beneficiary’s
sole discretion, to reduce the benefits that accrue under this Agreement or to have any portion of an applicable Equity Compensation Award not
vest in order to avoid any “excess parachute payment” under Section 28OG(b)(1) of the Code.
5.

No Employment Agreement.

This Plan does not obligate the Company to continue to employ a Designated Beneficiary for any specific period of time, or in any specific
role or geographic location. Subject to the terms of any applicable written employment agreement between Company and a Designated
Beneficiary, the Company may assign a Designated Beneficiary to other duties, and either the Company or Designated Beneficiary may
terminate Designated Beneficiary’s employment at any time for any reason.
6.

Release of Claims.

The Company may condition the benefits described provided under this Plan upon the delivery by the Designated Beneficiary of a signed
release of claims in a form reasonably satisfactory to the Company.
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7.

Deductions and Withholding.

The Company may withhold or require payment of all federal, state, and/or local taxes which the Company determines are required to be
withheld in accordance with applicable statutes and/or regulations from time to time in effect.
8.

Governing Law.

This Plan shall be subject to, and governed by, the laws of the State of California applicable to agreements made and to be performed
entirely therein.
9.

Amendment or Termination.

This Plan may be amended or terminated by the Board of Directors prior to a Change in Control. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no
amendment or termination of this Plan shall reduce any Designated Beneficiary’s rights or benefits that have accrued and become payable under
this Plan before such amendment or termination. If the Plan is subject to Code Section 409A, any termination of the Plan by the Company
pursuant to this Section 8 shall be subject to, and in accordance with, the applicable requirements and limitations of Treas. Reg. §1.409A-3 (j)(4)
(ix).
10.

Six-Month Delay.

To the extent that (i) any payments to which the Designated Beneficiary becomes entitled under this Plan in connection with a separation
from service constitute nonqualified deferred compensation subject to Code Section 409A, and (ii) the Designated Beneficiary is deemed at the
time of the separation from service to be a specified employee (as such term is defined in Treas. Reg. § 1.409A-1(i)), then such payment or
payments shall not be made or commence until the earlier of (A) the expiration of the six - month period measured from the date of the
Designated Beneficiary’s separation from service with the Company, or (B) the Designated Beneficiary’s date of death following such separation
from service; provided, however, that such delay shall only be effected to the extent required to avoid adverse tax treatment to the Designated
Beneficiary, including (without limitation) the additional twenty percent (20%) tax for which the Designated Beneficiary would otherwise be
liable under Section 409A(a)(l)(B) in the absence of such delay. Upon the expiration of the applicable delay period, any payments which would
have otherwise been made during that period in the absence of this paragraph shall be paid to the Designated Beneficiary or his or her
beneficiary.
11.

Interpretation and Construction.

The provisions of this Plan are intended to comply with the provisions of Code Section 409A. If any provision of this Plan is subject to
more than one interpretation or construction, such ambiguity shall be resolved in favor of that interpretation or construction which is consistent
with such provisions not being subject to the provisions of Section 409A.
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Exhibit 10.34
SYMANTEC CORPORATION
EXECUTIVE SEVERANCE PLAN
This Executive Severance Plan (the “Plan”) applies to all employees of Symantec Corporation (the “Company”) who are executive officers
of the Company who are designated as Section 16(b) officers or are at the Executive Vice President or Senior Vice President or Group President
level (collectively defined as the “Executives”) and who meet the eligibility requirements set forth below.
Eligibility.
This Plan makes severance pay available only to Eligible Executives who are determined by Symantec, in its sole and absolute discretion,
to be eligible for such benefits. “Eligible Executives” are defined under this Plan as individuals who meet the following criteria:
•

Those who have been continuously employed by Symantec; and

•

are involuntarily terminated from active employment other than for Cause as defined below; and

•

have not been terminated due to the sale of a business, a part of a business, divestiture or spin-off, and offered employment in
connection therewith upon terms and conditions substantially identical to those in effect immediately prior to such sale, divestiture or
spin-off ; and

•

did not terminate employment because of death, disability or retirement; and

•

are not entitled to severance or similar benefits under any other plan, fund, program, policy, arrangement or individualized written
agreement providing for severance benefits that is sponsored or funded by Symantec; and

•

have signed, submitted and not revoked a Release of Claims within the period of time designated by Symantec.

“Cause” means (i) gross negligence or willful misconduct in the performance of duties to the Company (other than as a result of a
disability) that has resulted or is likely to result in substantial and material damage to the Company, after a demand for substantial performance
is delivered by the Company which specifically identifies the manner in which it believes the Executive has not substantially performed his/her
duties and provides the Executive with a reasonable opportunity to cure any alleged gross negligence or willful misconduct; (ii) commission of
any act of fraud with respect to the Company or its affiliates; or (iii) conviction of a felony or a crime involving moral turpitude causing material
harm to the business and affairs of the Company. No act or failure to act by the Executive shall be considered “willful” if done or omitted by the
Executive in good faith with reasonable belief that such action or omission was in the best interest of the Company.
Severance Pay.
Severance pay under this Plan is equal to one (1) times the sum of such Executive’s base salary in effect at the time of his or her
involuntary termination. Severance pay will be paid in a single, lump-sum payment minus taxes, any amounts owed to Symantec, and any legally
required deductions. Severance will be paid ONLY if the Executive signs, submits and does not revoke a Release of Claims. Release of Claims
will be provided no later than termination of employment and must be signed and returned within 45 days. Severance will be paid as soon as
administratively feasible after the applicable revocation period (if any) has passed and no later than 2.5 months from the employment termination
date.

Outplacement Benefits.
Symantec will provide Eligible Executives with six months of outplacement services, including counseling and guidance, to assist in
securing subsequent employment.
Bonus Payment.
Symantec will pay Eligible Executives a one-time bonus payment of $15,000 to be paid in a single, lump-sum payment minus taxes, any
amounts owed to Symantec, and any legally required deductions. This bonus will be paid as long as the Executive signs, submits and does not
revoke a Release of Claims. Release of Claims will be provided no later than termination of employment and must be signed and returned within
45 days. The one-time bonus payment will be paid as soon as administratively feasible after the applicable revocation period (if any) has passed
and no later than 2.5 months from the employment termination date.
Insurance Benefits.
Upon termination of employment, Executives must make a “COBRA” election in order to continue their coverage under Symantec’s group
health plans, at the same level of coverage that they were receiving as an active employee immediately before their termination of employment.
COBRA continuation coverage is available for Symantec’s group health plans that provide medical, prescription, dental, vision, mental
health/substance abuse and employee assistance program benefits, as well as for the Health Care Flexible Spending Account under Symantec’s
Flexible Benefits Plan. Executives will be solely responsible for paying the entire amount of all COBRA premiums for their continuation
coverage.
No Employment Agreement.
Nothing contained in this Plan shall be construed as a contract of employment between Symantec and any executive, as a right of any
employee to be continued in the employment of Symantec, or as a limitation on the right of Symantec to discharge any of its executives with or
without cause. Furthermore, nothing contained in this Plan shall be construed as entitling any terminated executive to severance pay or other
benefits unless that executive is eligible for, and meets all requirements for, specific severance benefits described in accordance with the terms of
this Plan.
Governing Law.
This Plan shall be subject to, and governed by, the laws of the State of California applicable to agreements made and to be performed
entirely therein.
Interpretation and Construction.
The provisions of this Plan are intended to comply with the provisions of Code Section 409A. If any provision of this Plan is subject to
more than one interpretation or construction, such ambiguity shall be resolved in favor of that interpretation or construction which is consistent
with such provisions not being subject to the provisions of Section 409A.
2

Exhibit 21.01
S YMANTEC C ORPORATION
S UBSIDIARIES
Name of Subsidiary

Symantec Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd.
Symantec Holdings Limited
Symantec International
Symantec Limited
Symantec Operating Corporation
Symantec (UK) Limited

State or other Jurisdiction of Incorporation

Singapore
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Delaware
United Kingdom

Exhibit 23.01
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors
Symantec Corporation:
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-07223, 333-18353, 333-39175, 333-71021,
333-31540, 333-31632, 333-47648, 333-52200, 333-56874, 333-64174, 333-81146, 333-102096, 333-117176, 333-119872, 333-126403, 333140252, 333-141986, 333-148107, 333-155266, 333-170326, 333-175783 and 333-179268) and Form S-3 (Nos. 333-127958, 333-127959, 333139230 and 333-169330) of Symantec Corporation of our report dated May 21, 2012, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of
Symantec Corporation as of March 30, 2012 and April 1, 2011, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and
comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended March 30, 2012, the related financial statement
schedule, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of March 30, 2012, which report appears in the March 30, 2012
annual report on Form 10-K of Symantec Corporation.
As discussed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted updated authoritative accounting guidance related to
impairment testing of goodwill in the first quarter of fiscal 2012 by recording a cumulative-effect adjustment to beginning Accumulated deficit.
Our report dated May 21, 2012, on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of March 30, 2012, contains an explanatory
paragraph that states Management excluded from its assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
as of March 30, 2012, the internal control over financial reporting of Clearwell Systems Inc. (“Clearwell”), acquired on June 24, 2011, and
LiveOffice LLC (“LiveOffice”) acquired on January 13, 2012, as discussed in Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. As of
March 30, 2012, total tangible assets subject to these acquisitions’ internal control over financial reporting represented $84 million, or less than
1% of the consolidated total assets. Total net revenue subject to these acquisitions’ internal control over financial reporting represented $51
million, or less than 1%, of the consolidated total net revenue for the fiscal year ended March 30, 2012. Our audit of internal control over
financial reporting of Symantec Corporation also excluded an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of Clearwell and
LiveOffice.
/s/ KPMG LLP
Santa Clara, California
May 21, 2012

Exhibit 31.01
Certification
I, Enrique Salem, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Symantec Corporation;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.
/s/ E NRIQUE S ALEM
Enrique Salem
President and Chief Executive Officer
Date: May 21, 2012

Exhibit 31.02
Certification
I, James A. Beer, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Symantec Corporation;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.
/s/ J AMES A. B EER
James A. Beer
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Date: May 21, 2012

Exhibit 32.01
Certification Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Enrique Salem, President and Chief Executive Officer of Symantec Corporation (the “Company”), do hereby certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge: (i) the Company’s annual
report on Form 10-K for the period ended March 30, 2012, to which this Certification is attached (the “Form 10-K”), fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and (ii) the information contained in the Form 10-K fairly
presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
/s/ E NRIQUE S ALEM
Enrique Salem
President and Chief Executive Officer
Date: May 21, 2012
This Certification which accompanies the Form 10-K is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be
incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Form 10-K), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such
filing.

Exhibit 32.02
Certification Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, James A. Beer, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Symantec Corporation (the “Company”), do hereby certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge: (i) the
Company’s annual report on Form 10-K for the period ended March 30, 2012, to which this Certification is attached (the “Form 10-K”), fully
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and (ii) the information contained in the
Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
/s/ J AMES A. B EER
James A. Beer
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Date: May 21, 2012
This Certification which accompanies the Form 10-K is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be
incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Form 10-K), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such
filing.

